JMIR Medical Informatics

Impact Factor (2023): 3.1 Volume 4 (2016), Issue 1 ISSN 2291-9694 Editor in Chief: Christian Lovis, MD, MPH, FACMI

Contents

Original Papers

The Impact of Information Technology on Patient Engagement and Health Behavior Change: A Systematic Review of the Literature (e1)	
Suhila Sawesi, Mohamed Rashrash, Kanitha Phalakornkule, Janet Carpenter, Josette Jones.	2
Early Indication of Decompensated Heart Failure in Patients on Home-Telemonitoring: A Comparison of Prediction Algorithms Based on Daily Weight and Noninvasive Transthoracic Bio-impedance (e3)	
Illapha Cuba Gyllensten, Alberto Bonomi, Kevin Goode, Harald Reiter, Joerg Habetha, Oliver Amft, John Cleland.	26
Health Information Technology: Meaningful Use and Next Steps to Improving Electronic Facilitation of Medication Adherence (e9)	
Hayden Bosworth, Leah Zullig, Phil Mendys, Michael Ho, Troy Trygstad, Christopher Granger, Megan Oakes, Bradi Granger.	39
Conceptual Models in Health Informatics Research: A Literature Review and Suggestions for Development (e7)	
Kathleen Gray, Paulina Sockolow.	48
Integration of Provider, Pharmacy, and Patient-Reported Data to Improve Medication Adherence for Type 2 Diabetes: A Controlled Before-After Pilot Study (e4)	
Brian Dixon, Abdullah Alzeer, Erin Phillips, David Marrero.	57
Industry and Occupation in the Electronic Health Record: An Investigation of the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Industry and Occupation Computerized Coding System (e5)	
Matthew Schmitz, Linda Forst.	70
Disruptive Innovation: Implementation of Electronic Consultations in a Veterans Affairs Health Care System (e6)	
Gouri Gupte, Varsha Vimalananda, Steven Simon, Katerina DeVito, Justice Clark, Jay Orlander.	79
Improving Inpatient Surveys: Web-Based Computer Adaptive Testing Accessed via Mobile Phone QR Codes (e8)	
Tsair-Wei Chien, Weir-Sen Lin.	89
Computerized Automated Quantification of Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue From Computed Tomography Scans: Development and Validation Study (e2)	
Young Kim, Ji Park, Jong Kim, Chan-Soo Park, John Gonzalez, Seung Lee, Kwang Kim, Jae Oh.	99

XSL•FO RenderX

Original Paper

The Impact of Information Technology on Patient Engagement and Health Behavior Change: A Systematic Review of the Literature

Suhila Sawesi¹, B Pharm, MPharmSc, PhD (c); Mohamed Rashrash², B Pharm, MPharm, PhD; Kanitha Phalakornkule¹, MSc, PhD (c); Janet S Carpenter³, RN, PhD; Josette F Jones¹, RN, PhD

¹School of Informatics and Computing – Indianapolis, Department of BioHealth Informatics, IUPUI, Indianapolis, IN, United States

²School of Pharmacy, Chapman University, Irvine, CA, United States

³Indiana University School of Nursing, Science of Nursing Care Department, Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Suhila Sawesi, B Pharm, MPharmSc, PhD (c) School of Informatics and Computing – Indianapolis Department of BioHealth Informatics IUPUI Walker Plaza (WK) 120 719 Indiana Avenue Indianapolis, IN, 46202 United States Phone: 1 317 274 8059 Fax: 1 317 274 8059 Email: <u>ssawesi@umail.iu.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Advancements in information technology (IT) and its increasingly ubiquitous nature expand the ability to engage patients in the health care process and motivate health behavior change.

Objective: Our aim was to systematically review the (1) impact of IT platforms used to promote patients' engagement and to effect change in health behaviors and health outcomes, (2) behavior theories or models applied as bases for developing these interventions and their impact on health outcomes, (3) different ways of measuring health outcomes, (4) usability, feasibility, and acceptability of these technologies among patients, and (5) challenges and research directions for implementing IT platforms to meaningfully impact patient engagement and health outcomes.

Methods: PubMed, Web of Science, PsycINFO, and Google Scholar were searched for studies published from 2000 to December 2014. Two reviewers assessed the quality of the included papers, and potentially relevant studies were retrieved and assessed for eligibility based on predetermined inclusion criteria.

Results: A total of 170 articles met the inclusion criteria and were reviewed in detail. Overall, 88.8% (151/170) of studies showed positive impact on patient behavior and 82.9% (141/170) reported high levels of improvement in patient engagement. Only 47.1% (80/170) referenced specific behavior theories and only 33.5% (57/170) assessed the usability of IT platforms. The majority of studies used indirect ways to measure health outcomes (65.9%, 112/170).

Conclusions: In general, the review has shown that IT platforms can enhance patient engagement and improve health outcomes. Few studies addressed usability of these interventions, and the reason for not using specific behavior theories remains unclear. Further research is needed to clarify these important questions. In addition, an assessment of these types of interventions should be conducted based on a common framework using a large variety of measurements; these measurements should include those related to motivation for health behavior change, long-standing adherence, expenditure, satisfaction, and health outcomes.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e1) doi:10.2196/medinform.4514

KEYWORDS

RenderX

patient engagement; patient behavior; technology; Internet; web-based; cell phone; social media

Introduction

Patient engagement is currently considered the cornerstone of the health care system revolution for its positive impact on health outcomes and health care costs [1,2]. A growing body of evidence demonstrates that lack of patient engagement is a major contributor to preventable deaths. In fact, it is estimated that 40% of deaths in the United States are caused by modifiable behavioral issues, including smoking, obesity, poor blood sugar control, poor blood pressure control, inadequate exercise, medication non-adherence, and neglect in attending follow-up medical appointments [3]. As a result, patients must be encouraged to become more involved with managing their own care. Frequent, real-time communication and feedback are essential in supporting health behavior change and empowering patient engagement in the health care process [4]. However, the traditional model of care delivery, a face-to-face interaction with an expert or trusted health care provider, can be implemented only with a small number of patients and thus has limited impact and limited reach [5]. In an effort to reach and engage larger numbers of patients, researchers and clinicians have begun exploring the role of information technology (IT) platforms in patient engagement and health behavior change interventions [5,6]. It is assumed that face-to face interaction in the traditional model can be mimicked by peer-to-peer or peer group support in social media.

IT platforms are being embraced as a way to enhance patient engagement in the health care process, improve quality of care, support health care safety, and provide cost-effective health services for patients [6-9]. Numerous IT platforms are used to motivate patient engagement in health behavior change including short message service (SMS)-capable mobile devices, Internet-based interventions, social media, and other online communication tools [10-12]. Previous systematic reviews have evaluated the potential benefit of IT platforms in managing different health conditions and how these platforms have been used to actively engage patients and change unhealthy patient behavior. A systematic review conducted to assess the effectiveness of IT platforms on physical activity and dietary behavior change found that 51% of studies showed positive results, although a significant proportion of the studies showed no significant effect [13]. The reviewed interventions tended to focus on specific technology (eg, desktop applications), while mobile devices, such as mobile phones and text messaging devices were not included. Similarly, Webb et al reviewed 85 studies on the impact of Internet-based interventions on health behavior change and found small but significant effects on health-related behavior, especially with regards to interventions grounded in behavioral theory. Although the review mentioned that the effectiveness of Internet-based interventions was enhanced by using additional IT methods, such as text messaging (SMS), it did not focus on the distinction between these different interventions [8].

In addition, a meta-analysis performed to investigate the effectiveness of Web-based interventions on health behavior changes found that Web-based interventions improve patient outcomes. This particular meta-analysis, however, referred only to Web-based interventions in specific problem areas and

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/
```

XSL•FC

focused on a relatively narrow range of technologies [14]. A recent systematic review that investigated the effectiveness of the IT platform on self-management among diabetic patients showed positive effects in 74% of studies [15]. Another research study showed that successful health behavior interventions may contribute to understanding of health behavior theories and their appropriate use [16]. Mobile-based interventions and Web-based interventions developed based on health behavior theories are more likely to effectively change patient health behavior and maintain behavior change than non-theory-based interventions [8,17-19]. Basing IT interventions on behavior theories can help test and detect why interventions succeed or fail [20]. Health behavioral theories can identify key determinants of the target behaviors and identify behavior change strategies essential to obtain desired health outcomes; this knowledge can then be transformed into specific behavioral strategies that patients can adapt in their daily life [20].

Conclusions drawn from these reviews are important; they provide insights but no clear answers about the effectiveness of IT platforms on patient engagement and behavior change. They do not address which interventions are used most or are most effective with which theory or model when it comes to improving patients' health behaviors and patient engagement. IT platforms generally can have high potential benefits and some proven effects; however, specific components in several health conditions associated with success remain unclear. To better understand how to build a successful intervention that can engage patients to change their behavior meaningfully, we performed a systematic review.

Review aims were to systematically determine (1) the impact of IT platforms used to promote patient engagement and to effect change in health behaviors and health outcomes, (2) behavioral theories or models applied as bases for developing these interventions and their impact on health outcomes, (3) different ways of measuring health outcomes, (4) usability, feasibility, and acceptability of these technologies among patients, and (5) challenges and research directions for implementing IT platforms to meaningfully impact patient engagement and health outcomes.

Methods

Search Strategy and Data Sources

Electronic literature searches were performed using four databases: PubMed, Web of Science, PsycINFO, and Google Scholar. Google Scholar was searched because it had sufficiently wide coverage to be used instead of several databases [21-23]. The reference lists of retrieved articles from searches were screened for additional articles. Searches used the following medical subject headings (MeSH) terms in various combinations: patient engagement, health, promotion, behavior, digital, technology, email, Internet, Web-based, cell phone, social media, computer, and intervention.

Inclusion and Excluding Criteria

The following criteria were used to select the articles: (1) all types of study designs published in scientific journals between 2000 and December 2014 were included, excluding conference

proceedings, book chapters, reviews, dissertations, and protocols. (2) studies that evaluated and reported the impact of health information technology platforms on patients' health outcome, (3) studies that focused on disease management rather than more general health promotion including but not limited to patient education, symptom monitoring, medication adherence, diet, and physical activity, (4) studies that addressed patient engagement and health-related behavior change through the use of IT platforms such as social networking sites, mobile telephony, video and teleconferencing, email, SMS, and electronic monitoring, (5) studies that explored different factors affecting patient engagement and health behavior change were excluded, (6) studies that were published in languages other than English were excluded, (7) studies where the patient was not the main actor (ie, studies that were clinician-focused), and (8) the methodological quality (see Multimedia Appendix 1) of articles was evaluated to establish their inclusion in the review using 10 items adopted from Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP) [24,25]. The criteria that were used in the quality assessment included (1) study name, (2) aims clearly stated, (3) appropriate research design, (4) appropriate recruitment strategy, (5) theories clearly stated, (6) usability tested within the study, (7) patient engagement part of study, (8) appropriate data collection method, (9) data analysis sufficiently rigorous, and (10) findings clearly stated. After the completion of the methodological quality assessment, the studies that met the criteria for the categories of "good" were reviewed (ie, bad=0-33%, satisfactory=34-66%, and good=67-100%) [26].

Data Extraction

Two investigators independently reviewed the titles and then abstracts. The same investigators read and screened for full text eligibility. Data extraction was carried out by 1 reviewer and was rechecked for accuracy by another reviewer. The reasons for exclusion were recorded. Discrepancies were resolved by joint probability of agreement (0.98) [15].

A meta-analysis was not feasible due to the varying data collection methods and outcome measures. Therefore, eligible

studies were broken down and evaluated in a narrative format using some statistical analysis when feasible and summarized systematically according to the following key information abstracted from them: study details (including author name, year, country, and study design); study characteristics (including sample size and condition/disease); intervention details (including technology used and duration); and outcome details (including direct and indirect assessment methods); and impact of intervention, usability assessment, patient engagement, and theory used in interventions classified according to Leventhal (biomedical model, behavioral learning, communicative, cognitive theory, and self-regulative) [27-29].

The outcomes variable was classified into (1) positive impact in which health information technology platform was associated with improvement in one or more aspects of care and (2) no impact or no noticeable improvement or change in health outcomes. This was assessed based on the overall conclusion made by the authors of each study. Most studies used statistical methods to test hypotheses or describe quantitative findings.

Patient engagement was measured based on the overall conclusion. This was usually measured by timed patient log-ins, communication with the health care provider via secure message, or data download.

Results

Search and Selection Results

Figure 1 shows the flow chart that describes the process of identifying the relevant literature. A separate comprehensive search using 4 databases yielded 2235 articles. Following removal of duplicates, our search identified 786 potentially relevant articles. These were scanned keeping 219 papers for full reading at full text level, of which 59 were screened and rejected, leaving 160 studies to be included in the review. Ten additional papers were included from the reference lists of retrieved articles. A total of 170 articles matched the initial search criteria.

Figure 1. Flow diagram of included and excluded studies.



Article Characteristics

Table 1 provides a summary of the studies, and Multimedia Appendix 2 summarizes the 170 articles included in the research study and their characteristics. Multimedia Appendix 1 summarizes the quality assessment of the 170 included articles. Multimedia Appendix 3 contains definitions of terms used in the paper. Different categories of IT platforms were identified including Internet-based interventions (50.6%, 86/170), mobile-based interventions (25.9%, 44/170), social media (9.4%, 16/170), video game technology (3.5%, 6/170), and telemonitoring (10.6%, 18/170). Publication years ranged from 2000 to 2014, with an overall increase in articles published more

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/

RenderX

recently (21.8%, 37/170 in 2014). The majority of studies were implemented in the United States (54.7%, 93/170). With respect to the different targeted disorders, hormonal disorders were most frequently targeted (22.4%, 38/170 studies, eg, diabetes). The literature was dominated by randomized controlled trials (65.9%, 112/170). The duration of these studies ranged from 1 week to 48 months, and sample sizes ranged from 1-22,337 subjects. Articles included in this review were categorized in five topics based on study aims: impact of IT platform on health outcomes, patient engagement in health behavior change, theory of health behavior, ways to assess health outcomes, and usability assessment (see Table 1).

Sawesi et al

 Table 1. Summary of the review results based on types of IT platforms.

		Internet (N=86)	Phone (N=44)	Video game (N=6)	Social network (N=16)	Tele-monitoring (N=18)
Health condition, n	1 (%)					
	Bone, joint, and muscle disorders	3 (3)				
	Brain, spinal cord, and nerve disorders	7 (8)	1 (2)	2 (33)	1 (6)	1 (6)
	Cancer	5 (8)	2 (5)	1 (17)	2 (13)	2 (11)
	Disorders of nutri- tion and metabolism	13 (15)	4 (9)	1 (17)	2 (13)	1 (6)
	Ears, nose, and throat disorders		1 (2)			
	Eye disorders					1 (6)
	Health hazard	5 (6)	6 (14)			
	Heart and blood vessel disorders	5 (6)	3 (7)			6 (33)
	Hormonal disorders	20 (23)	11 (25)		4 (25)	3 (17)
	Immune disorders	4 (5)	5 (11)		1 (6)	1 (6)
	Lung and airway disorders	2 (2)	1 (2)	1 (17)	1 (6)	1 (6)
	Mental health disor- ders	12 (14)	4 (9)	1 (17)	2 (13)	2 (11)
	Skin disorders		1 (2)		1 (6)	
	Women's health is- sues	3 (3)	1 (2)			
	Not specified	7 (8)	4 (9)		2 (13)	
Country, n (%)						
	Australia	7 (8)	5 (42)			
	Austria					1 (6)
	Bangladesh		1 (2)			
	Canada	4 (5)				2 (11)
	Chile	1 (1)				
	China		1 (2)			
	France		1 (2)			
	Germany	3 (3)				
	Israel				1 (6)	
	Italy	1 (1)	1 (2)			
	Japan	1 (1)			1 (6)	
	Kenya		1 (2)			
	Korea	1 (1)	1 (2)			1 (6)
	Malaysia		1 (2)			
	Netherlands	4 (5)		1 (17)		2 (11)
	New Zealand		2 (5)			
	Norway		1 (2)			
	Poland					1 (6)



Sawesi et al

		Internet (N=86)	Phone (N=44)	Video game (N=6)	Social network (N=16)	Tele-monitoring (N=18)
	Russia		1 (2)			
	Slovenia	1 (1)				
	South Korea	2 (2)	4 (5)			
	Spain		1 (2)			1 (6)
	Sweden	2 (2)				
	Switzerland					1 (6)
	Taiwan	1 (1)				
	United Kingdom	5 (6)	7 (16)	1 (17)		1 (6)
	United States	53 (62)	14 (32)	4 (67)	14 (88)	8 (44)
	Victoria		1 (2)			
	Vietnam		1 (2)			
Study design, n (%	b)					
	Randomized con- trolled trial	55 (64)	34 (30)	2 (33)	7 (44)	14 (78)
	Case study	2 (2)	1 (2)	2 (33)	2 (13)	
	Cohort study	10 (12)	4 (5)	1 (17)	1 (6)	3 (17)
	Cross-sectional analysis	8 (9)	1 (2)		5 (31)	1 (6)
	Quasi-experimental trial	11 (13)	4 (5)	1 (17)	1 (6)	
Ways to measure h	ealth outcomes, n (%	(0)				
	Direct	28 (33)	20 (45)	3 (50)	1 (6)	6 (33)
	Indirect	58 (67)	24 (55)	3 (50)	15 (94)	12 (67)
Impact of technolo	ogy, n (%)					
	Yes	75 (87)	41 (93)	6 (100)	13 (81)	16 (89)
	No	11 (13)	3 (7)		3 (19)	2 (11)
Usability assessme	nt, n (%)					
	Yes	38 (44)	8 (18)	1 (17)	8 (50)	3 (17)
	No	48 (56)	36 (82)	5 (83)	8 (50)	15 (83)
Patient engagemen	nt, n (%)					
	Yes	68 (79)	38 (86)	6 (100)	13 (81)	16 (89)
	No	18 (21)	6 (14)		3 (19)	2 (11)
Theory of behavior	r change, n (%)					
	Biomedical theory (chronic model)	1 (1)				1 (6)
	Behavioral learning theory	3 (3)				
	Communication (social support the- ory)	5 (6)	5 (11)		2 (13)	
	Cognitive theory ^a (TPB, SOC, TTM, self-efficacy, infor- mation motivation, and behavioral skill)	40 (47)	9 (20)	2 (33)	2 (13)	1 (6)



Sawesi et al

		Internet (N=86)	Phone (N=44)	Video game (N=6)	Social network (N=16)	Tele-monitoring (N=18)
	Self-regulatory	6 (7)		1 (17)	2 (13)	
	Not specified	31 (36)	30 (69)	3 (33)	10 (63)	16 (88)
Sample size, n						
	Min.	1	2	6	51	10
	Max.	13564	22337	375	1754	784
Duration						
	Min.	1 mo	1 mo	1 mo	1 wk	2 mo
	Max.	48 mo	16 mo	3 mo	36 mo	39 mo
	Not specified	3	1	1	3	1

^aTPB= theory of planned behavior, SOC=stage of change, TTM= transtheoretical model.

Impact of IT Platforms on Health Outcomes

Overall, IT platforms have been shown to improve health behavior among different disease categories (88.8%, 151/170), although the majority of the positive impact has been shown among hormonal disorders (20.6%, 35/170) (see Table 2). Among studies utilizing Internet-based platforms, 87% (75/86) of studies showed a significant impact on health outcomes. Studies also showed that the use of Internet-based tailored weight control programs was correlated with significant increases in weight loss [30,31] and walking distance (P<.05) [32]. Similarly, mobile-based platforms showed significant effects on health outcomes (91%, 40/44). For example, a study examined use of text messages among patients with diabetes and found a significant decrease in HbA1C level, improved medication adherence, and decreased in emergency service use [33]. Social media showed a positive impact on health outcomes (81%, 13/16). For example, one study indicated that Twitter usage among cancer patients was a valuable medium for sharing information, discussing treatments, and also acted as a psychological support [34]. The use of Facebook has also been found to help improve asthma care [35]. As such, this review found that 100% (6/6) of studies had a positive impact on patient health behavior when implementing a video game as an intervention to change health behavior. In a specific example, King et al concluded that video games can be implemented successfully among hyperfunctional voice disorder as a "voice therapeutic protocol", a voice and speech therapy program including a set of vocal tasks using syllable repetitions and chanting of songs and phrases [36]. Furthermore, the literature

showed that telemonitoring improved health outcomes (89%, 16/18). One telemonitoring-based study assessed the effects of a glucose monitoring system on HbA1c levels in diabetic patients and found that usage of this system was correlated with a significant decrease in HbA1c (P=.001) [37]. Another study evaluated the impact of home-based telemonitoring on patients with heart failure and showed a significant correlative improvement in patients' health outcomes [38,39].

In contrast, 11% of studies (19/170) showed no impact of using IT platforms on health behavior. Among studies using Internet-based platforms, 13% (11/86) did not find significant results. One study using a Web-based behavior change program found no differences in smoking abstinence rates at 3- and 6-month follow-up assessment [40] and no maintenance of weight loss in an Internet-based intervention group compared to the study's control group [41]. Also, 7% of (3/44) mobile phone studies reported non-significant impact [33,42-44]. Two mobile phone platform studies did not find a significant reduction in HbA1c level among diabetic patients when SMS text messaging was used to manage their health care (P<.10) [33,34]. Moreover, 18% (3/16) of studies showed undesirable effects from using social media [35,45,46]. For instance, Kaplan et al found that psychiatric patients who participated in Internet peer support reported higher levels of distress compared to those who did not participate [45]. The literature shows that 12% (2/18) of telemonitoring studies had no effect on health outcomes. One particular study found significant changes in neither readmission rate [47] nor medication adherence [48] among patients with heart failure.



Sawesi et al

Table 2. Impact of IT platforms among different disorders (Yes=positive impact, No=no impact).

Disorders	Impact of IT platforms, n (%)											
	Internet		Mobile		Social media		Tele-monitoring		Video game			
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Total yes	Total no	Total
Bone, joint, and muscle	3 (3)									3 (2)		3 (2)
Brain, spinal cord, and nerves	7 (8)		1 (2)			1 (6)	1 (6)		2 (33)	11 (6)	1 (1)	12 (7)
Cancer	5 (6)		2 (5)		2 (13)		2 (11)		1 (17)	12 (7)		12 (7)
Nutrition and metabolism	10 (12)	3 (3)	4 (9)		2 (13)		1 (6)		1 (17)	18 (11)	3 (3)	21 (12)
Ears, nose, and throat				1 (2)							1 (1)	1 (1)
Eye							1 (6)			1 (1)		1 (1)
Health hazard	4 (5)	1 (1)	6 (14)							10 (6)	1 (1)	11 (6)
Heart and blood vessel	4 (5)	1 (1)	3 (7)				4 (22)	2 (11)		11 (6)	3 (2)	14 (8)
Hormonal	19 (22)	1 (1)	9 (20)	2 (5)	4 (25)		3 (17)			35 (21)	3 (2)	38 (22)
Immune system	2 (2)	2 (2)	5 (11)			1 (6)	1 (6)			8 (5)	3 (2)	11 (6)
Lung and airway	2 (2)		1 (2)		1 (6)		1 (6)		1 (17)	6 (4)		6 (4)
Mental health	11 (13)	1 (1)	4 (9)		2 (13)		2 (11)		1 (17)	20 (12)	1 (1)	21 (12)
Not specified	5 (6)	2 (2)	4 (9)		1 (6)	1 (6)				10 (6)	3 (2)	13 (8)
Skin			1 (2)		1 (6)					2 (1)		2 (1)
Women's health	3 (3)		1 (2)							4 (2)		4 (2)
Total	75 (87)	11 (13)	41 (93)	3 (7)	13 (81)	3 (19)	16 (89)	2 (11)	6 (100)	151 (89)	19 (11)	170 (100)

Patient Engagement

In total, 82.9% (141/170) of studies reported improvement in patient engagement after using IT platforms (see Table 3). Among Internet-based interventions, 79% (68/86) of studies reported a high level of patient engagement. For example, a research study reported that human immunodeficiency virus patients used the Internet-based intervention a majority of the time to access information and manage their health [49,50]. Among studies using mobile-based interventions, 86% (38/44) reported improvement in patient engagement. One mobile-based intervention study found that text messaging enhanced successful engagement of diabetic patients in their own health care. Patients were able to use this study's text message system for clinical data queries and communicating with health care providers [51]. Similarly, 81% (13/16) of studies reported that social media was helpful in improving patient engagement. One study found that Facebook provided a forum for reporting personal experiences, asking questions, and receiving direct feedback for people living with diabetes [46]. Another study showed that social media was helpful to individuals with lower patient activation [52-54]. In addition, it was found that video games could enhance patients' active participation in the health care process (100%, 6/6). One video game-based study demonstrated that a health-based video game could help build an effective client-therapist relationship, help structure sessions, and improve patient engagement in the therapeutic process [55,56]. Likewise, the literature showed that telemonitoring has been particularly useful for improving patient engagement (88.8%, remotely 16/18) [57-63], as traditional point-of-care-based ways to monitor patients are costly and difficult to implement [64].

Overall, analysis showed significant correlations between patient engagement in health care and the impact of IT platforms (χ^2_1 =39.8836, *P*.001). Only Internet-based platforms had a significant association between patient engagement and impact of technology on outcomes (χ^2_1 =28.2558, *P*.001).



Table 3. Impact of IT platforms on patient engagement (Yes=positive impact, No=no impact).

Engagement	Impact of IT platforms, n (%)												
	Internet Mobile			Social media		Tele-monitoring		Video game	Total yes	Total	Total		
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes		no		
Yes	66 (88)	2 (18)	36 (88)	2 (67)	12 (92)	1 (33)	15 (94)	1 (50)	6 (100)	135 (63)	6 (32)	141 (83)	
No	9 (12)	9 (82)	5 (12)	1 (33)	1 (8)	2 (67)	1 (6)	1 (50)		16 (37)	13 (68)	29 (17)	
Total	75 (100)	11 (100)	41 (100)	3 (100)	13 (100)	3 (100)	16(100)	2 (100)	6 (100)	151 (100)	19 (100)	170 (100)	

Behavior Theory

Overall results showed that 47.0% (80/170) of the literature explicitly referenced theory (see Table 4). Among Internet-based interventions, 64% (55/86) of studies mentioned the use of behavior theories. Cognitive theories dominated this category (47%, 40/86). Further, 32% (14/44) of mobile-based intervention studies reported use of behavior theories. Cognitive theories were also the most widely used among this category (30%, 13/44) [42,51,65-71]. Moreover, 38% (6/16) of social media studies used behavior change theory. Social support, cognitive, and self-regulatory theories were the only models used in this category [35,45,52,72-74]. The analysis showed 50% (3/6) of video-game platforms used behavior change theories, where the cognitive and self-regulatory theories are the only used [75,76]. Only 11% (2/18) of telemonitoring studies used

biomedical and cognitive theories [77,78]. Literature showed that 89% (71/80) of studies with behavior theories had a significant impact on health outcomes. Only 11% (9/80) of telemonitoring studies explicitly referenced the use of behavior theories and showed no impact of technology on health outcomes. The result failed to show any relationship between using behavior theory and the impact of technology on health outcomes (χ^2_1 =0.008, *P*=.977).

The analysis also found no significant correlative relationship between behavior theory and patient engagement in health care (χ^2_1 =0.3055, *P*=.580479). However, there was a significant relationship between patient engagement and Internet-based interventions using behavior theories (χ^2_1 =7.3144, *P*=.00684) (see Table 5).

 Table 4. Impact of IT platforms and theories of health behavior (Yes=positive impact, No=no impact).

Behavior theory	Impact of IT platforms, n (%)												
	Internet		Mobile		Social media		Tele-monitoring		Video game				
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Total yes	Total no	Total	
Biomedical theory (chronic model)	1 (1)						1 (6)			2(1)		2 (1)	
Behavioral learning theory	2 (2)	1 (1)								2 (1)	1 (1)	3 (2)	
Communication (social support theory)	4 (5)	1 (1)	1 (2)		1 (6)	1 (6)				6 (4)	2 (1)	8 (5)	
Cognitive theory (TPB, SOC, TTM, self-ef- ficacy, information motiva- tion, and behavioral skill)	36 (42)	4 (5)	12 (27)	1 (2)	2 (13)		1 (6)		2 (33)	53 (31)	5 (3)	58 (34)	
Self-regulatory	5 (6)	1 (1)			2 (13)				1 (17)	8 (5)	1 (1)	9 (5)	
Total of used theory	48 (56)	7 (8)	13 (29)	1 (2)	5 (31)	1 (6)	2 (2)		3 (50)	71 (42)	9 (5)	80 (47)	
Theory not reported	27 (31)	4 (5)	28 (64)	2 (5)	8 (50)	2 (13)	14 (78)	2 (11)	3 (50)	80 (47)	10 (6)	90 (53)	
Total	75 (87)	11 (13)	41 (93)	3 (7)	13 (81)	3 (19)	16 (89)	2 (11)	6 (100)	151 (89)	19 (11)	170 (100)	



Table 5. Patient engagement and theories of health behavior (Yes=positive impact, No=no impact).

Behavior theory	Patient er	ngagement.	, n (%)									
	Internet		Mobile		Social media		Tele-monitoring		Video game			
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Total yes	Total no	Total
Biomedical theory (chronic model)	1 (1)						1 (6)			2 (1)		2(1)
Behavioral learning theory	2 (2)	1 (1)								2 (1)	1(1)	3 (2)
Communication (social support theory)	5 (6)		1 (2)		2 (13)					8 (5)		8 (5)
Cognitive theory (TPB, SOC, TTM, self-ef- ficacy, information motiva- tion, and behavioral skill)	30 (35)	10 (12)	11 (25)	2 (5)	2 (13)		1 (6)		2 (33)	46 (27)	12 (7)	58 (34)
Self-regulatory	4 (5)	2 (2)			2 (13)				1 (17)	7 (4)	2(1)	9 (5)
Total of used theory	42 (49)	13 (12)	12 (27)	2 (5)	6 (38)		2 (11)		3 (50)	65 (38)	15 (9)	80 (47)
Theory not reported	26 (30)	5 (2)	26 (59)	4 (9)	7 (44)	3 (19)	16 (89)	2 (11)	3 (50)	76 (45)	14 (8)	90 (53)
Grand Total	68 (79)	18 (15)	38 (86)	6 (14)	13 (81)	3 (19)		2 (11)	6 (100)	141 (83)	29 (17)	170 (100)

Methods to Measure Health Outcomes

Most studies used indirect ways (such as self-reports) to measure health outcomes (65.9%, 112/170). The literature showed that 57.6% (98/170) of studies showed a positive impact of IT platforms when the health outcomes were assessed using indirect ways. For example, self-reporting was used to assess whether

a text message could increase smoking cessation [68], reduce methamphetamine use among human immunodeficiency virus patients [79], and to assess medication adherence among patients with congestive heart failure [48]. The analysis showed no significant association between ways to measure health outcomes and technology impact (χ^2_1 =0.5793, *P*=.446603) (see Table 6).

 Table 6. Impact of IT platforms and methods to measure health outcomes (Yes=positive impact, No=no impact).

Methods to measure health outcomes	Impact of information technology platforms, n (%)											
	Internet		Mobile		Social media		Tele-monitoring		Video game			
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Total yes	Total no	Total
Direct	25 (29)	3 (3)	18 (41)	2 (5)	1 (6)		6 (33)		3 (50)	53 (31)	5 (3)	58 (34)
Indirect	50 (58)	8 (9)	23 (52)	1 (2)	12 (75)	3 (19)	10 (56)	2 (11)	3 (50)	98 (58)	14 (8)	112 (66)
Grand Total	75 (87)	11 (13)	41 (93)	3 (7)	13 (81)	3 (19)	16 (89)	2 (11)	6 (100)	151 (89)	19 (11)	170 (100)

Usability Assessment

Only 33.5% (57/170) of studies assessed the usability of IT platforms. Of those, the majority were considered by authors to be usable (89%, 51/57). Specifically, 75% (28/37) of Internet-based IT intervention studies showed positive health outcomes with usable interventions [41,80-106]. In one study that gauged usability, Steele et al performed a 3-month randomized controlled trial among 192 participants and found an Internet-based physical activity behavior change program to be usable, feasible, and acceptable among inactive participants [41]. Mobile-based interventions also showed 75% (6/8) of usable interventions had a positive impact on health outcomes [42,69,93,107-109]. In one study, SMS was found to be useful in helping patients to remember to take their medications and be engaged in treatment planning [107]. SMS-based intervention

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/
```

RenderX

was also found to be useful in promoting communication with health care providers by delivering, receiving health information, generating questions, and seeking information related to health conditions [42]. Moreover, 87% (7/8) of studies reported that the usability of social media-based interventions was positively correlated with good impact on health outcomes particular [34,35,46,52,53,110,111]. One social networking-related study found that online health-related social networking was useful and acceptable in chronic disease management [52]. In addition, one study reported the usability assessment in the video-game category and found that it was usable and had a positive impact among patients with hyperfunctional voice disorders [36]. Overall, the analysis also found that telemonitoring also showed similar results (100%, 3/3). telemonitoring-based study found One that

telecommunication-based reminder tools are useful for improving medication adherence [112].

Although our results failed to report any relationship between usability of IT platforms and the impact on health outcomes

(P=.1065), they showed significant association between usability and patient engagement in health care (P=.0216) (Fisher's exact test) (see Tables 7 and 8).

Usability	Impact of information technology platforms, n (%)											
	Internet		Mobile		Social media		Tele-monitoring		Video game			
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Total yes	Total no	Total
Usable	28 (33)	4 (5)	6 (14)	2 (5)	5 (31)	2 (13)	3 (17)		1 (17)	43 (25)	8 (5)	51 (30)
Not usable	1 (1)	4 (5)			1 (6)					4 (2)	2(1)	6 (4)
Total of assessed usability	29 (34)	8 (9)	6 (14)	2 (5)	6 (38)	2 (13)	3 (17)		1 (17)	12 (7)	45 (26)	57 (34)
Not assessed usability	46 (53)	3 (3)	35 (80)	1 (2)	7 (44)	1 (6)	13 (72)	2 (11)	5 (83)	7 (4)	106(62)	113 (66)
Grand total	75 (87)	11 (13)	41 (93)	3 (7)	13 (81)	3 (19)	16 (89)	2 (11)	6 (100)	19 (11)	151 (89)	170 (100)

Table 8. Patient engagement and usability (Yes=positive impact, No=no impact).

Usability	Impact of information technology platforms, n (%)											
	Internet		Mobile		Social media		Tele-monitoring		Video game			
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Total yes	Total no	Total
Usability assessed (usable)	26 (30)	6 (7)	7 (16)	1 (2)	5 (31)	2 (13)	3 (17)		1 (17)	41 (24)	9 (5)	51 (30)
Usability assessed (not us- able)	1 (1)	4 (5)			1 (6)					2(1)	4 (2)	6 (4)
Total usability assessed	27 (31)	10 (12)	7 (16)	1 (2)	6 (38)	2 (13)	3 (17)		1 (17)	43 (25)	13 (8)	57 (34)
Not assessed	41 (48)	8 (9)	31 (70)	5 (11)	7 (44)	1 (6)	13 (72)	2 (11)	5 (83)	97 (57)	16 (9)	113 (66)
Grand total	68 (79)	18 (21)	38 (86)	6 (14)	13 (81)	3 (19)	16 (89)	2 (11)	6 (100)	141 (83)	29 (17)	170 (100)

Discussion

Principal Findings

Impact of IT Platforms on Health Outcomes

Overall, this review indicated that IT platform-based health interventions had a great impact on patients' health outcomes in the United States and in other nations. IT-based health interventions have been viewed as driving positive health behavior change through patient engagement with most technology platforms. IT-based health interventions also provide necessary information and advice and counseling related to certain diseases and conditions, such as mental disorders [113-120], asthma [57,76,96,121-123], obesity [30,32,124-132], smoking [40,68,69,88,133-136], diabetes [11,137-151], sleep disorder [152], hypertension [127,153,154], cancer [34,58,60,74,75,82,92,97,98,155-157], thereby encouraging healthy living [30,31,72,124,158,159]. Moreover, these interventions enable patients to be engaged in self-monitoring, thereby directing patients toward healthy eating, enhancing attendance rate [136,160-166], improving medication adherence [162,167-173], increasing knowledge about disease and treatment [33,42,47,75,85,90,94,96,115,119,168,174,175], and

RenderX

e n h a n c i n g e x e r c i s e u s e [32,56,80-82,122,125,126,128-132,153,156,176-183]. Online coaching by specialists enables patients to recover quickly, ensuring that the pain they experience is reduced [89,184], and doctor-patient communications are made readily available [73,157,185-191].

Apart from Internet-based technologies, mobile phone technologies have been used extensively to engage patients and ensure there is patient health behavior change. Mobile phone technologies engage patients by using SMS to contact them and provide necessary health information. This technology can be very effective and efficient, since it is less expensive and therefore more people can afford it. Studies have shown that patients can receive health-related information, receive reminders of their health care attendance, as well as be encouraged to adhere to their treatment [35,77-67,107,192].

Social media outlets, such as Twitter and Facebook, can ensure patients get and exchange necessary health information [34,46]. Video game and telemonitoring technologies served a similar purpose; these technologies tried to engage patients in order to provide necessary health information and provided a platform for helping patients adhere to treatment and helped patients

actively become involved in the treatment process. These technologies are of great importance to patients as well as helpful to health care providers, therefore ensuring effectiveness and efficiency.

Although several studies demonstrated the positive impact of platform usage, others showed no impact IT [33,35,41,43,45-48,81,83,91,133,141,178,193-198]. This could be due to the timing of the follow-up assessments ranging from one extremely short follow-up timing (1 week) to a relatively long-term follow-up timing (48 months). The lack of consistency in follow-up timing made it unclear as to how long these effects on patient health last. Moreover, the technology adoption rate may decline after a certain time period, thus diminishing its effectiveness after significant results at the beginning of the study. This occurred in a study by Williamson et al who found that after 2 years of an IT-based intervention, the decrease in body weight did not differ between the intervention and control group [28]. Similarly, another research study found a slow decline in HbA1c at 3 months follow-up (1.22%) versus (1.09%) 6 months follow-up [199,137]. Therefore, designing and evaluating IT platforms may become a significant challenge because researchers are dealing with a large volume of interventions that have different impacts on patient health behavior. Thus, several issues need to be addressed if such interventions are to be evaluated or assessed, such as length of intervention, type of technology, usability of the technology, application of behavior theory, and how health outcomes are measured.

Patient Engagement in Health Care Using IT Platforms

Our review showed that IT platforms are playing a significant role in patient engagement. This review implies that higher patient participation in condition self-management was correlated with greater improvement in health outcomes. Many studies have shown that patients who actively participated in health care experience better health outcomes compared to less involved patients. One specific study showed a significant association between patient engagement using the Internet and weight loss at 6 months (P.001) [77]. Another study reported that a text messaging-based intervention could enhance patient engagement [33]. Social networks can also be particularly helpful to individuals with lower patient activation [52]. Despite the evidence regarding the importance of patient engagement, it is challenging to draw solid conclusions. Many of the studies conducted qualitative surveys to measure patient engagement or relied solely on the number of times patients logged in or uploaded data to determine their engagement. However, system log-ins and upload and download data are not engagement. Patient engagement is basically about interaction and participation in managing one's health to achieve desired goals. Therefore, further research is needed to determine the best ways to measure patient engagement.

Association Between Usability of IT Platforms and Their Impact

Our review found limited levels of evidence supporting the correlation between usability and impact of technology on health outcomes (P=.1065). Several factors may hinder the positive impact of technology on health outcomes other than usability

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/
```

issues. Patients' willingness to participate in managing their health care could be one of the main reasons. The review found a significant relationship with patient engagement and impact of technology. It found also a significant positive correlation between patient engagement and usability of IT platforms. Even though the aim of this study was not to discover determinants of patient engagement, several issues were identified including unequal access to technology, technical issues, poor interface design, suboptimal message content, privacy and confidentiality issues [46,108,110,121,165,193,200], and patients' self-perceived health illiteracy. The latter issue was seen in social media, where patients think such a discussion should be restricted to health care professionals [46]. Also, the majority of technologies rely on patient-provider engagement from both sides to exchange information and manage health conditions, such as in two-way SMS, thus increasing burden on providers as well as patients. Moreover, in some countries like Sweden, information dissemination can be restricted by legal and ethical regulations for online patient-provider communication [201]. Therefore, more research on the usability and acceptability of these technologies and discovering the different factors that impact patient engagement and their meaningful use will be required in the future.

Association Between Technology Impact and Intervention Grounded in Behavior Change Theories

This review found that only a limited number of specific behavioral theories and models were referenced among multiple articles inferring a theoretical design. This could imply that several IT interventions are designed in an ad hoc way, without using any theoretical frameworks. This finding supports the results of a previous study showing the majority of mobile-based interventions used for improving medication adherence and disease management were developed without a theoretical basis [202]. The review failed to detect any relationship between (1) behavioral theories and impact of technology or (2) theories and patient engagement. This could imply that existing theories/model were not developed to be used with these technologies. We found a significant association between patient engagement in Internet-based interventions and use of behavior theories in these interventions (χ^2_1 =7.3144, P=.00684). This could imply that existing theories or models may have limited applicability. However, it was difficult to draw a clear conclusion whether or not using theory influenced intervention effectiveness. Possible reasons for the lack of theory may include the investigator not citing the theory, researchers' lack of knowledge of the theories, struggling to define appropriate theories, poorly operationalized theories, an absence of good evaluation methods and usability testing, and theories containing overlapping constructs and inconsistent use of terminology. For example, the construct of self-efficacy can be found in Social Cognitive Theory, Protection Motivation Theory, the Theory of Planned Behavior, the Health Belief Model, and Self-Regulation Theory. In addition, the simplicity of the interventions could be another reason for not including behavior theories. For example, reminding patients to take their treatment through text message appears simple and consistent with the "cue to action" constituent of many health behavior theories or models, but these theories were not always described. Our

XSL•FO RenderX

findings of the lack of association between use of theory and outcomes was based on the theory description within each published article and should be interpreted cautiously.

Association Between Methods to Measure Health Outcomes and the Impact of These Technologies

Overall, slightly more than half of the reviewed articles had a positive impact when assessed with patient questionnaires, patient self-reports, pill counts, rates of prescription refills, assessment of patients' clinical response, and electronic medication monitors. Even though the way to measure health outcomes is an important factor in determining the impact of technology, the review failed to detect any relationship between methods used to measure health outcomes and the impact of technology. Therefore, further study is needed to replicate our results, because for each approach, there are different assumptions related to what data to collect, how to collect that data, and how to make decisions about success. Indirect methods may overestimate patient adherence. For instance, metformin treatment adherence can be monitored either by recording the number of times the medication bottle was opened, or alternately, adherence could be gauged by metformin plasma

levels. Both health behaviors are part of the same behavioral class to control blood sugar levels. However, measuring metformin in blood is more effective at measuring adherence than recording the time when the bottle is opened because patients may open and close the bottle without taking any medication.

Limitations

Our review included some limitations. First, due to the heterogeneity of the research studies and the fact that some data were not available for certain types of interventions and their characteristics, some statistical tests could not be performed, hindering optimal quantitative assessment. Second, we excluded studies not written in English; this criterion might have omitted certain relevant research. Third, the majority of studies were performed in the United States, which limits generalizability of findings. Finally, because of possible publication bias toward positive findings, our review may overestimate the actual impact of these technologies.

Implications

The results from this review reveal several practical applications worthy of future study (summarized in Table 9).



Table 9. Implications of study.

Suggestion	Implications
Information technology platforms	It would be valuable to further evaluate IT platform-based interventions to form a more coherent picture of their effectiveness in encouraging patient engagement for the purpose of enhancing lasting health behavior change. A study with a long time frame may be useful to draw a clear conclusion on the effectiveness of these technologies and to determine the best ways to guarantee positive long-term effects in patients.
	Also, due to low availability of studies meeting our criteria, we could not provide or conclude relationships between factors. Therefore, we recom- mend doing another review when there are more studies available in future.
	In future, we can increase the quality of the review by limiting sample size and study time frame.
	IT platform interventions reviewed in this study are mutually inclusive; they use different labels and contexts to describe the same concepts and lack of formal definitions. Therefore, a common framework for analyzing these concepts is needed. A framework with an ontological approach may serve this purpose.
Patient engagements	The outreach and engagement period prior to the intervention enrollment are critical to the success of any intervention. Therefore, studies should consider that when implementing the interventions
	A study assessing determinant of patient engagement is highly recommend- ed.
Usability	Assessment of user satisfaction toward IT platforms and their usability of these platforms are needed, and could be done through qualitative evaluations of user opinions of the respective IT platform(s).
Theories of health behavior	The literature also needs to focus more on referencing, selecting, and im- plementing behavioral theory to achieve the best possible impact. Reporting accurate information about interventions is essential to assessing the effec- tiveness of these interventions and facilitating their successful implemen- tation.
	Also, new theories are needed to better understand how patients can par- ticipate and facilitate health behavior change, theories building on past conceptual and focus only on one aspect, a triangulation model would provide internally logical and comprehensible perception to achieve these goals.
Methods measure health outcomes	It would be valuable to further examine how different types of measurement could affect patient outcomes reported in the study. A comparison between direct and indirect methods could be helpful to draw a clear conclusion.
Conclusions	of IT platforms in health care, new theories may be needed to better understand how patients can participate and facilitate

Based on our review, there is moderately strong evidence that IT platforms can engage patients in health care and improve health outcomes. The usefulness and acceptability of IT platforms can have great power in engagement and outcomes. Studies grounded in behavior theory appeared to show a positive impact on patient health behavior. To exploit the full potential

of IT platforms in health care, new theories may be needed to better understand how patients can participate and facilitate health behavior change. Selecting appropriate ways to measure health behavior change and developing a common framework to analyze and understand the different components of IT platforms and their safety, effectiveness, efficiency, and acceptability will also be of great importance.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Quality Assessment of Included Articles.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 137KB - medinform_v4i1e1_app1.pdf]



XSL•FO RenderX

Multimedia Appendix 2

List of the included articles and their characteristics.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 233KB - medinform_v4i1e1_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

A glossary of terms.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 107KB - medinform v4i1e1 app3.pdf]

References

- 1. Barello S, Graffigna G, Vegni E, Bosio AC. The challenges of conceptualizing patient engagement in healthcare: a lexicographic literature review. J Particip Med 2014;6:e9 [FREE Full text]
- Coulter A, Parsons S, Askham J. Where are the patients in decision-making about their own care?.: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe; 2008. URL: <u>http://www.who.int/management/general/decisionmaking/</u> <u>WhereArePatientsinDecisionMaking.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-11-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6dQy9PBNI]
- 3. Parekh AK. Winning their trust. N Engl J Med 2011 Jun 16;364(24):e51. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp1105645</u>] [Medline: <u>21631314</u>]
- 4. Sundiatu D, Shonu G, Thomas P, Angela S. Changing patient behavior: The next frontier in healthcare value. Health Int 2012;12:65-73.
- 5. Bickmore T, Giorgino T. Some novel aspects of health communication from a dialogue systems perspective. 2004 Oct 24 Presented at: AAAI Fall Symposium on Dialogue Systems for Health Communication; 2004; Washington, DC p. 275-291 URL: <u>http://www.aaai.org/Papers/Symposia/Fall/2004/FS-04-04/FS04-04-002.pdf</u>
- Vollmer WM, Feldstein A, Smith D, Dubanoski JP, Waterbury A, Schneider JL, et al. Use of health information technology to improve medication adherence. Am J Manag Care 2011 Dec;17(12 Spec No):SP79-SP87 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22216772]
- 7. Or C, Karsh B. A systematic review of patient acceptance of consumer health information technology. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2009;16(4):550-560. [doi: <u>10.1197/jamia.M2888</u>]
- Webb TL, Joseph J, Yardley L, Michie S. Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1376] [Medline: 20164043]
- 9. Sutcliffe P, Martin S, Sturt J, Powell J, Griffiths F, Adams A, et al. Systematic review of communication technologies to promote access and engagement of young people with diabetes into healthcare. BMC Endocr Disord 2011;11:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-11-1] [Medline: 21210964]
- 10. Martyn H, Gallant LM. Over 50 and wired: Web-based stakeholder communication. FM 2012 Jun 08;17(6) 17(6) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5210/fm.v17i6.3449]
- Winbush GB, McDougle L, Labranche L. Health empowerment technologies (HET): building a web-based tool to empower older African American patient-doctor relationships. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2014;24(4):106-117. [doi: <u>10.1353/hpu.2014.0017</u>]
- 12. de Jong C, Ros WJ, Schrijvers G. The effects on health behavior and health outcomes of Internet-based asynchronous communication between health providers and patients with a chronic condition: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(1):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3000] [Medline: 24434570]
- Norman GJ, Zabinski MF, Adams MA, Rosenberg DE, Yaroch AL, Atienza AA. A review of eHealth interventions for physical activity and dietary behavior change. Am J Prev Med 2007 Oct;33(4):336-345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.05.007] [Medline: 17888860]
- 14. Wantland DJ, Portillo CJ, Holzemer WL, Slaughter R, McGhee EM. The effectiveness of Web-based vs. non-Web-based interventions: a meta-analysis of behavioral change outcomes. J Med Internet Res 2004 Nov 10;6(4):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.4.e40] [Medline: 15631964]
- El-Gayar O, Timsina P, Nawar N, Eid W. A systematic review of IT for diabetes self-management: are we there yet? Int J Med Inform 2013 Aug;82(8):637-652. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.05.006</u>] [Medline: <u>23792137</u>]
- 16. Glanz K, Bishop DB. The role of behavioral science theory in development and implementation of public health interventions. Annu Rev Public Health 2010;31:399-418. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.012809.103604] [Medline: 20070207]
- 17. Ellis SE, Speroff T, Dittus RS, Brown A, Pichert JW, Elasy T. Diabetes patient education: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Patient Education and Counseling 2004 Jan;52(1):97-105. [doi: 10.1016/S0738-3991(03)00016-8]
- 18. DiClemente R, Crosby RA, Kegler M, editors. Emerging Theories in Health Promotion Practice and Research. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2009.
- Patrick K, Marshall SJ, Davila EP, Kolodziejczyk JK, Fowler JH, Calfas KJ, et al. Design and implementation of a randomized controlled social and mobile weight loss trial for young adults (project SMART). Contemp Clin Trials 2014 Jan;37(1):10-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2013.11.001] [Medline: 24215774]

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/
```

- 20. Rothman AJ. "Is there nothing more practical than a good theory?": Why innovations and advances in health behavior change will arise if interventions are used to test and refine theory. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2004 Jul 27;1(1):11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-1-11] [Medline: 15279674]
- 21. Kennedy CM, Powell J, Payne TH, Ainsworth J, Boyd A, Buchan I. Active assistance technology for health-related behavior change: an interdisciplinary review. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e80 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1893] [Medline: 22698679]
- 22. Howland JL, Wright TC, Boughan R, Roberts B. How scholarly is Google Scholar? A comparison to library databases. College & Research Libraries 2009 May 01;70(3):227-234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5860/crl.70.3.227]
- 23. Walters WH. Google Scholar coverage of a multidisciplinary field. Information Processing & Management 2007 Jul;43(4):1121-1132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ipm.2006.08.006]
- 24. Critical Appraisal Skills Programme (CASP). Making sense of evidence. 10 questions to help you make sense of qualitative research. England: Public Health Resource Unit; 2006. URL: <u>http://www.caspuk.net/wpcontent/uploads/2011/11/</u> CASPQualitativeResearchChecklist31.05.13.pdf [accessed 2015-11-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6dD1uPjZQ]
- 25. Campbell R, Pound P, Pope C, Britten N, Pill R, Morgan M, et al. Evaluating meta-ethnography: a synthesis of qualitative research on lay experiences of diabetes and diabetes care. Soc Sci Med 2003 Feb;56(4):671-684. [Medline: <u>12560003</u>]
- 26. Davids EL, Roman NV. A systematic review of the relationship between parenting styles and children's physical activity. Health, physical activity and sport in South Africa: issues and challenges. Afr J Phys Health Educ Recreat Dance 2014 Oct;20:228-246.
- 27. DeGeest S, Sabaté E. Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2003 Dec;2(4):323. [Medline: <u>14667488</u>]
- 28. Leventhal H, Cameron L. Behavioral theories and the problem of compliance. Patient Education and Counseling 1987 Oct;10(2):117-138. [doi: 10.1016/0738-3991(87)90093-0]
- 29. Munro S, Lewin S, Swart T, Volmink J. A review of health behaviour theories: how useful are these for developing interventions to promote long-term medication adherence for TB and HIV/AIDS? BMC Public Health 2007;7:104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-7-104] [Medline: 17561997]
- Johnston JD, Massey AP, Devaneaux CA. Innovation in weight loss programs: a 3-dimensional virtual-world approach. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(5):e120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2254] [Medline: 22995535]
- Adachi Y, Sato C, Yamatsu K, Ito S, Adachi K, Yamagami T. A randomized controlled trial on the long-term effects of a 1-month behavioral weight control program assisted by computer tailored advice. Behav Res Ther 2007 Mar;45(3):459-470. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.brat.2006.03.017</u>] [Medline: <u>16713991</u>]
- 32. Napolitano MA, Fotheringham M, Tate D, Sciamanna C, Leslie E, Owen N, et al. Evaluation of an internet-based physical activity intervention: a preliminary investigation. Ann Behav Med 2003;25(2):92-99. [Medline: <u>12704010</u>]
- 33. Arora S, Peters AL, Burner E, Lam CN, Menchine M. Trial to examine text message-based mHealth in emergency department patients with diabetes (TExT-MED): a randomized controlled trial. Ann Emerg Med 2014 Jun;63(6):745-754.e6. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2013.10.012] [Medline: 24225332]
- 34. Sugawara Y, Narimatsu H, Hozawa A, Shao L, Otani K, Fukao A. Cancer patients on Twitter: a novel patient community on social media. BMC Res Notes 2012;5:699 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-5-699] [Medline: 23270426]
- 35. Winstead-Derlega C, Rafaly M, Delgado S, Freeman J, Cutitta K, Miles T, et al. A pilot study of delivering peer health messages in an HIV clinic via mobile media. Telemed J E Health 2012;18(6):464-469 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0236] [Medline: 22732025]
- King SN, Davis L, Lehman JJ, Ruddy BH. A model for treating voice disorders in school-age children within a video gaming environment. J Voice 2012 Sep;26(5):656-663. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jvoice.2011.08.002</u>] [Medline: <u>22209055</u>]
- Tildesley HD, Mazanderani AB, Ross SA. Effect of Internet therapeutic intervention on A1C levels in patients with type 2 diabetes treated with insulin. Diabetes Care 2010 Aug;33(8):1738-1740 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc09-2256] [Medline: 20668152]
- 38. Scherr D, Kastner P, Kollmann A, Hallas A, Auer J, Krappinger H, et al. Effect of home-based telemonitoring using mobile phone technology on the outcome of heart failure patients after an episode of acute decompensation: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1252] [Medline: 19687005]
- Kwon H, Cho J, Kim H, Song B, Ko S, Lee J, et al. Establishment of blood glucose monitoring system using the internet. Diabetes Care 2004 Feb;27(2):478-483. [Medline: <u>14747232</u>]
- 40. Danaher BG, Boles SM, Akers M. Defining participant exposure measures in Web-based health behavior change programs. J Med Internet Res 2006;8(3):e15. [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.8.3.e15</u>]
- 41. Steele R, Mummery KW, Dwyer T. Development and process evaluation of an internet-based physical activity behaviour change program. Patient Educ Couns 2007 Jul;67(1-2):127-136. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2007.02.013</u>] [Medline: <u>17416479</u>]
- 42. Song H, May A, Vaidhyanathan V, Cramer EM, Owais RW, McRoy S. A two-way text-messaging system answering health questions for low-income pregnant women. Patient Educ Couns 2013 Aug;92(2):182-187. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2013.04.016] [Medline: 23711635]

- 43. Benhamou P, Melki V, Boizel R, Perreal F, Quesada J, Bessieres-Lacombe S, et al. One-year efficacy and safety of Web-based follow-up using cellular phone in type 1 diabetic patients under insulin pump therapy: the PumpNet study. Diabetes Metab 2007 Jun;33(3):220-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2007.01.002] [Medline: 17395516]
- 44. Chen ZW, Fang LZ, Chen LY, Dai HL. Comparison of an SMS text messaging and phone reminder to improve attendance at a health promotion center: a randomized controlled trial. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 2008 Jan;9(1):34-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1631/jzus.B071464] [Medline: 18196610]
- 45. Kaplan K, Salzer MS, Solomon P, Brusilovskiy E, Cousounis P. Internet peer support for individuals with psychiatric disabilities: A randomized controlled trial. Soc Sci Med 2011 Jan;72(1):54-62. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.09.037</u>] [Medline: <u>21112682</u>]
- 46. Thackeray R, Crookston BT, West JH. Correlates of health-related social media use among adults. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(1):e21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2297] [Medline: 23367505]
- 47. Wakefield BJ, Ward MM, Holman JE, Ray A, Scherubel M, Burns TL, et al. Evaluation of home telehealth following hospitalization for heart failure: a randomized trial. Telemed J E Health 2008 Oct;14(8):753-761. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2007.0131] [Medline: 18954244]
- 48. Ramaekers BT, Janssen-Boyne JJ, Gorgels AM, Vrijhoef HM. Adherence among telemonitored patients with heart failure to pharmacological and nonpharmacological recommendations. Telemed J E Health 2009;15(6):517-524. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2008.0160] [Medline: 19566401]
- 49. Andrade AA, McGruder HF, Wu AW, Celano SA, Skolasky RL, Selnes OA, et al. A programmable prompting device improves adherence to highly active antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected subjects with memory impairment. Clin Infect Dis 2005 Sep 15;41(6):875-882 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1086/432877] [Medline: 16107989]
- 50. Shaw LH, Gant LM. In defense of the internet: the relationship between Internet communication and depression, loneliness, self-esteem, and perceived social support. Cyberpsychol Behav 2002 Apr;5(2):157-171. [Medline: <u>12025883</u>]
- Franklin VL, Greene A, Waller A, Greene SA, Pagliari C. Patients' engagement with "Sweet Talk" a text messaging support system for young people with diabetes. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(2):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.962] [Medline: 18653444]
- 52. Magnezi R, Bergman YS, Grosberg D. Online activity and participation in treatment affects the perceived efficacy of social health networks among patients with chronic illness. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(1):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2630] [Medline: 24413148]
- McKay HG, Glasgow RE, Feil EG, Boles SM, Barrera MJ. Internet-based diabetes self-management and support: Initial outcomes from the Diabetes Network project. Rehabilitation Psychology 2002 Jul;47(1):31-48. [doi: 10.1037/0090-5550.47.1.31]
- 54. McKay HG, King D, Eakin EG, Seeley JR, Glasgow RE. The diabetes network internet-based physical activity intervention: a randomized pilot study. Diabetes Care 2001 Aug;24(8):1328-1334. [Medline: <u>11473065</u>]
- 55. Coyle D, Doherty G, Sharry J. An evaluation of a solution focused computer game in adolescent interventions. Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry 2009 Jul;14(3):345-360. [doi: <u>10.1177/1359104508100884</u>] [Medline: <u>19515752</u>]
- Jelsma D, Geuze RH, Mombarg R, Smits-Engelsman B. The impact of Wii Fit intervention on dynamic balance control in children with probable Developmental Coordination Disorder and balance problems. Hum Mov Sci 2014 Feb;33:404-418. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.humov.2013.12.007</u>] [Medline: <u>24444657</u>]
- 57. Chan DS, Callahan CW, Sheets SJ, Moreno CN, Malone FJ. An Internet-based store-and-forward video home telehealth system for improving asthma outcomes in children. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2003 Oct 1;60(19):1976-1981. [Medline: 14531243]
- 58. Galiano-Castillo N, Ariza-García A, Cantarero-Villanueva I, Fernández-Lao C, Sánchez-Salado C, Arroyo-Morales M. Agreement between telerehabilitation involving caregivers and face-to-face clinical assessment of lymphedema in breast cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 2014 Jan;22(1):253-258. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-1971-8] [Medline: 24043290]
- 59. Gray JE, Safran C, Davis RB, Pompilio-Weitzner G, Stewart JE, Zaccagnini L, et al. Baby CareLink: using the internet and telemedicine to improve care for high-risk infants. Pediatrics 2000 Dec;106(6):1318-1324. [Medline: <u>11099583</u>]
- 60. Kinney AY, Boonyasiriwat W, Walters ST, Pappas LM, Stroup AM, Schwartz MD, et al. Telehealth personalized cancer risk communication to motivate colonoscopy in relatives of patients with colorectal cancer: the family CARE Randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol 2014 Mar 1;32(7):654-662 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.51.6765] [Medline: 24449229]
- 61. Meiland FM, Hattink BJ, Overmars-Marx T, de Boer ME, Jedlitschka A, Ebben PWG, et al. Participation of end users in the design of assistive technology for people with mild to severe cognitive problems; the European Rosetta project. Int Psychogeriatr 2014 May;26(5):769-779. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610214000088] [Medline: 24507571]
- 62. Price M, Gros DF. Examination of prior experience with telehealth and comfort with telehealth technology as a moderator of treatment response for PTSD and depression in veterans. Int J Psychiatry Med 2014;48(1):57-67. [doi: 10.2190/PM.48.1.e] [Medline: 25354926]
- Spaniel F, Vohlídka P, Hrdlicka J, Kozený J, Novák T, Motlová L, et al. ITAREPS: information technology aided relapse prevention programme in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2008 Jan;98(1-3):312-317. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2007.09.005</u>] [Medline: <u>17920245</u>]

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/

- 64. Weinstock RS, Brooks G, Palmas W, Morin PC, Teresi JA, Eimicke JP, et al. Lessened decline in physical activity and impairment of older adults with diabetes with telemedicine and pedometer use: results from the IDEATel study. Age Ageing 2011 Jan;40(1):98-105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq147] [Medline: 21081539]
- 65. Franklin VL, Waller A, Pagliari C, Greene SA. A randomized controlled trial of Sweet Talk, a text-messaging system to support young people with diabetes. Diabet Med 2006 Dec;23(12):1332-1338. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01989.x] [Medline: 17116184]
- 66. Stacy JN, Schwartz SM, Ershoff D, Shreve MS. Incorporating tailored interactive patient solutions using interactive voice response technology to improve statin adherence: results of a randomized clinical trial in a managed care setting. Popul Health Manag 2009 Oct;12(5):241-254. [doi: 10.1089/pop.2008.0046] [Medline: 19848566]
- 67. Granholm E, Ben-Zeev D, Link PC, Bradshaw KR, Holden JL. Mobile Assessment and Treatment for Schizophrenia (MATS): a pilot trial of an interactive text-messaging intervention for medication adherence, socialization, and auditory hallucinations. Schizophr Bull 2012 May;38(3):414-425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr155] [Medline: 22080492]
- Rodgers A, Corbett T, Bramley D, Riddell T, Wills M, Lin RB, et al. Do u smoke after txt? Results of a randomised trial of smoking cessation using mobile phone text messaging. Tob Control 2005 Aug;14(4):255-261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/tc.2005.011577] [Medline: 16046689]
- 69. Brendryen H, Kraft P. Happy ending: a randomized controlled trial of a digital multi-media smoking cessation intervention. Addiction 2008 Mar;103(3):478-84; discussion 485. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.02119.x] [Medline: 18269367]
- 70. Hurling R, Catt M, Boni MD, Fairley BW, Hurst T, Murray P, et al. Using internet and mobile phone technology to deliver an automated physical activity program: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(2):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.2.e7] [Medline: 17478409]
- Gold J, Lim MC, Hellard ME, Hocking JS, Keogh L. What's in a message? Delivering sexual health promotion to young people in Australia via text messaging. BMC Public Health 2010;10:792 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-10-792] [Medline: 21190584]
- 72. Gabriele JM, Carpenter BD, Tate DF, Fisher EB. Directive and nondirective e-coach support for weight loss in overweight adults. Ann Behav Med 2011 Apr;41(2):252-263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-010-9240-2] [Medline: 21108032]
- 73. Simon GE, Ludman EJ, Goodale LC, Dykstra DM, Stone E, Cutsogeorge D, et al. An online recovery plan program: can peer coaching increase participation? Psychiatr Serv 2011 Jun;62(6):666-669 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/ps.62.6.pss6206_0666] [Medline: 21632737]
- 74. Gustafson DH, Hawkins R, Pingree S, McTavish F, Arora NK, Mendenhall J, et al. Effect of computer support on younger women with breast cancer. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Jul 14;16(7):435-445. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016007435.x</u>]
- 75. Kato PM, Cole SW, Bradlyn AS, Pollock BH. A video game improves behavioral outcomes in adolescents and young adults with cancer: a randomized trial. Pediatrics 2008 Aug;122(2):e305-e317. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2007-3134</u>] [Medline: <u>18676516</u>]
- Bingham PM, Lahiri T, Ashikaga T. Pilot trial of spirometer games for airway clearance practice in cystic fibrosis. Respir Care 2012 Aug;57(8):1278-1284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4187/respcare.01263] [Medline: 22348602]
- 77. Green BB, Cook AJ, Ralston JD, Fishman PA, Catz SL, Carlson J, et al. Effectiveness of home blood pressure monitoring, Web communication, and pharmacist care on hypertension control: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2008 Jun 25;299(24):2857-2867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.299.24.2857] [Medline: 18577730]
- 78. Read E. Feasibility of the Diabetes and Technology for Increased Activity (DaTA) Study: a pilot intervention in high-risk rural adults. J Phys Act Health 2014 Jan;11(1):118-126. [doi: <u>10.1123/jpah.2011-0381</u>] [Medline: <u>23249608</u>]
- Reback CJ, Grant DL, Fletcher JB, Branson CM, Shoptaw S, Bowers JR, et al. Text messaging reduces HIV risk behaviors among methamphetamine-using men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav 2012 Oct;16(7):1993-2002. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-012-0200-7] [Medline: 22610370]
- Glasgow RE, Christiansen SM, Kurz D, King DK, Woolley T, Faber AJ, et al. Engagement in a diabetes self-management website: usage patterns and generalizability of program use. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1391] [Medline: 21371992]
- Claborn KR, Leffingwell TR, Miller MB, Meier E, Stephens JR. Pilot study examining the efficacy of an electronic intervention to promote HIV medication adherence. AIDS Care 2014;26(3):404-409. [doi: <u>10.1080/09540121.2013.824534</u>] [Medline: <u>23909858</u>]
- 82. Bantum EO, Albright CL, White KK, Berenberg JL, Layi G, Ritter PL, et al. Surviving and thriving with cancer using a Web-based health behavior change intervention: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(2):e54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3020] [Medline: 24566820]
- Gutierrez N, Kindratt TB, Pagels P, Foster B, Gimpel NE. Health literacy, health information seeking behaviors and internet use among patients attending a private and public clinic in the same geographic area. J Community Health 2014 Feb;39(1):83-89. [doi: 10.1007/s10900-013-9742-5] [Medline: 23900880]
- 84. Agarwal R, Anderson C, Zarate J, Ward C. If we offer it, will they accept? Factors affecting patient use intentions of personal health records and secure messaging. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(2):e43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2243] [Medline: 23470453]

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/

- Agricola E, Pandolfi E, Gonfiantini MV, Gesualdo F, Romano M, Carloni E, et al. A cohort study of a tailored web intervention for preconception care. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2014;14:33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-14-33] [Medline: 24731520]
- Barnabei VM, O'Connor JJ, Nimphius NM, Vierkant RA, Eaker ED. The effects of a web-based tool on patient-provider communication and satisfaction with hormone therapy: a randomized evaluation. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 2008;17(1):147-158. [doi: 10.1089/jwh.2007.0369] [Medline: 18240991]
- 87. Botts NE, Horan TA, Thoms BP. HealthATM: personal health cyberinfrastructure for underserved populations. Am J Prev Med 2011 May;40(5 Suppl 2):S115-S122. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2011.01.016] [Medline: 21521584]
- Boudreaux ED, Bedek KL, Byrne NJ, Baumann BM, Lord SA, Grissom G. The Computer-Assisted Brief Intervention for Tobacco (CABIT) program: a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(6):e163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2074] [Medline: 23208070]
- Buhrman M, Skoglund A, Husell J, Bergström K, Gordh T, Hursti T, et al. Guided internet-delivered acceptance and commitment therapy for chronic pain patients: a randomized controlled trial. Behav Res Ther 2013 Jun;51(6):307-315. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.brat.2013.02.010</u>] [Medline: <u>23548250</u>]
- Feldman PH, Murtaugh CM, Pezzin LE, McDonald MV, Peng TR. Just-in-time evidence-based e-mail "reminders" in home health care: impact on patient outcomes. Health Serv Res 2005 Jun;40(3):865-885 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2005.00389.x] [Medline: 15960695]
- Glynn SM, Randolph ET, Garrick T, Lui A. A proof of concept trial of an online psychoeducational program for relatives of both veterans and civilians living with schizophrenia. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2010;33(4):278-287. [doi: 10.2975/33.4.2010.278.287] [Medline: 20374986]
- 92. Gustafson DH, McTavish FM, Stengle W, Ballard D, Hawkins R, Shaw BR, et al. Use and Impact of eHealth System by Low-income Women With Breast Cancer. J Health Commun 2005;10 Suppl 1:195-218. [doi: 10.1080/10810730500263257] [Medline: 16377608]
- 93. Hasin DS, Aharonovich E, Greenstein E. HealthCall for the smartphone: technology enhancement of brief intervention in HIV alcohol dependent patients. Addict Sci Clin Pract 2014;9:5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1940-0640-9-5] [Medline: 24533631]
- 94. Irvine AB, Gelatt VA, Seeley JR, Macfarlane P, Gau JM. Web-based intervention to promote physical activity by sedentary older adults: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(2):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2158] [Medline: 23470322]
- 95. Iverson SA, Howard KB, Penney BK. Impact of internet use on health-related behaviors and the patient-physician relationship: a survey-based study and review. J Am Osteopath Assoc 2008 Dec;108(12):699-711. [Medline: <u>19075034</u>]
- 96. Krishna S, Francisco BD, Balas EA, König P, Graff GR, Madsen RW, et al. Internet-enabled interactive multimedia asthma education program: a randomized trial. Pediatrics 2003 Mar;111(3):503-510. [Medline: <u>12612228</u>]
- 97. Lee CJ, Gray SW, Lewis N. Internet use leads cancer patients to be active health care consumers. Patient Educ Couns 2010 Dec;81 Suppl:S63-S69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2010.09.004] [Medline: 20889279]
- Lewis N, Gray SW, Freres DR, Hornik RC. Examining cross-source engagement with cancer-related information and its impact on doctor-patient relations. Health Commun 2009 Dec;24(8):723-734 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10410230903264030] [Medline: 20183381]
- 99. Lorig KR, Ritter PL, Laurent DD, Plant K. Internet-based chronic disease self-management: a randomized trial. Med Care 2006 Nov;44(11):964-971. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000233678.80203.c1] [Medline: 17063127]
- Osborn CY, Mayberry LS, Wallston KA, Johnson KB, Elasy TA. Understanding patient portal use: implications for medication management. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(7):e133 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2589] [Medline: 23823974]
- 101. Rooke S, Gates P, Norberg M, Copeland J. Applying technology to the treatment of cannabis use disorder: Comparing telephone versus Internet delivery using data from two completed trials. J Subst Abuse Treat 2014;46(1):78-84. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2013.08.007]
- 102. Ross SE, Moore LA, Earnest MA, Wittevrongel L, Lin CT. Providing a web-based online medical record with electronic communication capabilities to patients with congestive heart failure: randomized trial. J Med Internet Res 2004 May 14;6(2):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.2.e12] [Medline: 15249261]
- 103. Urowitz S, Wiljer D, Dupak K, Kuehner Z, Leonard K, Lovrics E, et al. Improving diabetes management with a patient portal: a qualitative study of diabetes self-management portal. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(6):e158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2265] [Medline: 23195925]
- 104. van den Berg MH, Ronday HK, Peeters AJ, Voogt-van der Harst EM, Munneke M, Breedveld FC, et al. Engagement and satisfaction with an Internet-based physical activity intervention in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2007 Mar;46(3):545-552 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kel341] [Medline: 17043050]
- 105. Villegas N, Santisteban D, Cianelli R, Ferrer L, Ambrosia T, Peragallo N, et al. The development, feasibility and acceptability of an Internet-based STI-HIV prevention intervention for young Chilean women. Int Nurs Rev 2014 Mar;61(1):55-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/inr.12080] [Medline: 24512261]
- 106. Winzelberg AJ, Eppstein D, Eldredge KL, Wilfley D, Dasmahapatra R, Dev P, et al. Effectiveness of an Internet-based program for reducing risk factors for eating disorders. J Consult Clin Psychol 2000 Apr;68(2):346-350. [Medline: <u>10780136</u>]

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/
```

- 107. Harris LT, Lehavot K, Huh D, Yard S, Andrasik MP, Dunbar PJ, et al. Two-way text messaging for health behavior change among human immunodeficiency virus-positive individuals. Telemed J E Health 2010 Dec;16(10):1024-1029 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2010.0050] [Medline: 21087122]
- 108. Tran BX, Houston S. Mobile phone-based antiretroviral adherence support in Vietnam: feasibility, patient's preference, and willingness-to-pay. AIDS Behav 2012 Oct;16(7):1988-1992. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-012-0271-5] [Medline: 22814571]
- 109. Shrier LA, Rhoads A, Burke P, Walls C, Blood EA. Real-time, contextual intervention using mobile technology to reduce marijuana use among youth: A Pilot Study. Addict Behav 2014;39(1):173-180. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.09.028]
- 110. Fisher J, Clayton M. Who gives a tweet: assessing patients' interest in the use of social media for health care. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2012 Apr;9(2):100-108. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1741-6787.2012.00243.x</u>] [Medline: <u>22432730</u>]
- 111. Greene JA, Choudhry NK, Kilabuk E, Shrank WH. Online social networking by patients with diabetes: a qualitative evaluation of communication with Facebook. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Mar;26(3):287-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1526-3] [Medline: 20945113]
- 112. Boland MV, Chang DS, Frazier T, Plyler R, Jefferys JL, Friedman DS. Automated telecommunication-based reminders and adherence with once-daily glaucoma medication dosing: the automated dosing reminder study. JAMA Ophthalmol 2014 Jul;132(7):845-850. [doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.857] [Medline: 24831037]
- 113. Bond GE, Burr RL, Wolf FM, Feldt K. The effects of a web-based intervention on psychosocial well-being among adults aged 60 and older with diabetes: a randomized trial. Diabetes Educ 2010;36(3):446-456. [doi: 10.1177/0145721710366758] [Medline: 20375351]
- 114. Buhrman M, Fältenhag S, Ström L, Andersson G. Controlled trial of Internet-based treatment with telephone support for chronic back pain. Pain 2004 Oct;111(3):368-377. [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2004.07.021] [Medline: 15363881]
- 115. Christensen H, Griffiths KM, Jorm AF. Delivering interventions for depression by using the internet: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2004 Jan 31;328(7434):265 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.37945.566632.EE] [Medline: 14742346]
- 116. Herbst N, Voderholzer U, Thiel N, Schaub R, Knaevelsrud C, Stracke S, et al. No talking, just writing! Efficacy of an Internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy with exposure and response prevention in obsessive compulsive disorder. Psychother Psychosom 2014;83(3):165-175. [doi: 10.1159/000357570] [Medline: 24732962]
- 117. Houston TK, Cooper LA, Ford DE. Internet support groups for depression: a 1-year prospective cohort study. Am J Psychiatry 2002 Dec;159(12):2062-2068. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.12.2062] [Medline: 12450957]
- 118. Kerr J, Patrick K, Norman G, Stein MB, Calfas K, Zabinski M, et al. Randomized control trial of a behavioral intervention for overweight women: impact on depressive symptoms. Depress Anxiety 2008;25(7):555-558. [doi: <u>10.1002/da.20320</u>] [Medline: <u>17557319</u>]
- 119. Rotondi AJ, Anderson CM, Haas GL, Eack SM, Spring MB, Ganguli R, et al. Web-based psychoeducational intervention for persons with schizophrenia and their supporters: one-year outcomes. Psychiatr Serv 2010 Nov;61(11):1099-1105. [doi: 10.1176/ps.2010.61.11.1099] [Medline: 21041348]
- 120. Roy H, Gillett T. E-mail: a new technique for forming a therapeutic alliance with high-risk young people failing to engage with mental health services? A case study. Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry 2008 Jan;13(1):95-103. [Medline: <u>18411868</u>]
- 121. Baptist AP, Thompson M, Grossman KS, Mohammed L, Sy A, Sanders GM. Social media, text messaging, and email-preferences of asthma patients between 12 and 40 years old. J Asthma 2011 Oct;48(8):824-830. [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2011.608460] [Medline: 21864099]
- 122. Nguyen HQ, Donesky-Cuenco D, Wolpin S, Reinke LF, Benditt JO, Paul SM, et al. Randomized controlled trial of an internet-based versus face-to-face dyspnea self-management program for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.990] [Medline: 18417444]
- 123. Ostojic V, Cvoriscec B, Ostojic SB, Reznikoff D, Stipic-Markovic A, Tudjman Z. Improving asthma control through telemedicine: a study of short-message service. Telemed J E Health 2005 Feb;11(1):28-35. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2005.11.28</u>] [Medline: <u>15785218</u>]
- 124. Tate DF, Jackvony EH, Wing RR. A randomized trial comparing human e-mail counseling, computer-automated tailored counseling, and no counseling in an Internet weight loss program. Arch Intern Med 2006;166(15):1620-1625. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.15.1620] [Medline: 16908795]
- 125. Johnson F, Wardle J. The association between weight loss and engagement with a web-based food and exercise diary in a commercial weight loss programme: a retrospective analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011;8:83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-83] [Medline: 21810222]
- 126. Kornman KP, Shrewsbury VA, Chou AC, Nguyen B, Lee A, O'Connor J, et al. Electronic therapeutic contact for adolescent weight management: the Loozit study. Telemed J E Health 2010;16(6):678-685. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2009.0180</u>] [Medline: <u>20575613</u>]
- 127. Park MJ, Kim HS. Evaluation of mobile phone and Internet intervention on waist circumference and blood pressure in post-menopausal women with abdominal obesity. Int J Med Inform 2012 Jun;81(6):388-394. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.12.011] [Medline: 22265810]
- 128. Patrick K, Raab F, Adams MA, Dillon L, Zabinski M, Rock CL, et al. A text message-based intervention for weight loss: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1100] [Medline: 19141433]

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/

- 129. Petersen R, Sill S, Lu C, Young J, Edington DW. Effectiveness of employee internet-based weight management program. J Occup Environ Med 2008 Feb;50(2):163-171. [doi: <u>10.1097/JOM.0b013e31815c6cf6</u>] [Medline: <u>18301173</u>]
- 130. Steinberg DM, Levine EL, Lane I, Askew S, Foley PB, Puleo E, et al. Adherence to self-monitoring via interactive voice response technology in an eHealth intervention targeting weight gain prevention among Black women: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(4):e114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2996] [Medline: 24780934]
- 131. Turner-McGrievy GM, Tate DF. Are we sure that Mobile Health is really mobile? An examination of mobile device use during two remotely-delivered weight loss interventions. Int J Med Inform 2014 May;83(5):313-319 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.002] [Medline: 24556530]
- 132. Ware LJ, Hurling R, Bataveljic O, Fairley BW, Hurst TL, Murray P, et al. Rates and determinants of uptake and use of an internet physical activity and weight management program in office and manufacturing work sites in England: cohort study. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(4):e56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1108] [Medline: 19117828]
- 133. McKay HG, Danaher BG, Seeley JR, Lichtenstein E, Gau JM. Comparing two web-based smoking cessation programs: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(5):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.993] [Medline: 19017582]
- 134. Bramley D, Riddell T, Whittaker R, Corbett T, Lin RB, Wills M, et al. Smoking cessation using mobile phone text messaging is as effective in Maori as non-Maori. N Z Med J 2005 Jun 3;118(1216):U1494. [Medline: <u>15937529</u>]
- 135. Richardson A, Graham AL, Cobb N, Xiao H, Mushro A, Abrams D, et al. Engagement promotes abstinence in a web-based cessation intervention: cohort study. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(1):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2277] [Medline: 23353649]
- 136. Strecher VJ, McClure J, Alexander G, Chakraborty B, Nair V, Konkel J, et al. The role of engagement in a tailored web-based smoking cessation program: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(5):e36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1002] [Medline: 18984557]
- 137. Kim HS, Jeong HS. A nurse short message service by cellular phone in type-2 diabetic patients for six months. J Clin Nurs 2007 Jun;16(6):1082-1087. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.01698.x] [Medline: 17518883]
- 138. Cho JH, Chang SA, Kwon HS, Choi YH, Ko SH, Moon SD, et al. Long-term effect of the Internet-based glucose monitoring system on HbA1c reduction and glucose stability: a 30-month follow-up study for diabetes management with a ubiquitous medical care system. Diabetes Care 2006 Dec;29(12):2625-2631. [doi: 10.2337/dc05-2371] [Medline: 17130195]
- 139. Fonda SJ, McMahon GT, Gomes HE, Hickson S, Conlin PR. Changes in diabetes distress related to participation in an internet-based diabetes care management program and glycemic control. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2009 Jan;3(1):117-124 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20046656]
- 140. Kim CJ, Kim HS. Effectiveness of mobile and internet intervention in patients with obese type 2 diabetes. Int J Med Inform 2008 Jun;77(6):399-404. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2007.07.006] [Medline: 17881285]
- 141. McCarrier KP, Ralston JD, Hirsch IB, Lewis G, Martin DP, Zimmerman FJ, et al. Web-based collaborative care for type 1 diabetes: a pilot randomized trial. Diabetes Technol Ther 2009 Apr;11(4):211-217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/dia.2008.0063] [Medline: 19344195]
- 142. Rami B, Popow C, Horn W, Waldhoer T, Schober E. Telemedical support to improve glycemic control in adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Eur J Pediatr 2006 Oct;165(10):701-705. [doi: 10.1007/s00431-006-0156-6] [Medline: 16670859]
- 143. McMahon GT, Gomes HE, Hickson HS, Hu TMJ, Levine BA, Conlin PR. Web-based care management in patients with poorly controlled diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005 Jul;28(7):1624-1629 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15983311]
- 144. Meigs JB, Cagliero E, Dubey A, Murphy-Sheehy P, Gildesgame C, Chueh H, et al. A controlled trial of web-based diabetes disease management: the MGH diabetes primary care improvement project. Diabetes Care 2003 Mar;26(3):750-757. [Medline: <u>12610033</u>]
- 145. Quinn CC, Clough SS, Minor JM, Lender D, Okafor MC, Gruber-Baldini A. WellDoc mobile diabetes management randomized controlled trial: change in clinical and behavioral outcomes and patient and physician satisfaction. Diabetes Technol Ther 2008 Jun;10(3):160-168. [doi: <u>10.1089/dia.2008.0283</u>] [Medline: <u>18473689</u>]
- 146. Ralston JD, Hirsch IB, Hoath J, Mullen M, Cheadle A, Goldberg HI. Web-based collaborative care for type 2 diabetes: a pilot randomized trial. Diabetes Care 2009 Feb;32(2):234-239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc08-1220] [Medline: 19017773]
- 147. Bell AM, Fonda SJ, Walker MS, Schmidt V, Vigersky RA. Mobile phone-based video messages for diabetes self-care support. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2012 Mar;6(2):310-319 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22538140]
- 148. Smith KE, Levine BA, Clement SC, Hu MJ, Alaoui A, Mun SK. Impact of MyCareTeam for poorly controlled diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Technol Ther 2004 Dec;6(6):828-835. [doi: <u>10.1089/dia.2004.6.828</u>] [Medline: <u>15684636</u>]
- 149. Tasker APB, Gibson L, Franklin V, Gregor P, Greene S. What is the frequency of symptomatic mild hypoglycemia in type 1 diabetes in the young?: assessment by novel mobile phone technology and computer-based interviewing. Pediatr Diabetes 2007 Feb;8(1):15-20. [doi: 10.1111/j.1399-5448.2006.00220.x] [Medline: 17341287]
- 150. Weppner WG, Ralston JD, Koepsell TD, Grothaus LC, Reid RJ, Jordan L, et al. Use of a shared medical record with secure messaging by older patients with diabetes. Diabetes Care 2010 Nov;33(11):2314-2319 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-1124] [Medline: 20739686]

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/
```

- 151. Yoon KH, Kim HS. A short message service by cellular phone in type 2 diabetic patients for 12 months. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2008 Feb;79(2):256-261. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2007.09.007] [Medline: 17988756]
- 152. Espie CA, Kyle SD, Williams C, Ong JC, Douglas NJ, Hames P, et al. A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of online cognitive behavioral therapy for chronic insomnia disorder delivered via an automated media-rich web application. Sleep 2012 Jun;35(6):769-781 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5665/sleep.1872] [Medline: 22654196]
- 153. Kiselev AR, Gridnev VI, Shvartz VA, Posnenkova OM, Dovgalevsky PY. Active ambulatory care management supported by short message services and mobile phone technology in patients with arterial hypertension. J Am Soc Hypertens 2012;6(5):346-355. [doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2012.08.001] [Medline: 22995803]
- 154. Park MJ, Kim HS, Kim KS. Cellular phone and Internet-based individual intervention on blood pressure and obesity in obese patients with hypertension. Int J Med Inform 2009 Oct;78(10):704-710. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2009.06.004</u>] [Medline: <u>19643661</u>]
- 155. Ginsburg OM, Chowdhury M, Wu W, Chowdhury TI, Pal BC, Hasan R, et al. An mHealth model to increase clinic attendance for breast symptoms in rural Bangladesh: can bridging the digital divide help close the cancer divide? Oncologist 2014 Feb;19(2):177-185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2013-0314] [Medline: 24396050]
- 156. Zernicke KA, Campbell TS, Speca M, McCabe-Ruff K, Flowers S, Carlson LE. A randomized wait-list controlled trial of feasibility and efficacy of an online mindfulness-based cancer recovery program: the eTherapy for cancer applying mindfulness trial. Psychosom Med 2014 May;76(4):257-267. [doi: 10.1097/PSY.0000000000000053] [Medline: 24804884]
- 157. McCann L, Maguire R, Miller M, Kearney N. Patients' perceptions and experiences of using a mobile phone-based advanced symptom management system (ASyMS) to monitor and manage chemotherapy related toxicity. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2009 Mar;18(2):156-164. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2008.00938.x] [Medline: 19267731]
- 158. Christensen A, Christrup LL, Fabricius PE, Chrostowska M, Wronka M, Narkiewicz K, et al. The impact of an electronic monitoring and reminder device on patient compliance with antihypertensive therapy: a randomized controlled trial. J Hypertens 2010 Jan;28(1):194-200. [doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e328331b718] [Medline: 19770778]
- 159. Oh E, Jorm AF, Wright A. Perceived helpfulness of websites for mental health information: a national survey of young Australians. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2009 Apr;44(4):293-299. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00127-008-0443-9</u>] [Medline: <u>18830552</u>]
- Downer SR, Meara JG, Da Costa AC. Use of SMS text messaging to improve outpatient attendance. Med J Aust 2005 Oct 3;183(7):366-368. [Medline: <u>16201955</u>]
- 161. Farmer T, Brook G, McSorley J, Murphy S, Mohamed A. Using short message service text reminders to reduce 'did not attend' rates in sexual health and HIV appointment clinics. Int J STD AIDS 2014 Mar;25(4):289-293. [doi: 10.1177/0956462413502325] [Medline: 23999939]
- 162. Kay-Lambkin F, Baker A, Lewin T, Carr V. Acceptability of a clinician-assisted computerized psychological intervention for comorbid mental health and substance use problems: treatment adherence data from a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1522] [Medline: 21273184]
- 163. Liew SM, Tong SF, Lee Verna KM, Ng CJ, Leong KC, Teng CL. Text messaging reminders to reduce non-attendance in chronic disease follow-up: a clinical trial. Br J Gen Pract 2009 Dec;59(569):916-920 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp09X472250] [Medline: 19712544]
- 164. McInnes DK, Petrakis BA, Gifford AL, Rao SR, Houston TK, Asch SM, et al. Retaining homeless veterans in outpatient care: a pilot study of mobile phone text message appointment reminders. Am J Public Health 2014 Sep;104 Suppl 4:S588-S594. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014.302061] [Medline: 25100425]
- 165. Sims H, Sanghara H, Hayes D, Wandiembe S, Finch M, Jakobsen H, et al. Text message reminders of appointments: a pilot intervention at four community mental health clinics in London. Psychiatr Serv 2012 Feb 1;63(2):161-168. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201100211] [Medline: 22302334]
- 166. Stockwell MS, Kharbanda EO, Martinez RA, Vargas CY, Vawdrey DK, Camargo S. Effect of a text messaging intervention on influenza vaccination in an urban, low-income pediatric and adolescent population: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2012 Apr 25;307(16):1702-1708. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2012.502</u>] [Medline: <u>22535855</u>]
- 167. Glasgow RE, Kurz D, King D, Dickman JM, Faber AJ, Halterman E, et al. Twelve-month outcomes of an Internet-based diabetes self-management support program. Patient Educ Couns 2012 Apr;87(1):81-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2011.07.024</u>] [Medline: <u>21924576</u>]
- 168. Heisler M, Choi H, Palmisano G, Mase R, Richardson C, Fagerlin A, et al. Comparison of community health worker-led diabetes medication decision-making support for low-income Latino and African American adults with diabetes using e-health tools versus print materials: a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 2014 Nov 18;161(10 Suppl):S13-S22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M13-3012] [Medline: 25402398]
- 169. Heyworth L, Paquin AM, Clark J, Kamenker V, Stewart M, Martin T, et al. Engaging patients in medication reconciliation via a patient portal following hospital discharge. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2014 Feb;21(e1):e157-e162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001995] [Medline: 24036155]
- 170. Meglic M, Furlan M, Kuzmanic M, Kozel D, Baraga D, Kuhar I, et al. Feasibility of an eHealth service to support collaborative depression care: results of a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(5):e63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1510] [Medline: 21172765]

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/
```

- 171. Parr JM, Kavanagh DJ, Young RM, Mitchell G. Acceptability of cognitive-behaviour therapy via the Internet for cessation of benzodiazepine use. Drug Alcohol Rev 2011 May;30(3):306-314. [doi: 10.1111/j.1465-3362.2010.00183.x] [Medline: 21545562]
- 172. Santschi V, Wuerzner G, Schneider MP, Bugnon O, Burnier M. Clinical evaluation of IDAS II, a new electronic device enabling drug adherence monitoring. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2007 Dec;63(12):1179-1184. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00228-007-0364-7</u>] [Medline: <u>17899047</u>]
- 173. Vilella A, Bayas JM, Diaz MT, Guinovart C, Diez C, Simó D, et al. The role of mobile phones in improving vaccination rates in travelers. Prev Med 2004 Apr;38(4):503-509. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2003.12.005] [Medline: 15020186]
- 174. van der Vaart R, Drossaert CH, Taal E, Drossaers-Bakker KW, Vonkeman HE, van der Laar MA. Impact of patient-accessible electronic medical records in rheumatology: use, satisfaction and effects on empowerment among patients. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2014 Feb;15(1):102. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-15-102] [Medline: 19017773]
- 175. Kulkarni A, Wright E, Kingdom J. Web-based education and attitude to delivery by caesarean section in nulliparous women. J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2014 Sep;36(9):768-775. [Medline: 25222355]
- 176. Keyserling TC, Sheridan SL, Draeger LB, Finkelstein EA, Gizlice Z, Kruger E, et al. A comparison of live counseling with a web-based lifestyle and medication intervention to reduce coronary heart disease risk: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Intern Med 2014 Jul;174(7):1144-1157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.1984] [Medline: 24861959]
- 177. Aikens JE, Zivin K, Trivedi R, Piette JD. Diabetes self-management support using mHealth and enhanced informal caregiving. J Diabetes Complications 2014;28(2):171-176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2013.11.008] [Medline: 24374137]
- 178. Helander E, Kaipainen K, Korhonen I, Wansink B. Factors related to sustained use of a free mobile app for dietary self-monitoring with photography and peer feedback: retrospective cohort study. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(4):e109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3084] [Medline: 24735567]
- 179. Holtz B, Krein SL, Bentley DR, Hughes ME, Giardino ND, Richardson CR. Comparison of Veteran experiences of low-cost, home-based diet and exercise interventions. J Rehabil Res Dev 2014;51(1):149-160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2013.04.0088] [Medline: 24805901]
- 180. Hunter CM, Peterson AL, Alvarez LM, Poston WC, Brundige AR, Haddock CK, et al. Weight management using the internet a randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med 2008 Feb;34(2):119-126. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.026</u>] [Medline: <u>18201641</u>]
- 181. Kim CJ, Kang DH. Utility of a Web-based intervention for individuals with type 2 diabetes: the impact on physical activity levels and glycemic control. Comput Inform Nurs 2006;24(6):337-345. [Medline: <u>17108753</u>]
- Plotnikoff RC, McCargar LJ, Wilson PM, Loucaides CA. Efficacy of an E-mail intervention for the promotion of physical activity and nutrition behavior in the workplace context. Am J Health Promot 2005;19(6):422-429. [Medline: <u>16022206</u>]
- 183. ter Huurne ED, Postel MG, de Haan HA, Drossaert CHC, DeJong CAJ. Web-based treatment program using intensive therapeutic contact for patients with eating disorders: before-after study. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(2):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2211] [Medline: 23380291]
- 184. Trautmann E, Kroner-Herwig B. BABCP. 2008. Internet-based self-help training for children and adolescents with recurrent headache: a pilot study URL: <u>https://www.psych.uni-goettingen.de/de/clinical/team/bkroene/</u> <u>TrautmannpilotstudieIBI_BCP_2008.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-11-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6dRRLxYJs]
- 185. Lee TI, Yeh YT, Liu CT, Chen PL. Development and evaluation of a patient-oriented education system for diabetes management. Int J Med Inform 2007 Sep;76(9):655-663. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2006.05.030] [Medline: 16815741]
- 186. Sciamanna CN, Nicholson RA, Lofland JH, Manocchia M, Mui S, Hartman CW. Effects of a Website designed to improve the management of migraines. Headache 2006 Jan;46(1):92-100. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1526-4610.2006.00312.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16412156</u>]
- 187. Schnall R, Wantland D, Velez O, Cato K, Jia H. Feasibility testing of a web-based symptom self-management system for persons living with HIV. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care 2014;25(4):364-371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jana.2013.09.002] [Medline: 24434198]
- 188. Furber GV, Crago AE, Meehan K, Sheppard TD, Hooper K, Abbot DT, et al. How adolescents use SMS (short message service) to micro-coordinate contact with youth mental health outreach services. J Adolesc Health 2011 Jan;48(1):113-115. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.05.022] [Medline: 21185535]
- 189. Greysen SR, Khanna RR, Jacolbia R, Lee HM, Auerbach AD. Tablet computers for hospitalized patients: a pilot study to improve inpatient engagement. J Hosp Med 2014 Jun;9(6):396-399 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jhm.2169] [Medline: 24523051]
- 190. Idriss SZ, Kvedar JC, Watson AJ. The role of online support communities: benefits of expanded social networks to patients with psoriasis. Arch Dermatol 2009 Jan;145(1):46-51. [doi: 10.1001/archdermatol.2008.529] [Medline: 19153342]
- 191. Lancioni GE, Singh NN, O'Reilly MF, Sigafoos J, Ferlisi G, Ferrarese G, et al. Technology-aided programs for assisting communication and leisure engagement of persons with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: two single-case studies. Res Dev Disabil 2012;33(5):1605-1614. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2012.03.028] [Medline: 22537857]
- 192. Lester R, Ritvo P, Mills E, Kariri A, Karanja S, Chung M, et al. Effects of a mobile phone short message service on antiretroviral treatment adherence in Kenya (WelTel Kenya1): a randomised trial. The Lancet 2010 Nov 15;376(9755):1838-1845. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61997-6]

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/

- 193. Womble LG, Wadden TA, McGuckin BG, Sargent SL, Rothman RA, Krauthamer-Ewing ES. A randomized controlled trial of a commercial internet weight loss program. Obes Res 2004 Jun;12(6):1011-1018. [doi: <u>10.1038/oby.2004.124</u>] [Medline: <u>15229342</u>]
- 194. Williamson DA, Walden HM, White MA, York-Crowe E, Newton RL, Alfonso A, et al. Two-year internet-based randomized controlled trial for weight loss in African-American girls. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2006 Jul;14(7):1231-1243. [doi: <u>10.1038/oby.2006.140</u>] [Medline: <u>16899804</u>]
- 195. Phillips JH, Wigger C, Beissbarth J, McCallum GB, Leach A, Morris PS. Can mobile phone multimedia messages and text messages improve clinic attendance for Aboriginal children with chronic otitis media? A randomised controlled trial. J Paediatr Child Health 2014 May;50(5):362-367. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.12496] [Medline: 24612007]
- 196. Schweier R, Romppel M, Richter C, Hoberg E, Hahmann H, Scherwinski I, et al. A web-based peer-modeling intervention aimed at lifestyle changes in patients with coronary heart disease and chronic back pain: sequential controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(7):e177 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3434] [Medline: 25057119]
- 197. Habibović M, Cuijpers P, Alings M, van der Voort P, Theuns D, Bouwels L, et al. Attrition and adherence in a WEB-Based Distress Management Program for Implantable Cardioverter defibrillator Patients (WEBCARE): randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2809] [Medline: 24583632]
- 198. McInnes DK, Solomon JL, Shimada SL, Petrakis BA, Bokhour BG, Asch SM, et al. Development and evaluation of an internet and personal health record training program for low-income patients with HIV or hepatitis C. Med Care 2013 Mar;51(3 Suppl 1):S62-S66. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31827808bf] [Medline: 23407015]
- 199. Kim HS, Song MS. Technological intervention for obese patients with type 2 diabetes. Appl Nurs Res 2008 May;21(2):84-89.
 [doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2007.01.007] [Medline: 18457747]
- 200. Delbanco T, Walker J, Bell SK, Darer JD, Elmore JG, Farag N, et al. Inviting Patients to Read Their Doctors' Notes: Patients and Doctors Look Ahead. Ann Intern Med 2011 Apr;155(12):818-819. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-155-12-201112200-00003]
- 201. Nordgreen T, Standal B, Mannes H, Haug T, Sivertsen B, Carlbring P, et al. Guided self-help via internet for panic disorder: Dissemination across countries. Computers in Human Behavior 2010 Jul;26(4):592-596. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2009.12.011]
- 202. Riley WT, Rivera DE, Atienza A, Nilsen W, Allison SM, Mermelstein R. Health behavior models in the age of mobile interventions: are our theories up to the task? Transl Behav Med 2011;1(1):53-71. [doi: 10.1007/s13142-011-0021-7]

Abbreviations

IT: information technology SMS: short message service SOC: stage of change TPB: theory of planned behavior TTM: transtheoretical model

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 09.04.15; peer-reviewed by R Schnall, L Morrison, N Kaufman; comments to author 29.07.15; revised version received 07.09.15; accepted 09.10.15; published 21.01.16.

Please cite as:

Sawesi S, Rashrash M, Phalakornkule K, Carpenter JS, Jones JF The Impact of Information Technology on Patient Engagement and Health Behavior Change: A Systematic Review of the Literature JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e1 URL: <u>http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e1/</u> doi:10.2196/medinform.4514 PMID:26795082

©Suhila Sawesi, Mohamed Rashrash, Kanitha Phalakornkule, Janet S Carpenter, Josette F Jones. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 21.01.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Early Indication of Decompensated Heart Failure in Patients on Home-Telemonitoring: A Comparison of Prediction Algorithms Based on Daily Weight and Noninvasive Transthoracic Bio-impedance

Illapha Cuba Gyllensten^{1,2}, MSc; Alberto G Bonomi¹, PhD; Kevin M Goode³, PhD; Harald Reiter¹, MSc; Joerg Habetha¹, PhD; Oliver Amft^{2,4}, PhD; John GF Cleland⁵, MD, PhD

¹Personal Health Solutions, Philips Research, Eindhoven, Netherlands

²Department of Electrical Engineering, Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven, Netherlands

³Department of Health Professional Studies, Faculty of Health & Social Care, University of Hull, Kingston-Upon-Hull, United Kingdom

⁴ACTLab, University of Passau, Passau, Germany

⁵National Heart & Lung Institute, Imperial College, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Illapha Cuba Gyllensten, MSc Personal Health Solutions Philips Research 5.007 High Tech Campus 34 Eindhoven, 5656AE Netherlands Phone: 31 631926930 Fax: 31 40274276 Email: illapha@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Heart Failure (HF) is a common reason for hospitalization. Admissions might be prevented by early detection of and intervention for decompensation. Conventionally, changes in weight, a possible measure of fluid accumulation, have been used to detect deterioration. Transthoracic impedance may be a more sensitive and accurate measure of fluid accumulation.

Objective: In this study, we review previously proposed predictive algorithms using body weight and noninvasive transthoracic bio-impedance (NITTI) to predict HF decompensations.

Methods: We monitored 91 patients with chronic HF for an average of 10 months using a weight scale and a wearable bio-impedance vest. Three algorithms were tested using either simple rule-of-thumb differences (RoT), moving averages (MACD), or cumulative sums (CUSUM).

Results: Algorithms using NITTI in the 2 weeks preceding decompensation predicted events (P<.001); however, using weight alone did not. Cross-validation showed that NITTI improved sensitivity of all algorithms tested and that trend algorithms provided the best performance for either measurement (Weight-MACD: 33%, NITTI-CUSUM: 60%) in contrast to the simpler rules-of-thumb (Weight-RoT: 20%, NITTI-RoT: 33%) as proposed in HF guidelines.

Conclusions: NITTI measurements decrease before decompensations, and combined with trend algorithms, improve the detection of HF decompensation over current guideline rules; however, many alerts are not associated with clinically overt decompensation.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e3) doi:10.2196/medinform.4842

KEYWORDS

RenderX

Heart failure; telemonitoring; deterioration detection; alert algorithms; ambulatory monitoring; impedance

Introduction

Chronic heart failure (HF) is common [1] and a substantial drain on scarce healthcare resources [2]. Much of the costs of HF are due to the high rate of unplanned admissions for worsening HF. For patients who survive an admission for worsening HF, rehospitalization rates are high and >20% will die within one year [3,4]. Furthermore, the high prevalence and costs associated with HF are projected to rise as the population ages [5]. Telemonitoring could reduce costs and improve outcomes [6] by substituting infrequent assessments at a clinical facility by a health professional with frequent remote monitoring done by patients themselves. This could facilitate more timely and tailored interventions. The efficacy of telemonitoring would be greatly improved if decompensation events could be detected before the onset of severe symptoms [7,8].

Worsening heart failure may lead to weight gain as a consequence of fluid retention and edema and, if uncorrected, can lead to hospitalization and ultimately death. The Heart Failure Association of America (HFSA) and the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) guidelines both recommend daily weight monitoring. The ESC recommends that patients experiencing a weight increase of 2 kg or more in 3 days should alert healthcare professionals and increase their diuretic dose [9]. The HFSA recommends the restriction of sodium and water after an increase of more than 2 lbs (0.9 kg) in 1 day, or more than 4 lbs (1.8 kg) over a week, followed by an alert to healthcare professionals if the increase continues [10].

Worsening hemodynamics with increased vascular resistance, afterload mismatch, congestion, and diastolic dysfunction are thought to precede fluid accumulation [11]. Increased end-diastolic pulmonary arterial pressure (PAP), a direct measure of hemodynamic overload, and decreased intrathoracic impedance (ITI), an indirect measure of pulmonary congestion, have both been observed in the days and weeks prior to decompensation [12-14]. Thoracic impedance can also be measured noninvasively (NITTI) [15], which correlates with ITI [16], making measurement possible in a far broader range of patients. NITTI measures a much larger field; however, the variability in measurements may depend on the patients' willingness and ability to position electrodes accurately. Recently, several new wearable devices have been proposed for this purpose, such as specialized vests [17,18] or adhesive patches [19,20].

An increased risk of decompensation has been shown for both weight gain [21] and decline in ITI [22]; however, recent studies have shown that absolute changes in weight over short time periods are not sensitive in detecting impending decompensation [23-25], and that ITI may have high sensitivity but a high rate of false alarms per patient-year [26]. However, to the authors' knowledge, recently proposed prediction algorithms comparing body weight and impedance head-to-head have not been investigated using *noninvasive* technology.

The aim of this investigation was to evaluate and compare the predictive value of previously published algorithms using measurements of daily body weight, and noninvasive measures of NITTI from a smart-textile vest, to detect decompensation prior to the onset of severe symptoms leading to hospitalization.

Methods

Patient Population

The data for this analysis were collected as part of the MyHeart heart failure management observational study [27]. The MyHeart study was unique in its collection of several different vital signs and innovative markers using noninvasive sensors and a home-telemonitoring system. Six HF clinics in Germany and Spain participated in the collection of the clinical data. Patients were included in the study if they had chronic HF with an elevated N-terminal of the prohormone brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP \geq 500 pg/ml), were taking at least 40 mg/day of furosemide or an equivalent, and were in the New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class II, III, or IV. They were excluded if they had the following: severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD GOLD Class > 2), primary pulmonary hypertension, renal insufficiency requiring dialysis, a psychiatric or neurological disorder of moderate to severe degree (eg, dementia, schizophrenia, substance disorder, psychotic depression), prior acute myocardial infarction or coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) in the previous 3 months. Ethical approval was provided by the Medical Ethics Committees in the 2 respective countries.

Of 148 patients recruited from October 2008 to July 2010, 108 had the system installed and data recorded; 3 did not fit the criteria, 3 were unavailable at installation, 1 died before installation, and 33 withdrew before system installation. Of the remaining 108 users, 17 used the system on less than 30 occasions, leaving 91 patients as the focus of this exploratory analysis. Their mean (SD) age was 63 (12) years and 64 were men. Mean weight was 84 (19) kg, mean BMI was 29 (6) kg/m², and mean left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) was 31 (12) %. Most patients had mild (NYHA class II: 60%) or moderate (NYHA class III: 36%) symptoms. Etiology was ischemic in 47%, idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy in 31%, valvular disease in 5%, and other in 9%. Comorbidities included hypertension (68%), diabetes (37%), atrial fibrillation (36%), renal dysfunction (28%) and COPD (13%). Treatment included angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) (87%), beta-blockers (88%), MRA (53%), diuretics (84%), digoxin (21%), and implantable cardioverter-defibrillator/cardiac resynchronization therapy (ICD/CRT) (23%/14%). The average monitoring time was 10 months, during which 19 patients were hospitalized one or more times due to decompensated HF, with a total of 24 decompensated HF hospitalizations. The adverse events were adjudicated by an advisory committee.

Daily Measurements of Body Weight and NITTI

Patients were instructed on how to perform measurements of body weight and NITTI. Measurements were carried out in the morning before eating breakfast. Body weight was collected using a weight scale (Philips Medical Systems, Andover, Massachusetts, USA), which automatically logged the measurements (accuracy ± 0.1 kg). TTI was measured using a

XSL•FO

wearable bio-impedance vest [28], shown in Figure 1. The vest measures TTI at several electrical frequencies (10 kHz-1MHz). These recordings give a characterization of the electrical properties of the tissue, as described by the Cole-Cole model [29]. At low measurement frequencies, biological tissue impedance is mainly determined by the extracellular fluid content and characteristics. At higher frequencies, electrical properties are determined by both the intracellular and extracellular fluid content. Multi-frequency measurements of

thoracic bio-impedance therefore allow isolation of the Cole parameters that indirectly reflect either the intracellular or extracellular fluid content. We used the *external resistance* derived from the Cole-Cole model, since this indirectly reflects extracellular water, which is the component associated with decompensation. In another study, we have shown that this metric tracks changes in symptoms and fluid loss during treatment for decompensated HF [17].

Figure 1. The bioimpedance vest shown by a model subject correctly applying it across the chest. Textile electrodes on each side of the flexible measurement panel inject currents at different frequencies and register the resulting voltage to calculate the impedance parameter relating to extracellular fluid volume.



Alarm and Event Definition

The weight and NITTI data were applied to published algorithms (detailed description in Multimedia Appendix 1), to predict the onset of decompensation prior to subsequent hospitalization due to worsening heart failure. The output of these algorithms, the *output index*, could be as simple as the difference between the current measurement and the measurement made 2 days previously, or a more complex calculation (eg, one based on cumulative sums). An alert is triggered when the output index exceeds a specific threshold.

The predictive power of the algorithms was assessed by exploring their ability to alarm within a prespecified period before a hospitalization due to worsening heart failure. Changes in NITTI are thought to precede changes in weight prior to hospitalization [12,21]. Depending on the measure used, previous studies have considered alerting periods from 2 weeks [23] up to one month [30] before hospitalization. In this study, a 2-week period was chosen as an adequate period before a hospitalization, during which alarms should be raised, giving time for the patient or clinician to act. Alerts occurring outside of this period were counted as false alarms. Short periods of a few days at the start of monitoring, end of monitoring, and directly following a hospitalization did not fit into any 2-week division and were subsequently removed from the analysis.

Performance Assessment of Algorithms

Three types of alert algorithms are compared in this study: rule-of-thumb (RoT) [21,23,26], moving average convergence divergence (MACD) [23], and cumulative sum control chart (CUSUM) [31]. The qualitative differences between these are shown in Figure 2. Rule of thumb (RoT) methods provide a noisy measure for which chance readings have a large effect, sometimes with no underlying trend; however, they also provide a fast response to changes. Moving averages (MACD) react more slowly but follow underlying trends better, in both directions. Cumulative sums (CUSUM) provide uni-directional detection and lead to longer sustained alerts. For a detailed description of the definitions of each algorithm see Appendix 1. The predictive performance of the algorithms was compared using receiver operator curve (ROC) analysis. The sensitivity and specificity of each algorithm was calculated by dividing the measurement data into periods of 2 weeks, in such a way that a period containing a decompensated hospitalization would end when the hospitalization event occurred. This led to the following definitions:

1. *True positive*: An alarm during the 2 weeks preceding a hospitalization;

2. False positive: An alarm during any other 2-week period;

3. True negative: A 2-week period without any alarms;

4. *False negative*: A 2-week period ending in a hospitalization without any alarms.



Figure 2. Generated example data with the underlying trend in NITTI are shown in the top graph. The resulting output of the three algorithms, normalized to the last measure to show the qualitative difference between the algorithms, is shown in the bottom graph.



Algorithm Selection and Optimization

Each of the algorithms considered in this study (RoT, MACD, CUSUM) have modifiable parameters that will alter their behavior and ultimately their predictive performance. We tested the performance of each algorithm for a range of possible parameter values. For the RoT algorithms, the number of days (*d*) between the measurements used to calculate the difference was varied from 1 day to 21 days. In the MACD algorithm, the long-term average parameter N_l was varied between 10 and 50 days in increments of 5 days, and the short-term moving average parameter N_s was varied between 1 and 10 days. In the CUSUM algorithm, the parameter determining the length of the running mean and standard deviation (*d*) was varied between 10 and 30 days in increments of 5 days, and the parameter determining the depreciation of the accumulated sum (*c*) was evaluated between 0.5 and 1.5, in increments of 0.2.

Segmentation of the data into 2-week periods results in substantially more periods without an HF-related hospitalization compared to those with one. To avoid producing algorithms that raise a large number of false positive alarms, previous studies have focused only on alarms with high specificity [20,30]. In this investigation, the best parameters were chosen to be those that maximized the area under the curve for thresholds with a specificity >95%. The output index for each algorithm was then normalized to allow the correct estimation of the ROC curves during the cross-validation procedure described below.

Parameter optimization can lead to models that overfit the data, which then would not generalize well to other data sets. To minimize these effects, we implemented a stratified leave-patient-out cross-validation (CV) method for the

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e3/
```

parameters in the RoT, MACD, and CUSUM algorithms. This procedure randomly splits the data into 8 groups, while maintaining the number of patients and decompensation events in each group. The parameters were then optimized for the data with one group left out. The data from the left-out group were then used to evaluate the performance of the optimized parameters. This was repeated until all groups had been left out once. The left-out groups were then recombined to provide an unbiased ROC curve. The optimal threshold for the output index was chosen to be the Youden point with specificity larger than 90%.

Statistics

Comparisons between the recorded measurements and the output index for the different algorithms in the 2 weeks preceding hospitalization and all other periods were tested with a mixed-effect model using patient specific intercepts as random effects. An arbitrary significance of 0.05 was assumed throughout. Missing data due to adherence issues were removed from the analysis by excluding periods in which less than 3 [32] measurements per week were found. In the case of algorithms that needed previous data points to estimate trends, a linear imputation between adjacent data points was carried out. It should be noted that when the algorithms processed the data, imputations were only made on data that would have been available for a system running in real time; no imputations using future values were done. NITTI measurements were log-transformed to adjust for skewness. All listed algorithms were developed and evaluated using the software suite MATLAB 7.13.0.564.

Results

Data Characteristics

Among the 91 patients for whom data were included in the analysis, 24 heart failure-related hospitalizations occurred in 19 patients. Of the 24 hospitalizations, 9 had less than 3 weekly weight recordings and 12 had less than 3 weekly impedance recordings preceding the hospitalization, and were excluded from the analysis. The minimum window for the CUSUM algorithm excluded an additional 2 for its analysis.

Prediction Performance

The predictive performance of guideline-based rules and published algorithms using weight are presented in Table 1. With the exception of those rules with very low specificity (ie, <60%), all rules based on short-term increases had low sensitivity when applied to the data (typically <25%). Rules

based on longer-term increases showed higher sensitivity; however, only one had a specificity >90%. The MACD algorithm with the parameter proposed by Zhang et al. [23] outperformed the other weight algorithms.

The cross-validation analyses of the developed models based on published algorithms are presented in Figure 3. The RoT-based algorithms using weight have poor sensitivity at a specificity between 90-100%, with performance close to random chance. This poor sensitivity was also observed when evaluating previous published guidelines using windows between 2 and 3 days (Table 1). As expected, this sensitivity increased when longer windows and/or lower thresholds were used, but at the cost of a lower specificity.

The MACD algorithm improved performance for both weight and impedance. The CUSUM algorithm improved performance for NITTI. The performance of trend algorithms was superior to previously published algorithms (Table 1).

Table 1. Performance of different weight algorithms in anticipating an upcoming decompensation.

Source	Weight algorithm	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV ^a	NPV ^b
		%	%	%	%
Guideline issuing bodies	>2 lbs ^c in 1 day [10]	67	56	1.4	99.5
	>2 kg in 3 days [9]	13	87	0.9	99.1
	>4 lbs ^c in 1 week [10]	27	87	1.8	99.2
Existing literature	Random chance	50	50	0.9	99.1
	>2 lbs in 1 day or >3 lbs in 3 days [26]	73	50	1.3	99.5
	>2 lbs in 1 day or >5 lbs in 3 days [26]	67	56	1.4	99.4
	>3 lbs in 1 day or >5 lbs in 3 days [26]	13	82	0.7	99.1
	>3 lbs in 1 day or >7 lbs in 3 days [26]	7	83	0.4	99.0
	>4 lbs in 1 day or >7 lbs in 3 days [26]	7	93	0.9	99.1
	>4 lbs in 1 day or >9 lbs in 3 days [26]	7	93	0.9	99.1
	>5 lbs in 1 day or >9 lbs in 3 days [26]	0	100	—	99.1
	>2 lbs in 1 week [21]	80	45	1.3	99.6
	>5 lbs in 1 week [21]	20	94	2.7	99.2
	>4 lbs in a 5 to 80 days MACD ^d [23]	20	97	6.3	99.3

^aPPV: positive predictive value

^bNPV: negative predictive value

^cTo convert to kilograms multiply by 0.45

^dMACD: moving average convergence divergence



Figure 3. ROC curves from the cross-validated evaluation for the three considered algorithms in the specificity range from 0.9 to 1. A shows the rule of thumb algorithm, B the MACD algorithm, and C the CUSUM algorithm. Performance using NITTI measures is shown with the dashed green line, weight is shown with the blue line, and random chance is portrayed by the red dotted line.



Optimal Parameters

The output of the 2 best performing algorithms for weight and impedance with optimal parameters (maximum Youden index with specificity >90%) is shown in Figure 4. Clear trends in both weight and impedance can be seen for Patient 1 and both algorithms managed to alert before the decompensation; a full week in advance for impedance and a day in advance for weight.

Patient 2, on the other hand, had no or weakly visible trends, which were not enough to trigger an alert. The patient did exhibit large daily weight fluctuations, which could have indicated instability; however, this was not picked up by the algorithms. The optimal parameters for all 3 algorithms for weight and impedance are shown in Table 2, together with the cross-validated performance measures. Both trend algorithms using NITTI outperformed the weight algorithms.

Table 2. Cross-validated performance measures of the algorithms at the maximum Youden index within a specificity of 90-100%.

Optimal algorithms ^a		Sensitivity %	Specificity %	PPV ^b %	NPV ^c %
Weight					
	RoT^d : >2.7 kg in 17 days	20	90	1.95	99.2
	MACD ^e : >0.62 kg (N _s =9, N _l = 20 days)	33	91	3.2	99.3
	CUSUM ^f :>8.7 with 10-day average, c=0.75	13	91	1.4	99.1
NITTI ^g					
	RoT: <-0.27 (log ohm) in 21 days	33	92	4.2	99.2
	MACD: <-0.059 (log ohm) (N _s =9, N _l = 35 days)	50	92	5.9	99.5
	CUSUM: <-7.8 with 20-day average, c=0.75	60	96	10.9	99.6

^aThe optimal parameters and thresholds were estimated from the full data (for stability and variance of cross-validated parameters and thresholds, see Table 3).

^bPPV: positive predictive value

^cNPV: negative predictive value

^dRoT: rule of thumb

^eMACD: moving average convergence divergence

^fCUSUM: cumulative sums

^gNITTI: noninvasive transthoracic bio-impedance



Figure 4. Three weeks of telemonitoring data from two patients with high compliance before an upcoming decompensation. Circles correspond to NITTI measurements and the NITTI-CUSUM algorithm and crosses correspond to weight measurements and the weight-MACD algorithm. Optimal thresholds are shown as dash-dotted lines in green for NITTI and dotted blue lines for weight.



Algorithmic Stability

The use of a cross-validation procedure to minimize biased performance measures generated several plausible parameters for the tested algorithms; these are presented in Table 3. In general, RoT had lower variance in estimated parameters than MACD, which in turn had lower variance than CUSUM, coinciding with the increasing complexity of the algorithms. Parameter variance was especially high for the weight CUSUM algorithm, which could explain the poor performances when compared to MACD.

Mean values for weight, impedance, and the respective output indices of the optimal algorithms during periods preceding a hospitalization compared to the other periods are shown in Table 4. A statistically significant difference was only found for the NITTI measurements and algorithms based upon NITTI.



Cuba Gyllensten et al

Table 3. Mean, standard deviation, and individual values for the estimated optimal parameters in each of the 8 folds created using the described stratified cross-validation procedure.

Measure		Body weight Transthoracic impedance					e										
CV ^a step		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
RoT ^b																	
	Threshold				3.5	(0.08)				-0.31 (0.035)							
		3.5	3.56	3.4	3.56	3.45	3.6	3.4	3.4	-0.3	-0.31	-0.3	-0.3	-0.3	-0.3	-0.3	-0.4
	Days				14.4	4 (3.7)				20.5 (1.41)							
		11	17	11	17	17	20	11	11	21	17	21	21	21	21	21	21
MACD ^c																	
	Threshold				0.8	(0.38)				-0.10 (0.014)							
		1.59	0.62	0.31	0.62	0.62	0.97	0.62	0.95	-0.12	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.09	-0.09	-0.13
	Short-term avg. window				8.6	(1.19)				8.1 (0.99)							
		8	9	8	9	9	10	9	9	9	8	8	8	8	9	9	6
	Long-term avg. window				25.6	(10.84)			36.3 (3.54)							
		50	20	15	20	25	30	20	25	45	35	35	35	35	35	35	35
CUSUM ^d																	
	Threshold				11.0	(7.87)			-8.13 (2.65)							
		30	8.7	8.7	8.7	6.9	8.1	8.7	8.1	-7.8	-10.3	-7.8	-7.8	-11.1	-4.40	-11.14	-4.64
	Days	26.9 (18.3)					18.8 (2.31)										
		50	10	10	10	40	40	10	45	20	20	20	20	15	20	15	20
	Depreciation	1.13 (0.40)					0.75 (0.19)										
		1.5	0.75	0.75	0.75	1.5	1.5	0.75	1.5	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.50	1	0.50	1

^aCV: Cross-validation

^bRoT: rule of thumb

^cMACD: moving average convergence divergence

^dCUSUM: cumulative sums

Table 4.	Population mean output index values for RoT, MACD, and CUSUM algorithms using the optimal parameters (see 2) in the 2-wee	k period
preceding	g a hospitalization compared to all other periods.	

Measure	Mean (SD) value in 2-week period be- fore decompensation	Mean (SD) value in nondecompensa- tion periods	Statistical significance ^d
Weight (kg)	83 (10)	84 (19)	.97
Weight-RoT ^a (kg)	0.3 (1.2)	0.06 (0.87)	.76
Weight-MACD ^b (kg)	0.08 (0.30)	0.02 (0.22)	.24
Weight-CUSUM ^c (kg)	1.9 (2.7)	0.8 (1.3)	.58
TTI (log Ohm)	3.0 (0.3)	3.4 (0.3)	<.001
TTI-RoT (log Ohm) ^a	-0.07 (0.12)	0.00 (0.08)	<.001
TTI-MACD (log Ohm) ^a	-0.032 (0.044)	0.003 (0.028)	<.001
TTI-CUSUM (log Ohm) ^a	-6.4 (9.4)	-0.7 (2.0)	<.001

^aRoT: rule of thumb

XSL•FO RenderX

^bMACD: moving average convergence divergence

^cCUSUM: cumulative sums

^dEstimated with a mixed-effect model with patient specific random effects. For the algorithms the cross-validation output was used.

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e3/

Cuba Gyllensten et al

Discussion

Principal Findings

The main finding of the present study is that change in NITTI is a stronger predictor of an impending decompensation compared to changes in weight (cross-validation estimate was 60% for NITTI-CUSUM vs 33% for Weight-MACD) and that both measurements benefit from trend detection algorithms. Mean values of NITTI in the 2-week period preceding a decompensation event were lower than in nondecompensation periods (P<.001).

Fluid overload is one of the leading causes for HF hospitalization and body weight increase has been linked to an increased risk of hospitalization [21]. However, directly applying a weight gain difference to predict imminent decompensation is challenging. This study corroborates the findings of Zhang [23] and Abraham [26], who also reported low predictive ability of alarms using short-term weight change. Short-term weight increase will detect a large and rapid fluid accumulation. Our evaluation of the rule suggested by the ESC guidelines is that it has high specificity but it is not a very sensitive method to predict HF hospitalization, as gradual weight increases are missed. A moving average algorithm focuses on progressive changes in weight, removing much of the inherent variability in weight measurements and errors due to the home setting in which patients might deviate from the measurement protocol, and daily changes due to dietary and fluid intake are averaged out. This could explain why lower threshold values led to higher sensitivity while still retaining specificity.

The increase in thoracic fluid due to congestion should decrease impedance measurements. Several studies have reported positive results from algorithms using impedance to detect decompensations [19,20,33]. To test algorithms proposed for decompensation detection using impedance measurements, we employed a cross-validation procedure to estimate performances. The results are similar, although on the lower side of what has been reported for ITI in terms of sensitivity (76.4% [26], 76.9% [33], 60% [34]), perhaps partly accounted for by the robust methods we employed. Reported performances from feasibility studies usually decline in later prospective studies [35], which the leave-subject-out protocol is designed to emulate.

Comparisons between predicted performances of weight and impedance measurements in Figure 3 show that impedance is the stronger predictor. This is also suggested by the analyses of the mean output index in the 2 weeks preceding a decompensation (Table 4), for which a statistical difference was found compared to periods without decompensation for all impedance algorithms as well as the impedance value, but not for any of the weight algorithms. Abraham et al. [26] also showed a higher sensitivity for impedance measurements when compared to weight. However, we showed that the gap in performance could be made smaller with more sophisticated weight trend algorithms compared to the rules suggested by Abraham (in which the 3 rules with a specificity >90% had a maximum sensitivity of 7%). Sensitivity to fluid build-up in the lungs, whether through redistribution of fluids or retention, could explain the increased performance of impedance when

XSL•F(

compared to body weight [11]. Similarly, weight loss from malnutrition might mask fluid accumulation in weight measurements, which would still be picked up by NITTI. The focus in this study on high specificity algorithms might also have put weight algorithms at a slight disadvantage; evidence of this can be found in the stability analysis (Table 3), in which the high parameter variance for the weight-CUSUM algorithm could have resulted from the difficulty of finding a highly specific algorithm, which led to a negative impact on its cross-validated performance.

The difficulty in assessing prediction algorithms is known [36]. Different evaluation metrics can show diverging results, because they shed light on different aspects of performance. Definitions of what constitutes a true positive and false positive have a great effect on performance. In this study, we focused on algorithms with high specificity evaluated using 2-week intervals, with the best-performing alarm having a sensitivity rate of 60%. Although this catches several patients at a high specificity, it still raises unexplained alarms and has a relatively low positive predictive value of 10.9% for impedance and 3.2% for weight. A measure focusing on the workload associated with managing these alerts, such as false alarms per patient year has been used by several other studies as a surrogate specificity metric [26,33-35]. Defined as an alert not resulting in a hospitalization, the NITTI-CUSUM algorithm has a cross-validated estimate of 0.48 false alarms per patient year. These seemingly contradictory performance measures can be explained by the rarity of 2-week periods resulting in hospitalization, when compared to the full amount of telemonitoring data. An alarm that goes on for 5 weeks would cross three 2-week periods and could generate 3 false positives; however, using the false-alarm metric it would only add one false alarm.

Therefore, the positive predictive value of 10.9% should be seen in the context of 2-week windows having both high specificity and sensitivity and compared to the relatively low predictive value of current weight algorithms.

Low levels of positive predictive value have also been observed in many other studies evaluating prediction algorithms from daily measurements [35,37,38]. The concept of predicting future events might be less realistic than providing indications that could be acted upon. This approach could tailor actions depending on which monitored sign was detected. Indeed, many signs that have been linked to deterioration, for example, arrhythmias [39], breathing rates [38], and heart-rate variability [40], can be detected noninvasively and may be included in such an approach. Importantly, the implementation of better decompensation algorithms will reduce the number of clinical alerts that would need to be dealt with by a telehealth nurse or physician. This will result in better resource utilization, with the management of larger patient caseloads and, therefore, a reduction in the costs of patient management.

Limitations

Although clinicians were blinded to the observational data, they could have intervened based on increased weight data for worsening patients. If such interventions did not result in a hospitalization, they were not recorded in this study and might have negatively affected the results. In the SENSE-HF trial [37],

a substantial increase in positive predictive value was reported after including signs and symptoms of worsening HF diagnosed by a physician rather than only adjudicated HF hospitalizations; therefore, it could also be expected that several false positives were due to "mild" decompensations. Indeed, it is possible that patients often self-correct decompensation by reducing dietary salt, increasing adherence to medication, or even by taking extra doses of diuretic. Changes in environmental temperature might also affect compensation. In this study, high specificity alerts were explored. However, sacrificing specificity for improved sensitivity may be a good complement if management of alerts can be handled by patients without resorting to professional advice. Combining specific alerts with a strategy of health maintenance might be superior to one of only crisis detection and management [41]. Most patients are interested and able to contribute to their care if they are given the information and confidence to do so. Remote monitoring provides a safe environment or safety net to encourage such behavior.

Incorrectly using the measurement equipment could have caused erroneous values with the net effect of lowered performances. The surface on which the scales sit, their accuracy, clothing, and use by other family members can all cause problems with measurement. Bio-impedance weight scales (a different technology from NITTI) require patients to remove their socks and shoes and hence may improve the consistency of measurement. Giving patients feedback and asking them to recheck their weight if it falls out of the expected range are all likely to improve the data quality on which the algorithms are based. The limited amount of data available for this study makes generalizations difficult. Application of cross-validation procedures were employed to minimize this effect; however, the calculated percentage values were ultimately derived from a small set of subjects and should therefore be seen as qualitative indicators of performance.

Conclusion

Daily measurements of transthoracic impedance using a vest with textile electrodes is a feasible way to monitor HF and provides a more accurate indication of upcoming decompensations when compared to weight for all 3 algorithms tested (RoT, MACD, and CUSUM). Trend detection algorithms outperformed RoT measures suggesting that tracking the progression is more important than direct measures of change, which currently are suggested by guidelines.

However, the low positive predictive value of all the algorithms tested did not allow accurate prediction of impending HF hospitalizations. Implementation of trend detection algorithms might better serve as indications of worsening, which, when integrated with other clinical measures, could be useful for treatment management. The promising results from this investigation warrant further trials with noninvasive TTI as a technology for the management of HF, perhaps connected to actionable alerts. These alerts would promote a strategy of "health maintenance" to keep the patient as close to their ideal state as possible on a daily basis, which could be combined with a strategy of "crisis detection and management" if the first strategy failed.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the EU Marie Curie Network iCareNet under grant number 264738. Data were provided by the MyHeart project, which was partially financed by the EU FP6 program under grant number 507816.

Conflicts of Interest

ICG is a PhD student employed at Philips Research. AGB, HR, and JH are employed by Philips Research. JGFC and KGM have received departmental research support from Philips.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Detailed description of algorithms to detect decompensated HF.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 128KB - medinform_v4i1e3_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Mosterd A, Hoes AW. Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart 2007 Sep;93(9):1137-1146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/hrt.2003.025270] [Medline: 17699180]
- 2. Berry C, Murdoch DR, McMurray JJ. Economics of chronic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2001 Jun;3(3):283-291. [Medline: 11377998]
- Maggioni AP, Dahlström U, Filippatos G, Chioncel O, Crespo LM, Drozdz J, Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology (HFA). EURObservational Research Programme: Regional differences and 1-year follow-up results of the Heart Failure Pilot Survey (ESC-HF Pilot). Eur J Heart Fail 2013 Jul;15(7):808-817. [doi: <u>10.1093/eurjhf/hft050</u>] [Medline: <u>23537547</u>]
- Cleland JGF, McDonagh T, Rigby AS, Yassin A, Whittaker T, Dargie HJ, National Heart Failure Audit Team for England and Wales. The national heart failure audit for England and Wales 2008-2009. Heart 2011 Jun;97(11):876-886. [doi: 10.1136/hrt.2010.209171] [Medline: 21173198]

- Giamouzis G, Kalogeropoulos A, Georgiopoulou V, Laskar S, Smith AL, Dunbar S, et al. Hospitalization epidemic in patients with heart failure: Risk factors, risk prediction, knowledge gaps, and future directions. J Card Fail 2011 Jan;17(1):54-75. [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2010.08.010] [Medline: 21187265]
- Inglis SC, Clark RA, McAlister FA, Stewart S, Cleland JGF. Which components of heart failure programmes are effective? A systematic review and meta-analysis of the outcomes of structured telephone support or telemonitoring as the primary component of chronic heart failure management in 8323 patients: Abridged Cochrane Review. Eur J Heart Fail 2011 Sep;13(9):1028-1040. [doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfr039] [Medline: 21733889]
- Desai AS, Stevenson LW. Connecting the circle from home to heart-failure disease management. N Engl J Med 2010 Dec 9;363(24):2364-2367. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMe1011769] [Medline: 21080836]
- Boriani G, Da Costa A, Ricci RP, Quesada A, Favale S, Iacopino S, MORE-CARE Investigators. The MOnitoring Resynchronization dEvices and CARdiac patiEnts (MORE-CARE) randomized controlled trial: Phase 1 results on dynamics of early intervention with remote monitoring. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(8):e167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2608] [Medline: 23965236]
- 9. McMurray JJV, Adamopoulos S, Anker SD, Auricchio A, Böhm M, Dickstein K, ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines. ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012: The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Acute and Chronic Heart Failure 2012 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J 2012 Jul;33(14):1787-1847 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehs104] [Medline: 22611136]
- 10. Heart Failure Society of America. Module 4: Self Care Following Your Treatment Plan and Dealing with your Symptoms Internet URL: <u>http://www.hfsa.org/hfsa-wp/wp/module-4/</u> [accessed 2015-06-18] [WebCite Cache ID 6ZNZ4K4RY]
- 11. Cotter G, Felker GM, Adams KF, Milo-Cotter O, O'Connor CM. The pathophysiology of acute heart failure--is it all about fluid accumulation? Am Heart J 2008 Jan;155(1):9-18. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ahj.2006.02.038</u>] [Medline: <u>18082483</u>]
- 12. Gheorghiade M, Follath F, Ponikowski P, Barsuk JH, Blair JEA, Cleland JG, European Society of Cardiology, European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Assessing and grading congestion in acute heart failure: A scientific statement from the acute heart failure committee of the heart failure association of the European Society of Cardiology and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Eur J Heart Fail 2010 May;12(5):423-433 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfq045] [Medline: 20354029]
- Abraham WT, Adamson PB, Bourge RC, Aaron MF, Costanzo MR, Stevenson LW, CHAMPION Trial Study Group. Wireless pulmonary artery haemodynamic monitoring in chronic heart failure: A randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2011 Feb 19;377(9766):658-666. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60101-3] [Medline: 21315441]
- Vanderheyden M, Houben R, Verstreken S, Ståhlberg M, Reiters P, Kessels R, et al. Continuous monitoring of intrathoracic impedance and right ventricular pressures in patients with heart failure. Circ Heart Fail 2010 May;3(3):370-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.109.867549] [Medline: 20197559]
- 15. Packer M, Abraham WT, Mehra MR, Yancy CW, Lawless CE, Mitchell JE, Prospective Evaluation and Identification of Cardiac Decompensation by ICG Test (PREDICT) Study Investigators and Coordinators. Utility of impedance cardiography for the identification of short-term risk of clinical decompensation in stable patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006 Jun 6;47(11):2245-2252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.12.071] [Medline: 16750691]
- Malfatto G, Villani A, Rosa FD, Rella V, Oldani M, Giglio A, et al. Correlation between trans and intra-thoracic impedance and conductance in patients with chronic heart failure. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 2014 Sep 15. [doi: <u>10.2459/JCM.000000000000177</u>] [Medline: <u>25226339</u>]
- Cuba-Gyllensten I, Gastelurrutia P, Riistama J, Aarts R, Nuñez J, Lupon J, et al. A novel wearable vest for tracking pulmonary congestion in acutely decompensated heart failure. Int J Cardiol 2014 Nov 15;177(1):199-201. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.09.041] [Medline: 25499378]
- Amir O, Rappaport D, Zafrir B, Abraham WT. A novel approach to monitoring pulmonary congestion in heart failure: Initial animal and clinical experiences using remote dielectric sensing technology. Congest Heart Fail 2013;19(3):149-155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/chf.12021] [Medline: 23350643]
- 19. Shochat M, Shotan A, Kazatsker M, Gurovich V, Shochat I, Naiman E, et al. Lung impedance monitoring in the outpatient clinic predicts hospitalizations of patients with decompensated heart failure and enables early therapy to prevent hospitalizations. In: J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011 Apr Presented at: American College of Cardiology (ACC) 60th Annual Scientific Session; April 2 5, 2011; New Orleans p. E1259.
- 20. Anand IS, Wilson Tang WH, Greenberg BH, Chakravarthy N, Libbus I, Katra RP, Music Investigators. Design and performance of a multisensor heart failure monitoring algorithm: Results from the multisensor monitoring in congestive heart failure (MUSIC) study. J Card Fail 2012 Apr;18(4):289-295. [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2012.01.009] [Medline: 22464769]
- Chaudhry SI, Wang Y, Concato J, Gill TM, Krumholz HM. Patterns of weight change preceding hospitalization for heart failure. Circulation 2007 Oct 2;116(14):1549-1554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.690768] [Medline: 17846286]
- 22. Whellan DJ, Ousdigian KT, Al-Khatib SM, Pu W, Sarkar S, Porter CB, PARTNERS Study Investigators. Combined heart failure device diagnostics identify patients at higher risk of subsequent heart failure hospitalizations: results from PARTNERS HF (Program to Access and Review Trending Information and Evaluate Correlation to Symptoms in Patients With Heart
Failure) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010 Apr 27;55(17):1803-1810 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.11.089] [Medline: 20413029]

- Zhang J, Goode KM, Cuddihy PE, Cleland JGF, TEN-HMS Investigators. Predicting hospitalization due to worsening heart failure using daily weight measurement: Analysis of the Trans-European Network-Home-Care Management System (TEN-HMS) study. Eur J Heart Fail 2009 Apr;11(4):420-427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfp033] [Medline: 19252210]
- 24. Lewin J, Ledwidge M, O'Loughlin C, McNally C, McDonald K. Clinical deterioration in established heart failure: What is the value of BNP and weight gain in aiding diagnosis? Eur J Heart Fail 2005 Oct;7(6):953-957 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejheart.2005.06.003] [Medline: 16227134]
- 25. Ledwidge MT, O'Hanlon R, Lalor L, Travers B, Edwards N, Kelly D, et al. Can individualized weight monitoring using the HeartPhone algorithm improve sensitivity for clinical deterioration of heart failure? Eur J Heart Fail 2013 Apr;15(4):447-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfs186] [Medline: 23204211]
- Abraham WT, Compton S, Haas G, Foreman B, Canby RC, Fishel R, FAST Study Investigators. Intrathoracic impedance vs daily weight monitoring for predicting worsening heart failure events: Results of the Fluid Accumulation Status Trial (FAST). Congest Heart Fail 2011;17(2):51-55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7133.2011.00220.x] [Medline: 21449992]
- 27. Habetha J. The MyHeart project--fighting cardiovascular diseases by prevention and early diagnosis. In: Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. 2006 Aug Presented at: 28th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society; 31 Aug 3 Sep; New York p. 6746-6749. [doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2006.260937]
- 28. Reiter H, Muehlsteff J, Sipilä A. Medical application and clinical validation for reliable and trustworthy physiological monitoring using functional textiles: Experience from the HeartCycle and MyHeart project. In: Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. 2011 Presented at: 33rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society; Aug 30 Sep 3; Boston p. 3270-3273. [doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6090888]
- 29. Gabriel S, Lau RW, Gabriel C. The dielectric properties of biological tissues: II. Measurements in the frequency range 10 Hz to 20 GHz. Phys Med Biol 1996 Nov;41(11):2251-2269. [Medline: <u>8938025</u>]
- Sack S, Wende CM, Nägele H, Katz A, Bauer WR, Barr CS, et al. Potential value of automated daily screening of cardiac resynchronization therapy defibrillator diagnostics for prediction of major cardiovascular events: Results from Home-CARE (Home Monitoring in Cardiac Resynchronization Therapy) study. Eur J Heart Fail 2011 Sep;13(9):1019-1027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfr089] [Medline: 21852311]
- Adamson PB, Zile MR, Cho YK, Bennett TD, Bourge RC, Aaron MF, et al. Hemodynamic factors associated with acute decompensated heart failure: Part 2--use in automated detection. J Card Fail 2011 May;17(5):366-373. [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2011.01.011] [Medline: 21549292]
- 32. Lyngå P, Persson H, Hägg-Martinell A, Hägglund E, Hagerman I, Langius-Eklöf A, et al. Weight monitoring in patients with severe heart failure (WISH). A randomized controlled trial. Eur J Heart Fail 2012 Apr;14(4):438-444 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfs023] [Medline: 22371525]
- 33. Yu C, Wang L, Chau E, Chan RH, Kong S, Tang M, et al. Intrathoracic impedance monitoring in patients with heart failure: Correlation with fluid status and feasibility of early warning preceding hospitalization. Circulation 2005 Aug 9;112(6):841-848 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.492207] [Medline: 16061743]
- 34. Vollmann D, Nägele H, Schauerte P, Wiegand U, Butter C, Zanotto G, Hill Michael R S, European InSync Sentry Observational Study Investigators. Clinical utility of intrathoracic impedance monitoring to alert patients with an implanted device of deteriorating chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 2007 Aug;28(15):1835-1840 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehl506] [Medline: 17309902]
- 35. Heist EK, Herre JM, Binkley PF, Van Bakel AB, Porterfield JG, Porterfield LM, DEFEAT-PE Study Investigators. Analysis of different device-based intrathoracic impedance vectors for detection of heart failure events (from the Detect Fluid Early from Intrathoracic Impedance Monitoring study). Am J Cardiol 2014 Oct 15;114(8):1249-1256. [doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.07.048] [Medline: 25150135]
- 36. Mormann F, Andrzejak RG, Elger CE, Lehnertz K. Seizure prediction: The long and winding road. Brain 2007 Feb;130(Pt 2):314-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/brain/awl241] [Medline: 17008335]
- 37. Conraads VM, Tavazzi L, Santini M, Oliva F, Gerritse B, Yu C, et al. Sensitivity and positive predictive value of implantable intrathoracic impedance monitoring as a predictor of heart failure hospitalizations: The SENSE-HF trial. Eur Heart J 2011 Sep;32(18):2266-2273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr050] [Medline: 21362703]
- 38. Auricchio A, Gold MR, Brugada J, Nölker G, Arunasalam S, Leclercq C, et al. Long-term effectiveness of the combined minute ventilation and patient activity sensors as predictor of heart failure events in patients treated with cardiac resynchronization therapy: Results of the Clinical Evaluation of the Physiological Diagnosis Function in the PARADYM CRT device Trial (CLEPSYDRA) study. Eur J Heart Fail 2014 Jun;16(6):663-670 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ejhf.79] [Medline: 24639140]
- 39. Cowie MR, Sarkar S, Koehler J, Whellan DJ, Crossley GH, Wilson Tang WH, et al. Development and validation of an integrated diagnostic algorithm derived from parameters monitored in implantable devices for identifying patients at risk

for heart failure hospitalization in an ambulatory setting. Eur Heart J 2013 Aug;34(31):2472-2480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht083] [Medline: 23513212]

- 40. Adamson PB, Smith AL, Abraham WT, Kleckner KJ, Stadler RW, Shih A, InSync III Model 8042 and Attain OTW Lead Model 4193 Clinical Trial Investigators. Continuous autonomic assessment in patients with symptomatic heart failure: Prognostic value of heart rate variability measured by an implanted cardiac resynchronization device. Circulation 2004 Oct 19;110(16):2389-2394 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000139841.42454.78] [Medline: 15313946]
- 41. Cleland JGF, Antony R. It makes SENSE to take a safer road. Eur Heart J 2011 Sep;32(18):2225-2227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehr120] [Medline: 21551157]

Abbreviations

ACE: angiotensin converting enzyme ARB: angiotensin receptor blockers **CABG:** coronary artery bypass grafting **CUSUM:** cumulative sums **CV:** cross-validation **ESC:** European Society of Cardiology HF: Heart Failure HFSA: Heart Failure Association of America **ICD/CRT:** implantable cardioverter-defibrillator/cardiac resynchronization therapy **ITI:** intrathoracic impedance LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction MACD: moving average convergence divergence NYHA: New York Heart Association NITTI: noninvasive transthoracic bio-impedance **NPV:** negative predictive value PAP: pulmonary arterial pressure **PPV:** positive predictive value **ROC:** receiver operator curve RoT: rule-of-thumb

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 18.06.15; peer-reviewed by G Malfatto, K Kim; comments to author 29.07.15; revised version received 09.09.15; accepted 07.10.15; published 18.02.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Cuba Gyllensten I, Bonomi AG, Goode KM, Reiter H, Habetha J, Amft O, Cleland JGF Early Indication of Decompensated Heart Failure in Patients on Home-Telemonitoring: A Comparison of Prediction Algorithms Based on Daily Weight and Noninvasive Transthoracic Bio-impedance JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e3 URL: http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e3/ doi:10.2196/medinform.4842 PMID:26892844

©Illapha Cuba Gyllensten, Alberto G Bonomi, Kevin M Goode, Harald Reiter, Joerg Habetha, Oliver Amft, John GF Cleland. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 18.02.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Health Information Technology: Meaningful Use and Next Steps to Improving Electronic Facilitation of Medication Adherence

Hayden B Bosworth^{1*}, PhD; Leah L Zullig^{1,2*}, PhD; Phil Mendys^{3*}, PharmD; Michael Ho^{4,5*}, MD, PhD; Troy Trygstad^{6*}, PharmD; Christopher Granger^{7,8}, MD; Megan M Oakes^{7*}, MS; Bradi B Granger^{9*}, RN, PhD

Corresponding Author:

Hayden B Bosworth, PhD Duke University Medical Center Department of Medicine Suite 600 411 W Chapel Hill Street Durham, NC, NC United States Phone: 1 (919) 286 6936 Fax: 1 (919) 416 5836 Email: hayden.bosworth@duke.edu

Abstract

Background: The use of health information technology (HIT) may improve medication adherence, but challenges for implementation remain.

Objective: The aim of this paper is to review the current state of HIT as it relates to medication adherence programs, acknowledge the potential barriers in light of current legislation, and provide recommendations to improve ongoing medication adherence strategies through the use of HIT.

Methods: We describe four potential HIT barriers that may impact interoperability and subsequent medication adherence. Legislation in the United States has incentivized the use of HIT to facilitate and enhance medication adherence. The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) was recently adopted and establishes federal standards for the so-called "meaningful use" of certified electronic health record (EHR) technology that can directly impact medication adherence.

Results: The four persistent HIT barriers to medication adherence include (1) underdevelopment of data reciprocity across clinical, community, and home settings, limiting the capture of data necessary for clinical care; (2) inconsistent data definitions and lack of harmonization of patient-focused data standards, making existing data difficult to use for patient-centered outcomes research; (3) inability to effectively use the national drug code information from the various electronic health record and claims datasets for adherence purposes; and (4) lack of data capture for medication management interventions, such as medication management therapy (MTM) in the EHR. Potential recommendations to address these issues are discussed.

Conclusion: To make meaningful, high quality data accessible, and subsequently improve medication adherence, these challenges will need to be addressed to fully reach the potential of HIT in impacting one of our largest public health issues.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e9) doi:10.2196/medinform.4326

¹Duke University Medical Center, Department of Medicine, Durham, NC, United States

²Center for Health Services Research in Primary Care, Durham VAMC, Durham, NC, United States

³Eshelman School of Pharmacy, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

⁴Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, University of Colorado, Denver, CO, United States

⁵VA Eastern Colorado Health Care System, Denver, CO, United States

⁶North Carolina Community Care, Raleigh, NC, United States

⁷Department of Medicine, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, United States

⁸Duke Clinical Research Institute, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

⁹School of Nursing and Health System, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

KEYWORDS

medication adherence; compliance; health information technology

Introduction

Non-adherence to prescription medications is common and costly [1]. Approximately 20-30% of prescription medications are never filled [1], with approximately 40% of patients failing to fill an initial prescription [2-4]. Even after a medication has been acquired, many patients do not follow prescription instructions. Within one year, over 50% of patients prematurely discontinue their medications [2,5,6]. The problem of medication non-adherence is complex and pervasive with a lack of accountability dispersed across patients, their caregivers, clinicians, pharmacy benefits, and the health care systems as a whole.

While there is no universal solution to improve medication adherence, health information technology (HIT) can inform and accelerate ongoing strategies to initiate, improve, and monitor medication adherence. Studies increasingly demonstrate that the use of HIT can improve the quality and coordination of care and lead to better health outcomes [7,8]. Two commonly cited examples of HIT are electronic health record (EHR) systems and electronic prescribing (e-prescribing), the electronic generation of a medication prescription and its routing to a pharmacy.

Recent legislation in the United States has incentivized the use of HIT to address medication adherence [9]. The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act was passed in 2009 as part of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act. It authorized an estimated US \$30 billion in incentives to eligible professionals and hospitals to adopt and meet federal standards for the so-called "meaningful use" of certified EHR technology [9]. Meaningful use in the context of medications includes EHR functions such as e-prescribing, creating linkages between patient diagnosis and treatment plan, generating reports for clinical quality measures, integrating clinical decision support, and providing electronic messaging between providers. Electronic patient portals also allow for secure messaging between patients and providers, potentially improving medication-related communication and care while reducing the frequency of traditional in-office visits.

The Stage 2 core objectives include providing patients the ability to view online, download, and transmit their health information [10].

The Office of the National Coordinator recently proposed a version of the third stage of meaningful use, with a focus on both functionality and health care outcomes [11]. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Stage 3 Meaningful Use proposed rule focuses on the use of EHR technology to promote improved patient outcomes and health information exchange. The rule proposes to ensure health systems and providers are coordinating care for patients, providing patients with easy access to their health information, and fostering data collection in a format that can be shared across multiple health care organizations. Early drafts of the Stage 3 Meaningful Use rule included medication adherence as well as several other related factors, such as medication reminders for refills. However, in early 2014, these were removed from the Stage 3 plan and are now included at the discretion of providers [12].

Meaningful Use Stage 3 would address key gaps identified in EHR functionality that impede improvement in clinical outcome and are considered essential for adoption by all providers (Figure 1). These key gaps include information exchange among provider entities, connectivity for patient engagement, and technology advances to reduce disparities by providing decision support for national high-priority conditions. Each of these gaps has implications for medication use, including opportunity to improve monitoring, documentation, communication, and feedback [12]. Thus, these proposed changes for Stage 3 Meaningful Use should streamline previous meaningful use criterion while improving health care quality.

Despite the well-intentioned design of certification criteria and clinical quality metrics, the status of medication adherence in the meaningful use guidelines is unclear. The purpose of this paper is to review the current state of HIT as it relates to medication adherence programs, acknowledge the potential barriers in light of current US legislation, and provide recommendations to improve ongoing medication adherence strategies through the use of HIT.



Figure 1. Gaps in electronic health record connectivity.



Results

Challenges of HIT Interoperability, Connectedness, and Reciprocity

Interoperability, defined as the extent to which systems and devices can exchange and interpret shared data [13], has been a longstanding challenge for meaningful use initiatives related to medication adherence. Lack of data connectivity and reciprocity (ie, the extent to which systems can interpret shared data, aka data exchange) across settings of care delivery has been identified as a key factor in poor data capture [14,15]. Specifically, interoperability that enables patients to share health information with their provider and/or health care system (eg, smart pill storage containers or blister packages that record and transmit when a medication has been taken and communicates with an EHR) in an actionable form is underdeveloped. As a result, patients are not able to "connect" data from

self-monitoring efforts to their health records and providers are not able to evaluate these data in the context of the person's other health information. In the case of medication adherence, there are a number of "users" in addition to the patient and provider. These include pharmacies, health systems, and payers. This network of "users" may become extensive; for example, patients may "price shop" and use multiple pharmacies to fill their prescriptions, intensifying the need to share information. As these stakeholders seek to evaluate and improve medication packaging and delivery devices the number of users in the network expands. In addition, their respective motives, goals, and willingness to participate in a transparent and interoperable data platform becomes less predictable. The end-result of a successful, "interoperable exchange" must be representation of data in a user-accessible format that allows users access to these data.

Bosworth et al

The problem of poor medication adherence HIT data reciprocity across systems takes the following two forms: (1) the complexity of the data, coding syntax, and the transmission infrastructure on which these data reside, and (2) the output, such as pill-taking history, medication refill rates or patient-reported experience of side effects. In both cases, these data are not accessible, timely, nor easily understood by the health care system. Thus, providers, patients, family members, and community support often lack adequate communication regarding medication use. The first gap, underdevelopment of data reciprocity across clinical and home settings, gives rise to the second problem of poor adherence outcome. Ironically, the challenge of accessibility and usability is exacerbated by innumerable handheld device apps that are accessible, timely, and easily understood, and are increasing in number. As of October 2013, for example, 160 apps were identified as being available and focusing on an aspect of medication adherence. The sheer number of available apps makes it difficult for patients and providers alike to identify the best solution to address their unique needs. Moreover, creating a system to support sharing of data between this multitude of apps and an array of EHR systems is daunting. Given that medication management requires many participants, roles, responsibilities, and handoffs, data capture that is meaningful for patients is often lost in the chaos of medication management as care processes cross boundaries and settings of care. Thus, criteria for evaluating and encouraging medication data reciprocity are warranted.

An example of underdevelopment of data reciprocity is demonstrated in the CMS-funded Southeastern Diabetes Initiative (SEDI) program [16]. This ongoing project consists of behavioral strategies to support medication-taking that are broadly implemented through clinics, community venues, and patient home visits in four southeastern US counties in North Carolina, Mississippi, and West Virginia. The EHRs in each of the four county sites lack designated fields for documenting patient participation in medication management and self-care support interventions. This gap renders the task of measuring and collecting feedback regarding the impact of medication related care processes impossible, and key stakeholders such as community health workers, nurses, dieticians, physicians, and pharmacists lack data to support communication and provide feedback to patients regarding participation in adherence interventions.

A solution, one which obviates the need to directly link disparate health information systems containing sensitive protected health information (PHI), lies within the range of possibilities presented by Meaningful Use Stage 3. Such a solution would require functionality in the form of common discrete identifiers for EHR fields to indicate patient-selected medication management strategies and the discrete identifiers for community-based resources that were used to access, deliver or monitor the management strategy. For example, participation in the Diabetes Self-Management Program [17,18] would be documented independently by county providers in the EHR, but the patients' enrollment and actual attendance in such programs would be in a sortable, discrete, commonly labeled data field in the EHR, regardless of county. Subsequent changes in glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) could be easily identified and evaluated, both at the individual and aggregate levels, and would be available immediately. In this way, EHR functionality is linked with medication management outcomes across settings, from inpatient to outpatient, and across systems of care from county to county.

Improving linkages and data access will likely improve clinical care. Linkages provide an effective method to evaluate quality indicators related to medication adherence including patient-centered outcomes (PCOs) that are associated with improved medication adherence. Better integration and capture of PCOs will become increasingly important as they are integral components of a more comprehensive approach to patient care, and include objective measures of medication-related clinical outcomes (eg, blood sugar, glycated hemoglobin, blood pressure, and lipids). In addition, the patient-reported outcomes associated with medication management including knowledge, side effects, beliefs of medications are important subjective indicators of patient engagement, and progress in medication-related goals. Patient-reported outcomes (eg, cost-motivated medication non-adherence, barriers to adherence) assessed via validated surveys and questionnaires are currently in use in many clinical settings, but are inconsistently represented in available electronic formats. As a result, patient-reported outcomes are inaccessible for research and unable to be monitored for data quality. These patient-reported outcomes include common measures such as the (hospital) Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS) surveys, health literacy measures, and medication adherence measures such as the Morisky Medication Adherence Scale [19] or the Medication Discrepancy Tool [20,21]. Improved linkages and data access will therefore improve the use in clinical care of patient reported outcomes data associated with medication-taking that are collected across healthcare systems and clinical data networks.

In summary, the state of the science of HIT falls short of this definition of interoperability. Though the phases of meaningful use implementation have pushed increasing numbers of hospitals including critical access hospitals and federally qualified health centers, to invest in EHRs, these systems are challenged by weak links in the data definitions across electronic platforms and low levels of interpretability and access by both physicians and patients [22,23]. Thus, the potential beneficial impact of HIT on medication adherence has not been achieved.

Solutions will require functionality in the form of discrete identifiers that are commonly defined and consistently adopted and applied at each point of data contact. These points of contacts will range from data capture, to coding, to data transmission, and include outpatient data such as pill-taking history, medication refill rates, and patient-reported experience of side effects. Each of these data components must be accessible, timely, and easily understood by users.

Inconsistent Data Definitions

Across almost every level from descriptive evaluation of medication fill-rate patterns and trends [24] to complex predictive modeling of the association of medication adherence with clinical outcomes [25,26], methods for analysis of medication adherence fail to meet patients' needs and expectations. This relative lack of progress is due in part to

XSL•FO RenderX

issues surrounding the data itself. The variability in data definitions and inconsistency in terms used in practice and research prevent successful application of interventions from controlled research settings to real-world populations [27,28]. "Data definition" is the electronic specification established for keyed data entry of each data element. For example, blood pressure must be specified by type (arterial systolic, diastolic or mean), source (cuff, intra-arterial or venous), and limits on digital display (eg, two decimal places). Implications of underdeveloped data linkages are apparent when examining current methods for the evaluation of interventions to improve medication use. In addition, the definitions and terms most commonly used to evaluate medication use in research have not been conceptualized from a patient perspective [29,30]. Lastly, measurement and data capture from the many entities that contribute to management of adherence over time, including patients, caregivers, providers, communities, and health systems, are inaccessible or absent [31]. Gaps exist in the validity, accessibility, and efficiency of data sources commonly used to study adherence interventions and improve patient management of medications.

An example of inconsistent data definitions for medication adherence is the distinction between initiation, renewal, and therapeutic discontinuation. For many HIT systems, there is no mechanism in the health IT infrastructure that allows a prescriber to note that they are initiating a prescription for the first time (new to therapy) versus a refill authorization or new prescription for therapeutic continuation. While there is an existing mechanism for a prescriber to declare that they are discontinuing a medication in the 10.6 SCRIPT e-prescribing standard, for example, vendors have been slow to adopt this feature due to lack of a clear directive through meaningful use standards to date. Clinical programs such as medication reconciliation and pay for performance (eg, Medicare Star Ratings) could undergo dramatic improvements in precision through increased development, standardization, and incentive programs for adoption of order entry capabilities that have explicit data on medication initiation and discontinuation.

The underdevelopment of data linkages has major impediment for improving health care quality and patient outcomes. An outdated or incomplete medication list may give health care providers insufficient or inaccurate information to provide proper medication management of patients' conditions. Similarly, there may be insufficient or inaccurate data to understand a patient's non-adherence. Without incentives for medication reconciliation, this problem may continue unchecked. By not having consistent data definitions for non-adherence, it is unclear what would be "flagged" and trigger intervention from the health care system. Is non-adherence filling a prescription seven days too late or not at all? If a patient fails to fill a new prescription, does that constitute non-adherence? Having consistent data definitions would improve understanding of a patient's ongoing medication use, which would in turn have the potential to improve symptom control and reduce morbidity and mortality.

The inconsistent data definitions and lack of harmonized data standards make tracking data relevant from a patient's perspective difficult. These data sources include a patient's

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e9/
```

perceptions of the medication, barriers and/or facilitators to taking the medication, and potential side effects; all factors likely to impact medication adherence. These data sources lack harmonized data definitions and data linkages across settings, resulting in poor accessibility of data from outpatient, community, and home settings to hospital and pharmacy dispensing industry settings. As a result, data are difficult to use, and when they are accessible, the data quality is poor and not amenable for use in research.

In addition to having inconsistent data definitions, there is also lack of agreement regarding where data should be stored; drug therapy problems typically do not have a place to reside within EHRs. Drug therapy problems are typically not included in the more general problem list within EHRs and other electronic systems. Many commonly understood drug therapy problems are the direct progenitor for the patient non-adherence and are critical pieces of information that are neither stored nor shared across HIT systems.

Challenges in identifying common data definitions that are meaningful to patients stem from the etymological origin of the terms used in research and practice to reflect "medication-taking". These terms were not derived from a patient perspective. Thus, terms that are most commonly used and most likely to be well defined and standardized [32], such as medication possession ratio or proportion of days covered, do not reflect aspects of medication-taking that are considered important or useful to patients. As a result, study questions and adherence interventions are less likely to be designed from a perspective that will yield meaningful information for patients.

Thus, solutions need to include terms, data definitions, and data standards that are clearly defined, standardized, and oriented from a patient-centric view of medication management in everyday life.

Inability to Effectively use the National Drug Codes

A third major barrier to the use of HIT for medication adherence in the United States is the inability to effectively use the National Drug Code (NDC) information (US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), 2013) from the various EHR and claims datasets for adherence purposes. Though NDC codification provides a unique 10-digit drug identifier with three segments for each FDA approved medication, only the first segment is a fixed identifier from the FDA, while the second and third segments vary by company and product. As a result, although NDC codification is intended to greatly improve data quality, the 3-segment numeric indicator of the vendor, product specification (strength, dose, and formulation of the drug), and trade packages are not standardized. Thus, the stage at which the codes are implemented in the EHR system is critical [33].

One solution to address the inability to effectively use the NDCs could be improved through standardized codes across all contexts that are integrated into the EHR, much like existing International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes.

Capture of Medication Management Therapy

A fourth challenge with HIT in regards to medication adherence is the poor capture of medication management therapy (MTM)

XSL•FO RenderX

in current electronic data systems. MTM ensures optimum therapeutic outcomes through improved medication adherence, reduces the risk of adverse events, is developed in cooperation with licensed and practicing pharmacists and physicians, and is coordinated with any care management plan established for a targeted individual under a chronic care improvement program [34]. Specific activities of MTM include performing a comprehensive medication review, formulating a treatment plan, and providing patient education to promote adherence, among other services. Although MTM is part of Medicare Part D, data regarding provision of MTM services is not routinely captured and is not available (eg, "traceable") beyond the initiation of the checkbox at the pharmacy. Functionality "fix" to address this gap would be to link MTM data from pharmacy databases to the EHR such that actionable alerts could be routed to the physician message basket or "inbox", and summaries of educational interventions would be logged in the outpatient interactions log and tagged with "pharmacy provider" label for rapid identification. In this way HIT connectivity closes the communication loop and meets guideline measures for communication and information exchange as outlined in meaningful use stage three.

Some of the data elements that are most important to patients are not captured at all. For example, the data elements reflecting daily management of medications by patients, such as the implementation of routines and reminders to facilitate medication-taking, the monitoring of daily physiologic indicators that drive dose, such as blood sugar in diabetes or daily weight in heart failure, or the access to pharmacies with home delivery; these details of daily management significantly alter the ability of patients to manage medicines. Yet, most are not captured, or if captured are not transmitted to providers in a way that enables feedback using real-time data. The Medicare Part D Medication Therapy Management program is limited to measures of cost and resource utilization. Though one study has reported improvements in patient outcomes [35], these types of intervention outcomes for management of medicines are not consistently documented and addressed.

Thus, one solution to the poor capture of MTM in current electronic records would be to link MTM data from pharmacy databases to the EHR such that actionable alerts could be routed to the provider message basket or "inbox". These messages could summarize outpatient interactions and be tagged with "pharmacy provider" label for rapid identification.

Role of Mobile Apps, HIT, and Medication Adherence

In addition to the challenges laid out above, consideration of how mobile medical apps will play into the mix of operability, HIT, and medication adherence are needed. The US FDA issued final guidance for developers of mobile medical apps, which are software programs that run on mobile wireless communication devices and perform the same functions as traditional medical devices. The FDA intends to focus its regulatory oversight on a subset of mobile medical apps that present a greater risk to patients if they do not work as intended. For example, an app that allows a health care professional to make a specific diagnosis by viewing a medical image from a picture archiving and communication system on a mobile phone or tablet. Another example requiring FDA regulation would be transforming a mobile platform into a regulated medical device such as an app that turns a mobile phone into an electrocardiography machine to detect abnormal heart rhythms or determine if a patient is experiencing a heart attack. However, further consideration of how mobile apps can interact with electronic medical records as well as provide more information than simply reminders is needed. For example, consider a mobile app is able to collect information from the patient regarding chemotherapy side effects they may be experiencing, then uses an evidence-based algorithm to prioritize these side effects, and integrates the prioritized list into the EHR for the provider to evaluate.

Discussion

A system-based view of overall medication use, management, and patient adherence is needed. Improving medication use is a systems challenge, given the many entities involved in the whole process. Patients reliant on medications are tied to the prescriber's office, the dispensing pharmacy, their home, their health plan, prescription drug plan, and pharmacy benefit management. A system-based view of medication use would be a first step towards building a model that would allow stakeholders to track a patient's experience with medications over an entire continuum of care, and allow stakeholders to visualize how and when different interventions are (or should be) delivered to patients over time.

Until the challenges of data complexity are addressed, health care providers may be reticent to have medication use data incorporated into the EHR, unless there is clear guidance on how to respond to various lapses in medication use, especially as provided for in real-time. There may be additional medical liabilities that might occur if providers fail to respond to a prompt indicating non-adherence, which results in a negative outcome for the patient. Currently, liability for non-adherence lies primarily with the patient. Integrating these data into the EHR, as proposed, will likely shift liability to the provider and require that expectations and standards for response roles and timing be considered.

Finally, to bring a system-based perspective to bear on complex data and data integration issues, we summarize six recommendations for solutions to move HIT to the next phase of use (Textbox 1). These six recommendations are not an exhaustive list, but encapsulate the evidence to date and the opportunities that lie ahead. Importantly, these potential solutions present an opportunity for collaborative work across key stakeholders, including patients, providers, pharmacists, payers, and health technology programmers, designers, and developers. Building broad, collaborative, and multidisciplinary working groups to address these issues is the next exciting frontier in health.



Textbox 1. Recommendations to leverage HIT to improve medication use and adherence.

Recommendation

- 1. Improve HIT interoperability by designating common discrete fields reflecting medication management.
- 2. Develop consistent data definitions for medication management activities and outcomes.
- 3. Increase use of national drug code by using these codes for prescribing and dispensing.
- 4. Develop data capture in EHR for MTM and allow the sharing of MTM strategies to providers across the system. In addition, having the ability to acknowledge that further clarification regarding medication if need be and allowing the sharing of this information to providers in the patients' health care network.
- 5. Leverage integration of mobile apps to improve patient self-monitoring data capture and associated provider feedback when appropriate.
- 6. Capture the data linkages for medication adherence from the provider perspective that highlights therapeutic initiation, continuation, and discontinuation.

Conflicts of Interest

Dr Bosworth has received funds from Sanofi, Takeda, MeadWestVaco, Improved Patient Outcomes, and Johnson and Johnson to Duke. He also reports funds for consulting from Walgreens, CVS/Caremark, Blue Cross/Blue Shield of Arkansas, Genentech, Sanofi, Takeda. Dr Phil Mendys is employed by Pfizer. Dr Christopher Granger has received funds from Bristol Myers Squibb, GSK, Boehringer Ingelheim, Medtronic Foundation, Pfizer, Sanofi, Takeda, The Medicines Company, Daiichi Sankyo, Bayer, Astra Zeneca, Janssen, and Armetheon. He also reports funds for consulting from Boehringer Ingelheim, Bristol Myers, GSK, Hoffmann-La Roche, Eli Lilly, Pfizer, Sanofi, Takeda, The Medicines Company, Astra Zeneca, Daiichi Sankyo, Janssen, Bayer, Gilead, and Medtronic Inc.

References

- 1. Bosworth HB. How can innovative uses of technology be harnessed to improve medication adherence? Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 2012 Apr;12(2):133-135. [doi: <u>10.1586/erp.12.6</u>] [Medline: <u>22458612</u>]
- Granger BB, Bosworth HB. Medication adherence: emerging use of technology. Curr Opin Cardiol 2011 Jul;26(4):279-287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/HCO.0b013e328347c150] [Medline: 21597368]
- Murray MD, Tu W, Wu J, Morrow D, Smith F, Brater DC. Factors associated with exacerbation of heart failure include treatment adherence and health literacy skills. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2009 Jun;85(6):651-658 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/clpt.2009.7] [Medline: 19262464]
- 4. Steiner JF, Ho PM, Beaty BL, Dickinson LM, Hanratty R, Zeng C, et al. Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics are not clinically useful predictors of refill adherence in patients with hypertension. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2009 Sep;2(5):451-457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.108.841635] [Medline: 20031876]
- Shah ND, Dunlay SM, Ting HH, Montori VM, Thomas RJ, Wagie AE, et al. Long-term medication adherence after myocardial infarction: experience of a community. Am J Med 2009 Oct;122(10):961.e7-961.13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2008.12.021] [Medline: 19560749]
- Vanelli M, Pedan A, Liu N, Hoar J, Messier D, Kiarsis K. The role of patient inexperience in medication discontinuation: a retrospective analysis of medication nonpersistence in seven chronic illnesses. Clin Ther 2009 Nov;31(11):2628-2652. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.clinthera.2009.11.028</u>] [Medline: <u>20110007</u>]
- Weiner JP, Yeh S, Blumenthal D. The impact of health information technology and e-health on the future demand for physician services. Health Aff (Millwood) 2013 Nov;32(11):1998-2004. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0680</u>] [Medline: <u>24191092</u>]
- Riley WT, Glasgow RE, Etheredge L, Abernethy AP. Rapid, responsive, relevant (R3) research: a call for a rapid learning health research enterprise. Clin Transl Med 2013;2(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2001-1326-2-10] [Medline: 23663660]
- 9. American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. 2009 Feb 17. Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act, Title XIII of Division A and Title IV of Division B URL: <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/</u>PLAW-111publ5/pdf/PLAW-111publ5.pdf [WebCite Cache ID 6fWhqk7jj]
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Stage 2 Overview Tipsheet. 2012. URL: <u>https://www.cms.gov/</u> <u>Regulations-and-Guidance/Legislation/EHRIncentivePrograms/Downloads/Stage2Overview_Tipsheet.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-11-06] [WebCite Cache ID 6cqN2agl3]
- 11. Health IT. 2015. Providers and Professionals URL: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/providers-professionals</u> [accessed 2015-10-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6cbAePPHV]
- 12. The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. Moving Forward Towards an Interoperable Learning Health System: Improving Flexibility, Simplicity, Interoperability and Outcomes to Achieve a Better, Smarter

and Healthier System. 2015. URL: https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/

- <u>CMS-Stage-3-Meaningful-Use-proposed-rule%20_FactSheet.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-10-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6cb02THZI]
 Healthcare Information Management Systems Society. What is Interoperability? 2015. URL: <u>http://www.himss.org/library/interoperability-standards/what-is</u> [accessed 2015-11-06] [WebCite Cache ID 6cqJu2Szb]
- Abernethy AP, Ahmad A, Zafar SY, Wheeler JL, Reese JB, Lyerly HK. Electronic patient-reported data capture as a foundation of rapid learning cancer care. Med Care 2010 Jun;48(6 Suppl):S32-S38. [doi: <u>10.1097/MLR.0b013e3181db53a4</u>] [Medline: <u>20473201</u>]
- Kush R, Alschuler L, Ruggeri R, Cassells S, Gupta N, Bain L, et al. Implementing single source: the STARBRITE proof-of-concept study. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2007;14(5):662-673 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2157] [Medline: 17600107]
- 16. Rusincovitch SA, Batch BC, Spratt S, Granger BB, Dunham AA, Davis LP, et al. Framework for curating and applying data elements within continuing use data: a case study from the Durham Diabetes Coalition. AMIA Jt Summits Transl Sci Proc 2013;2013:228. [Medline: 24303271]
- 17. Ahn S, Basu R, Smith ML, Jiang L, Lorig K, Whitelaw N, et al. The impact of chronic disease self-management programs: healthcare savings through a community-based intervention. BMC Public Health 2013;13:1141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1141] [Medline: 24314032]
- Ory MG, Ahn S, Jiang L, Smith ML, Ritter PL, Whitelaw N, et al. Successes of a national study of the Chronic Disease Self-Management Program: meeting the triple aim of health care reform. Med Care 2013 Nov;51(11):992-998. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e3182a95dd1] [Medline: 24113813]
- Muntner P, Joyce C, Holt E, He J, Morisky D, Webber LS, et al. Defining the minimal detectable change in scores on the eight-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale. Ann Pharmacother 2011 May;45(5):569-575. [doi: <u>10.1345/aph.1P677</u>] [Medline: <u>21521862</u>]
- 20. The Medical Discrepancy Tool (MDT). 2015. URL: <u>http://caretransitions.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/MDT.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-11-06] [WebCite Cache ID 6cqMuXVbE]
- 21. Smith JD, Coleman EA, Min S. A new tool for identifying discrepancies in postacute medications for community-dwelling older adults. Am J Geriatr Pharmacother 2004 Jun;2(2):141-147. [Medline: <u>15555490</u>]
- 22. The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. Progress and Challenges with the Implementation and Use of Electronic Health Records among Critical Access Hospitals. URL: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/</u> <u>cahdata_brief12.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-01-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6eu44LzLM]
- 23. The Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. Hospital Adoption of Electronic Health Record Technology to Meet Meaningul Use Objectives. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/oncdatabrief10final.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-10-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6cb9rWKAU]
- Shrank WH, Choudhry NK, Fischer MA, Avorn J, Powell M, Schneeweiss S, et al. The epidemiology of prescriptions abandoned at the pharmacy. Ann Intern Med 2010 Nov 16;153(10):633-640. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-153-10-201011160-00005] [Medline: 21079218]
- 25. Granger BB, Swedberg K, Ekman I, Granger CB, Olofsson B, McMurray JJ, et al. Adherence to candesartan and placebo and outcomes in chronic heart failure in the CHARM programme: double-blind, randomised, controlled clinical trial. Lancet 2005 Dec 10;366(9502):2005-2011. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67760-4] [Medline: 16338449]
- 26. Bitton A, Choudhry NK, Matlin OS, Swanton K, Shrank WH. The impact of medication adherence on coronary artery disease costs and outcomes: a systematic review. Am J Med 2013 Apr;126(4):357.e7-357.e27. [doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2012.09.004] [Medline: 23507208]
- Bosworth HB, Dubard CA, Ruppenkamp J, Trygstad T, Hewson DL, Jackson GL. Evaluation of a self-management implementation intervention to improve hypertension control among patients in Medicaid. Transl Behav Med 2011 Mar;1(1):191-199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-010-0007-x] [Medline: 24073040]
- 28. Pladevall M, Brotons C, Gabriel R, Arnau A, Suarez C, de la Figuera M, Writing Committee on behalf of the COM99 Study Group. Multicenter cluster-randomized trial of a multifactorial intervention to improve antihypertensive medication adherence and blood pressure control among patients at high cardiovascular risk (the COM99 study). Circulation 2010 Sep 21;122(12):1183-1191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.892778] [Medline: 20823391]
- 29. Branham AR, Katz AJ, Moose JS, Ferreri SP, Farley JF, Marciniak MW. Retrospective analysis of estimated cost avoidance following pharmacist-provided medication therapy management services. J Pharm Pract 2013 Aug;26(4):420-427. [doi: 10.1177/0897190012465992] [Medline: 23178415]
- 30. New England Health Initiative. Thinking Outside the Pillbox: Six Priorities for Action to Support Improved Patient Medication Adherence. 2013 Jul 29. URL: <u>http://www.nehi.net/publications/</u><u>15-thinking-outside-the-pillbox-six-priorities-for-action-to-support-improved-patient-medication-adherence/view [WebCite Cache ID 6fWjSitgI]</u>
- 31. Sanfélix-Gimeno G, Peiró S, Ferreros I, Pérez-Vicente R, Librero J, Catalá-López F, et al. Adherence to evidence-based therapies after acute coronary syndrome: a retrospective population-based cohort study linking hospital, outpatient, and pharmacy health information systems in Valencia, Spain. J Manag Care Pharm 2013 Apr;19(3):247-257 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23537459]

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e9/
```

- 32. Raebel MA, Schmittdiel J, Karter AJ, Konieczny JL, Steiner JF. Standardizing terminology and definitions of medication adherence and persistence in research employing electronic databases. Med Care 2013 Aug;51(8 Suppl 3):S11-S21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31829b1d2a] [Medline: 23774515]
- 33. Granger BB, Rusincovitch SA, Avery S, Batch BC, Dunham AA, Feinglos MN, et al. Missing signposts on the roadmap to quality: a call to improve medication adherence indicators in data collection for population research. Front Pharmacol 2013;4:139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphar.2013.00139] [Medline: 24223556]
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Medication Therapy Management. 2015. URL: https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/ 34. Prescription-Drug-Coverage/PrescriptionDrugCovContra/MTM.html [accessed 2015-10-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6cbB1QonF]
- Pinto S, Kumar J, Partha G, Bechtol R. Pharmacist-provided medication therapy management (MTM) program impacts 35. outcomes for employees with diabetes. Popul Health Manag 2014 Feb;17(1):21-27. [doi: 10.1089/pop.2012.0124] [Medline: 23848476]

Abbreviations

CMS: Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services EHR: electronic health record FDA: Food and Drug Administration HIT: health information technology MTM: medication management therapy NDC: National Drug Code PCO: patient-centered outcome

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.03.15; peer-reviewed by W Riley, J Steiner, S Cutrona; comments to author 02.07.15; revised version received 03.09.15; accepted 29.11.15; published 15.03.16.

Please cite as:

Bosworth HB, Zullig LL, Mendys P, Ho M, Trygstad T, Granger C, Oakes MM, Granger BB Health Information Technology: Meaningful Use and Next Steps to Improving Electronic Facilitation of Medication Adherence JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e9 URL: http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e9/ doi: 10.2196/medinform.4326 PMID:26980270

©Hayden B Bosworth, Leah L Zullig, Phil Mendys, Michael Ho, Troy Trygstad, Christopher Granger, Megan M Oakes, Bradi B Granger. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 15.03.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Conceptual Models in Health Informatics Research: A Literature Review and Suggestions for Development

Kathleen Gray^{1*}, PhD; Paulina Sockolow^{2*}, DrPH

¹Health and Biomedical Informatics Centre, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

²Health Systems & Sciences Research, College of Nursing and Health Professions, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Kathleen Gray, PhD Health and Biomedical Informatics Centre University of Melbourne Level 1 202 Berkeley Street Melbourne, 3010 Australia Phone: 61 3 8344 8936 Fax: 61 3 8344 8936 Email: kgray@unimelb.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Contributing to health informatics research means using conceptual models that are integrative and explain the research in terms of the two broad domains of health science and information science. However, it can be hard for novice health informatics researchers to find exemplars and guidelines in working with integrative conceptual models.

Objectives: The aim of this paper is to support the use of integrative conceptual models in research on information and communication technologies in the health sector, and to encourage discussion of these conceptual models in scholarly forums.

Methods: A two-part method was used to summarize and structure ideas about how to work effectively with conceptual models in health informatics research that included (1) a selective review and summary of the literature of conceptual models; and (2) the construction of a step-by-step approach to developing a conceptual model.

Results: The seven-step methodology for developing conceptual models in health informatics research explained in this paper involves (1) acknowledging the limitations of health science and information science conceptual models; (2) giving a rationale for one's choice of integrative conceptual model; (3) explicating a conceptual model verbally and graphically; (4) seeking feedback about the conceptual model from stakeholders in both the health science and information science domains; (5) aligning a conceptual model with an appropriate research plan; (6) adapting a conceptual model in response to new knowledge over time; and (7) disseminating conceptual models in scholarly and scientific forums.

Conclusions: Making explicit the conceptual model that underpins a health informatics research project can contribute to increasing the number of well-formed and strongly grounded health informatics research projects. This explication has distinct benefits for researchers in training, research teams, and researchers and practitioners in information, health, and other disciplines.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e7) doi:10.2196/medinform.5021

KEYWORDS

medical informatics; theoretical models; conceptual framework; conceptual model; design-based research; implementation research; evaluation research; health informatics; research design; research training

Introduction

RenderX

Conceptualizing Research in Health Informatics

There is consensus that the discipline of health informatics is characterized by the integration of elements from many other

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e7/

fields of knowledge. The components of health informatics, apart from the biomedical sciences, include computer science, information science, decision science, statistics, cognitive science, organizational theory, and others [1]. In essence, health

informatics is "cross-training" between broadly defined information sciences and health sciences [2].

Ideally, research rests on "methodologies that capture the processes integral to applications, the users and the world in which the users function" [3]. However, a growing number of researchers who do not identify themselves as health informaticians are now doing research into the design, implementation, and evaluation of information and communication technologies in the health sector. This growth is fuelled by new technologies that reduce the health professionals' barriers to application development, and also by the growing market for consumer technologies that are not subject to medical device regulations. For example, the current emergence of apps for mobile phones and the increased ease of programming these apps is said to "enable busy clinicians to develop simple mobile Web-based apps for academic, educational, and research purposes, without any prior knowledge of programming" [4]. The ensuing research appears in the journal and conference literature of a variety of fields including clinical specialties, health policy, information management, and software engineering, to name a few. This paper is aimed at researchers still in training, or practitioners new to the field who wish to align their work more strongly with the discipline of health informatics.

Taking a disciplined approach to health informatics research means operating across the component domains of expertise by using integrative conceptual models. A working definition of a conceptual model is that it is an explanation of the researcher's thinking about the key constituents of the research problem, and why the whole problem is greater than the sum of its parts because of the way these interconnect and interact. In any field of knowledge, using a conceptual model to describe something about a subset or an aspect of the domain has value; that is, a conceptual model makes explicit the intended meaning of terms and concepts used and avoids ambiguity and misinterpretation. The terms conceptual framework and conceptual model are used interchangeably in the literature [5], and we use the latter throughout this paper. Health informatics conceptual models that connect the knowledge and thus explain the research in the language of two broad domains, health science and information science, can help to ensure that research is effective and has impact.

Too often, research on information and communication technologies in the health sector appears to miss either the health problem or the information technology problem. Some examples of missing the health problem are: a review of 55 heart failure risk computational models noted that few had been implemented in clinical practice [6]; a description of a technical solution to a perceived clinical problem omitted any mention of consultation with clinical experts [7]; and a description of a technical solution to a clinical issue did not fit the clinical workflow [8]. If the research does not capture the processes integral to both the world of health science and the world of information science, valuable efforts are expended developing applications that do not address the intended problem. Many innovations fail to achieve sustainability or other measures of success because "the current development of eHealth technology often disregards the interdependencies between technology, human characteristics,

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e7/

and the socioeconomic environment, resulting in technology that has a low impact in health care practices" [9]. Evaluation research too may fall short of offering key insights. For example, researchers who evaluated an electronic health record implementation using the Delone and McLean framework for evaluating generic information systems success recognized that they would have done better to develop a more health-specific approach to evaluation [10], and indeed other researchers had customized Delone and McLean for evaluating health-specific information systems [11].

Recognizing Conceptual Models in Health Informatics Research

Researchers new to the field of health informatics need to learn how to work with its conceptual models. However, this may not be taught formally, and exemplars and guidance in the literature are sporadic and scattered. Possibly due to publication word limits, much of the published health informatics research conveys an absence of discussion, even a lack of awareness, about the importance of conceptual models. In addition, papers may mention a conceptual model approach without specifying how it came into existence.

Some descriptions of the development of conceptual models in specific health informatics research studies are available. Gordon et al described how models of clinical guideline knowledge had to be integrated with models of health care activities and processes in a conceptual model approach for automating distribution of clinical guidelines [12], and Ruland and Bakken enumerated the components of a conceptual model to support inclusion of patient preferences in clinical decision making and underscored the importance of incorporating knowledge from four domains [13]. In addition, Kaplan and Shaw compared a variety of ways that evaluation researchers have conceptualized the complex social and institutional dynamics of health information technology implementations [14], and Yusof et al [15] explained how theories from information science and evidence from health science informed the structure of a human-, organization-, and technology-fit evaluation framework for health information systems. There is no single right or wrong conceptual model that brings order to a set of ideas about a health informatics problem. The exercise of making the conceptual model explicit in a study, in words and/or figures, is critical to clarify what is known and to identify what is in question or not known, from the perspective of the researchers. Through the process of debating the merits of alternative conceptual models, their explanatory power, completeness, and other aspects about how well they represent the research objectives, new theories are formed.

This paper aims to promote more explicit use of health informatics conceptual models in research on information and communication technologies in the health sector, and encourage discussion of these conceptual models in scholarly forums. Learning how to develop and apply integrative conceptual models is an educational issue for researchers in training, and so too for those who train them and those who review their work. Using conceptual models has research significance for building the discipline of health informatics and benefits for many stakeholders in health informatics research.

XSL•FO RenderX

Methods

A two-part method was used to structure and illustrate ideas of how to work effectively with conceptual models in health informatics research. First, we conducted a search of the literature of conceptual models, and then we used a qualitative research process to formulate a step-by-step approach to developing a conceptual model.

We looked for papers published up to 2014 that described the development of conceptual models in health information science and technology research in PubMed, IEEE Xplore, ACM Digital Library, Scopus, and Web of Knowledge. First the Medical Subject Heading (MeSH) "models, theoretical" paired with "medical informatics" were used. Then search terms were widened to include "research design" (especially where there was discussion of why a design was chosen). An additional search looked for possible pairings of "design science" or "design-based research", "implementation", and "evaluation" with health information systems and technology and with electronic health (e-health). Selection of a cross-section of full papers that made substantial mention of conceptual models was based on reading abstracts and also on mining reference lists from selected papers for further examples.

Critical reflection was used to formulate a step-by-step approach to developing a conceptual model. We examined the assumptions embedded in our experiences, associated them with a range of different factors, re-evaluated them using external reference points, and re-worked our ideas and practices [16]. Specifically, we drew on our separate experiences working in multidisciplinary health information technology research teams internationally over five years. We reconsidered the bases of our expertise as researchers and also as reviewers, supervisors, advisors, and examiners of research in health informatics. We analyzed the literature we had retrieved, looking at ways authors named, explicated, and sequenced key components in the development of a conceptual model. We agreed on specific steps in development of a conceptual model and went back to the literature and to our experience repeatedly for examples.

Using this method, we produced a set of suggestions, which remains untested in terms of its technical validity and sufficiency. Nevertheless, after formulating these suggestions, we found that teaching novice researchers to use conceptual models in a step-wise manner is recognized as effective by academics in other fields [17]. We also found that a similar idea had appeared in the literature of a different field of health research, namely health program evaluation [18]. The existence of these peer-reviewed publications added external validity to our method.

Results

The process of critical review and reflection led us to a consensus that supported a seven-step approach to developing a conceptual model for health informatics research. In this section we offer these steps and examples from the literature as a guide to the novice health informatics researcher. The methodology for working with conceptual models in health

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e7/
```

informatics involves (1) acknowledging the limitations of health science and information science conceptual models; (2) giving a rationale for one's choice of an integrative conceptual model; (3) explicating a conceptual model verbally and graphically; (4) seeking feedback about a conceptual model from stakeholders in both the health science and information science domains; (5) aligning a conceptual model with an appropriate research plan; (6) adapting a conceptual model in response to new knowledge over time; and (7) disseminating conceptual models in scholarly and scientific forums.

Acknowledge the Conceptual Models of Contributing Domains

It is important to acknowledge that both health science and information science use a variety of conceptual models to represent entities and relationships in their respective domains; however, these fields of knowledge are differentiated by their approaches to conceptualizing problems. A defining characteristic of any given health informatics research problem is how it responds to the challenge to acknowledge the applicability and also the inadequacy of conceptual models from both health science and information science. That is, you should be able to describe some parts of the research question using concepts that appropriately represent the problem to the separate audiences or stakeholders from each domain. You must also go beyond this, to frame the problem in a conceptual model that transcends and integrates these domains.

In the information sciences, a conceptual model may also be referred to as a domain model. Furthermore, conceptual modeling should not be confused with other modeling disciplines, such as data modeling, logic modeling, or physical modeling. Many different conceptual models may be used for demonstration, optimization, construction, simulation and other activities in the application domain [19]. In the field of information science, recent examples in the literature can be found that discuss specific conceptual models in detail [20-22]. The complexity of health is a major reason why health informatics is not just another application domain in information science [23]. In the health sciences, an introduction to a range of conceptual models for defining and conceptualizing health argues that simplistic definitions of health lead to equally simplistic measures of health, health outcomes, and quality of care [24]. In the field of health, recent examples which explore conceptual models can be found [25-28].

Review Conceptual Models Already Used in Health Informatics

The next step is to review the health informatics literature for conceptual models that can be either applied or adapted to the research question. A clearly described search strategy for reviewing this literature is an indicator of the rigor you need to apply to the process of conceptualizing the problem [29,30]. The starting point is to compare various overarching conceptual models based on the power each may have to fully account for all the elements of the problem as you have chosen to define it. The introduction section of this paper offered examples from the 1997-2008 decade, and more recent examples can be found in references [9,31-34]. It is essential to justify your choice of a pre-existing conceptual model as it relates to the key features

XSL•FO RenderX

of your research problem. Alternatively, you may conclude that no pre-existing, cross-cutting conceptual models are adequate to explore this problem. This judgment also requires justification, and it opens the way for thought experiments about options for combining and elaborating the particular conceptual models that you have previously acknowledged. In one example, an investigation of a novel and under-researched technology in health care was able to proceed by integrating concepts of evidence-based treatment (from health science) and technology affordances (from information science) into a new conceptual model of therapeutic affordances of social media [35].

Schematize the Chosen Conceptual Model of the Research Problem

Making a schematic representation of your chosen conceptual model captures and refines the thought processes behind your choice. A visual artifact in the form of a diagram, motif, map or other type of figure (eg, a foil or straw man) can be used for reacting to and testing the thinking about a problem, to guide collaboration, and to assess research progress and outcomes. An example of schematizing a health informatics conceptual model to represent the relationships among health information technology characteristics is the Health Information Technology Reference-based Evaluation Framework [36]. A second example illustrates the temporal dimensions of five measures of health information system adoption in the Clinical Adoption Meta Model [37].

The challenge for every health informatics researcher is to think deeply about an apt way to visualize the specific problem space. Part of the contribution that your research makes to the field is determined by the originality you show in this step. Questions to consider include: How does the visualization of your conceptual model position the information science and the health science elements of the problem (eg, side-by-side versus above and below)? Does the level of detail match the intended level of investigation (eg, evaluating the impact of a policy may need to represent issues at a macro level or assessing software functionality may need a finer grained picture)? Does it leave too much to be inferred (eg, not indicating the direction in which a multi-part image should be "read") or use conventions in an unconventional way (eg, using the colors red for "go" and green for "stop")?

The schema also needs to be interpreted in words that explain it to someone who is unfamiliar with the research problem or who does not have access to the graphic. It should be clear why you have chosen the visual representations you are using to represent the key entities and relationships that your problem involves. For example, a study of unfulfilled and unrecognized or hidden health information needs explained the research framework using the graphic image and written analogy of an iceberg [38].

Your first attempt to represent the entities and relationships in your research problem using a Venn diagram, matrix, or flowchart may not suffice to give adequate detail or insight into the problem space. The visualization of knowledge is a field of study in its own right, and you may find it helpful to consult general works [39,40]. Although the visualization of data has

XSL•FO

become an active health informatics research area [41,42], the visualization of concepts is a very different order of activity.

Seek Critical Feedback on the Conceptual Model From Multiple Perspectives

Your conceptual model may appear completely sensible from your point of view. However, at this point in development, you should be thinking of your conceptual model as a communication tool. This tool should help you engage other people who are direct and indirect stakeholders in your research. Thus, stakeholders with other perspectives need to test its communicative power to assure you that it is making sense of the problem.

A conceptual model in health informatics research should pass the "goodness of fit" test for domain experts in both information science and health science. This is an informal but important step where you seek critique of your conceptual model from others who are at a distance from your research question. Their reactions allow you to refine and strengthen the supporting arguments for your conceptual model as needed. You are looking for toughness; now is the time to establish whether your conceptual model will stand up to scrutiny and be persuasive in a room full of either clinical specialists or computer scientists.

For a researcher in training, often the best way to ensure access to this kind of feedback is to make sure that the supervisory or advisory committee comprises people who bring information science and health science perspectives. Alternatively, the researcher needs to find suitable critical colleagues by tapping into networks of clinicians and researchers within the health and biomedicine community, and into networks of industry experts and researchers within the information science and technology community. Organizational mentoring programs, professional associations, or scientific societies can provide access to networks appropriate to the study.

If the research involves human participants, another method of seeking feedback on a conceptual model is to engage actively with prospective participants including patients and consumers. For example, Belanger et al. advocated involving patients from the inception of a research project centered on electronic health records [43].

Allow the Conceptual Model to Influence the Research Design

There must be a close connection between your conceptual model and research design. In a different field of health research, the alignment was expressed as follows:

The CF (conceptual framework) provided the basis for decisions about the development of a mixed-method research design and data collection measures. For each construct of interest, we determined the most suitable approach to collecting information. We arranged the constructs into two categories: those where validated quantitative measures were available (...); and second, those that were best suited for exploratory/qualitative methods. [18]

This is a good example of allowing the conceptual model to influence the research design, including the selection of the research procedures and outcome measures (for quantitative research) or themes (for qualitative research). Feasibility factors also influence research design, for example, access to sites for field studies, available funding and human resources, the exigencies of ethics approval, and time constraints. However, if any of these factors undermine the conceptual model to any great extent, then the research question and conceptual model need to be reformulated.

Revisit the Conceptual Model in Light of the Research Findings

Your conceptual model is what guides the approach you take to explore a real-world research problem. The corollary is that through exploring this problem, inevitably you are testing your conceptual model for its usefulness. While you are analyzing and discussing findings from your research project, you need to reflect on whether and how these findings support your initial conceptual model, identify where the conceptual model may need to be modified, and consider broader circumstances where the conceptual model may prove useful. This is an iterative and experiential process that stretches your thinking as your conceptual model "evolves and develops until it becomes refined and burnished, to emerge as a robust outcome of the research" [44].

In health informatics research, the gap between health sciences and information sciences that must be bridged by this step is substantial.

In more mature fields such as medicine, it is standard practice, even mandatory, to conduct empirical research to evaluate the efficacy of proposed new practices prior to advocating their use (...). However in IS design research, it is often sufficient for researchers to argue on logical or theoretical grounds that their approach is effective. [45]

How your health informatics conceptual model is tested depends on the research design appropriate to your study. In one example, thematic analysis of interview data is the basis for revising an initial conceptual model of health professionals' mobile health use [46]. Examples where structured survey methods are the basis for revisions to initial conceptual models are found in studies of clinical information system success [47], and open access publishing use [48].

Disseminate the Conceptual Model

The final step is to disseminate your conceptual model through formal presentation and publication in scholarly and scientific conferences and journals. It is important to give over the time and space to include the conceptual model among the publications that come out of your research, so that it is captured and available for others to refer to and build on. You can structure a paper or presentation about your conceptual model using steps one through six in this paper; or examples cited throughout this paper offer many other successful models for publishing a description of your conceptual model. When you describe your work on a conceptual model you make a contribution to the theory of health informatics, because your conceptual model adds a new theoretical representation of the entities and relationships in a problem space. In disseminating your conceptual model you address an acknowledged need in the field. The absence of theory in health informatics diminishes its status as a field of knowledge [49]; whereas, enunciating your conceptual model advances the field [3].

There are many diverse forums where it is possible to disseminate your conceptual model. This is one advantage of the diffusion of published research in health informatics. Apart from those already mentioned in this paper, three further examples of particular health informatics conceptual models published in recent years illustrate that it may be appropriate to place your work in conferences and journals in information science [50], in health science [51], and in mainstream health informatics [52].

Discussion

Benefits of Developing and Using Conceptual Models

This paper outlines current challenges in developing a conceptual model that integrates the information science aspects and the health science aspects of a health sector information and communication technology problem. The effort to overcome these challenges can yield important benefits that are not only theoretical but also practical. For the individual researcher, the conceptual model provides a persistent reminder of the defined entities and relationships that give shape and direction to their research plan and the interpretation of their findings. For teams comprising various disciplines in a collaborative research project, the conceptual model helps to share the related vocabulary and reach agreement on the underlying constructs. For diverse researchers with different questions who are formulating their own approach or discussing their own findings, conceptual model facilitates comparisons the and cross-pollination of ideas. Beyond the research community, there are benefits from giving closer attention to health informatics conceptual models for three professional practice communities : health informatics practitioners, other health practitioners, and other IT practitioners.

The community of health informatics professionals can use conceptual models more overtly to improve practice. By eliciting organizational input into conceptualizing implementation issues [13], they may be able to communicate and surmount notable problems of sustaining health information and communication technology applications [30]. For instance, making deliberate use of a socio-technical conceptual model can help to anticipate unintended consequences before these emerge during system implementation [53]. Building health informatics conceptual modeling skills can enhance training and professional development for roles such as chief information officers in health organizations, research and development managers in health technology companies, and health informatics experts in large consulting firms. For example, health informaticians in such roles may benefit from working with conceptual models to explain and deliver the business value of information technology in healthcare [54].



Health professionals who are not information scientists can use conceptual models to facilitate inter-professional practice, exert collegial influence, and advance professional ethics in their work in an increasingly technological sector. For the individual health professional, making explicit the conceptual models you use in your professional practice enables you to integrate these more strongly into planning for new work practices during periods of technology change and adoption [55]. In working with colleagues in your profession, your ability to communicate conceptual models that frame health information and communication technology projects can position you as a leader and facilitator in the design and oversight of such projects [36]. In addition, the way each health profession expresses its ethical commitment to the safety and quality of care can be subtly different. When you clarify the conceptual models that you apply in health information technology projects that involve your own patients and/or clients in the settings where you provide care for them [56], you express more deeply the way you think about their needs and how technology interventions might address these. In doing so, you contribute to broadening the discourse within your profession about the ethical practice of clinical informatics.

Information professionals who are not health scientists can use integrative conceptual models to access important opportunities for innovation in the health sector, to achieve advances on health informatics grand challenges, and to build prized expertise and strong partnerships. Because information technology in health is developing massively and is being adopted rapidly, the health sector offers numerous opportunities to apply emerging solutions. When you aim to transfer into the health sector the conceptual models that underlie solutions from non-health sectors, acknowledging and articulating these enables you to reflect on how they can be expected to have positive impacts and be sustainable in health [57]. Coming to terms with the way information science conceptual models relate to the key health domain conceptual models where you are applying solutions can make you more effective in solving higher order problems [58]. If you are able to relate to and communicate within the health sector on this conceptual level [59,60], you will have expertise that is critical for successful collaboration with highly educated and committed health professionals to bring about technological transformation.

Conclusion

Our aim is to provide a representative selection of examples to accompany our suggestions for researchers who are new to the health informatics discipline. It is important for health informatics researchers to elucidate their hard-won conceptual modeling experience, even while recognizing that no conceptual model can ever be static or definitive. Sharing and comparing these foundations of knowledge can support good practice in research training (and in the commissioning, management, and review of research), and thereby can contribute to the evolution of better-formed and more strongly grounded health informatics research. Making explicit the defined entities and relationships in a health informatics research project facilitates deep engagement with cross-cutting problems, offers a way for researchers to be more effective, and enables research to have greater impact.

Acknowledgments

Ms Cecily Gilbert, Health and Biomedical Informatics Centre, University of Melbourne, did the initial literature review for this paper. JMIR reviewers' feedback helped us greatly to sharpen the focus of this paper (reviewer names are acknowledged at the end of this paper).

Authors' Contributions

KG conceived of the idea for the paper. KG and PS equally contributed to the structure and content of the paper and analyzed and added to the literature identified in the initial review. KG prepared the manuscript for submission and prepared responses to reviewers. PS approved the final version for submission.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Kulikowski CA, Shortliffe EH, Currie LM, Elkin PL, Hunter LE, Johnson TR, et al. AMIA Board white paper: definition of biomedical informatics and specification of core competencies for graduate education in the discipline. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012;19(6):931-938 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001053] [Medline: 22683918]
- 2. Friedman CP. What informatics is and isn't. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013;20(2):224-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001206] [Medline: 23059730]
- 3. Currie LM. Evaluation frameworks for nursing informatics. Int J Med Inform 2005 Dec;74(11-12):908-916. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2005.07.007] [Medline: 16099711]
- Zhang MW, Tsang T, Cheow E, Ho CS, Yeong NB, Ho RC. Enabling psychiatrists to be mobile phone app developers: insights into app development methodologies. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014;2(4):e53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3425] [Medline: 25486985]
- 5. Green HE. Use of theoretical and conceptual frameworks in qualitative research. Nurse Res 2014 Jul;21(6):34-38. [doi: 10.7748/nr.21.6.34.e1252] [Medline: 25059086]

- de Vries JJG, Geleijnse G, Tesanovic A, van de Ven ART. Heart failure risk models and their readiness for clinical practice. 2013 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics (ICHI); 9-11 September 2013; Philadelphia, PA p. 239-247. [doi: 10.1109/ICHI.2013.26]
- 7. Jiang CA, Leong TY, Poh KL. PGMC: a framework for probabilistic graphic model combination. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2005:370-374 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16779064</u>]
- 8. Michel G, Marcy T, Shiffman RN. A wireless, handheld decision support system to promote smoking cessation in primary care. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2005:530-534 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16779096</u>]
- 9. van Gemert-Pijnen JE, Nijland N, van LM, Ossebaard HC, Kelders SM, Eysenbach G, et al. A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1672] [Medline: 22155738]
- Bossen C, Jensen LG, Udsen FW. Evaluation of a comprehensive EHR based on the DeLone and McLean model for IS success: approach, results, and success factors. Int J Med Inform 2013 Oct;82(10):940-953. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.05.010] [Medline: 23827768]
- Yusof MM, Kuljis J, Papazafeiropoulou A, Stergioulas LK. An evaluation framework for Health Information Systems: human, organization and technology-fit factors (HOT-fit). Int J Med Inform 2008 Jun;77(6):386-398. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2007.08.011</u>] [Medline: <u>17964851</u>]
- 12. Gordon C, Herbert I, Johnson P, Nicklin P, Pitty D, Reeves P. Telematics for clinical guidelines: a conceptual modelling approach. Stud Health Technol Inform 1997;43 Pt A:314-318. [Medline: 10179562]
- 13. Ruland CM, Bakken S. Developing, implementing, and evaluating decision support systems for shared decision making in patient care: a conceptual model and case illustration. J Biomed Inform 2002;35(5-6):313-321. [Medline: <u>12968780</u>]
- 14. Kaplan B, Shaw N. Future directions in evaluation research: people, organizational, and social issues. Methods Inf Med 2004;43(3):215-231. [doi: 10.1267/METH04030215] [Medline: 15227551]
- 15. Yusof MM, Papazafeiropoulou A, Paul RJ, Stergioulas LK. Investigating evaluation frameworks for health information systems. Int J Med Inform 2008 Jun;77(6):377-385. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2007.08.004</u>] [Medline: <u>17904898</u>]
- Fook J, White S, Gardner F. Critical reflection: a review of contemporary literature and understandings. In: White S, Fook J, Gardner F, editors. Critical Reflection in Health and Social Care. Maidenhead, Berkshire, England: Open University Press; 2006.
- 17. Shields P, Rangarajan N. A Playbook for Research Methods: Integrating Conceptual Frameworks and Project Management. Stillwater, OK: New Forums Press; 2013.
- Helitzer DL, Sussman AL, Hoffman RM, Getrich CM, Warner TD, Rhyne RL. Along the way to developing a theory of the program: a re-examination of the conceptual framework as an organizing strategy. Eval Program Plann 2014 Aug;45:157-163. [doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2014.04.005] [Medline: 24836998]
- Thalheim B. The theory of conceptual models, the theory of conceptual modelling and foundations of conceptual modelling. In: Embley DW, Thalheim B, editors. Handbook of Conceptual Modeling: Theory, Practice, and Research Challenges. Berlin: Springer; 2011:547-580.
- 20. Poelmans J, Dedene G, Snoeck M, Viaene S. Using formal concept analysis for the verification of process data matrices in conceptual domain models. In: Proceedings of IASTED International Conference on Software Engineering. Calgary, Canada: Acta Press; 2010 Presented at: IASTED International Conference on Software Engineering; 16-18 February 2010; Innsbruck, Austria p. 79-86.
- 21. Tamzalit D, Schätz B, Pierantonio A, Deridder D. Introduction to the SoSyM theme issue on models and evolution. Softw Syst Model 2013 Apr 14;13(2):621-623. [doi: 10.1007/s10270-013-0338-4]
- 22. Thomas O, vom Brocke J. A value-driven approach to the design of service-oriented information systems—making use of conceptual models. Inf Syst E-Bus Manage 2009 Feb 27;8(1):67-97. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10257-009-0110-z</u>]
- 23. Kim J. Complex interventions in healthcare and health informatics: a scoping review. Stud Health Technol Inform 2013;183:263-268. [doi: 10.3233/978-1-61499-203-5-263]
- 24. Larson JS. The conceptualization of health. Med Care Res Rev 1999 Jun;56(2):123-136. [Medline: 10373720]
- 25. Aluttis C, den Broucke SV, Chiotan C, Costongs C, Michelsen K, Brand H. Public health and health promotion capacity at national and regional level: a review of conceptual frameworks. J Public Health Res 2014 Mar 26;3(1):199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/jphr.2014.199] [Medline: 25170508]
- Banzi R, Moja L, Pistotti V, Facchini A, Liberati A. Conceptual frameworks and empirical approaches used to assess the impact of health research: an overview of reviews. Health Res Policy Syst 2011;9:26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1478-4505-9-26] [Medline: 21702930]
- 27. Courtney LG, Caltabiano NJ, Caltabiano ML. Developing conceptual models of psychosocial wellbeing: pursuing better health outcomes. In: Caltabiano ML, Ricciardelli L, editors. Applied topics in health psychology. Somerset, NJ: Wiley; 2013:112-133.
- 28. Marmor T, Wendt C. Conceptual frameworks for comparing healthcare politics and policy. Health Policy 2012 Sep;107(1):11-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2012.06.003] [Medline: 22763200]

- 29. Kruse CS, DeShazo J, Kim F, Fulton L. Factors associated with adoption of health information technology: a conceptual model based on a systematic review. JMIR Med Inform 2014;2(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.3106] [Medline: 25599673]
- Cresswell K, Sheikh A. Organizational issues in the implementation and adoption of health information technology innovations: an interpretative review. Int J Med Inform 2013 May;82(5):e73-e86. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.10.007</u>] [Medline: <u>23146626</u>]
- 31. De Marco M, Ricciardi F, Vom Brocke J. Strategies and solutions in eHealth: a literature review. In: Wickramasinghe N, Bali R, Suomi R, Kim S, editors. Critical Issues for the Development of Sustainable e-Health Solutions. Healthcare Delivery in the Information Age. New York: Springer; 2012:135-147.
- 32. Mohr DC, Schueller SM, Montague E, Burns MN, Rashidi P. The behavioral intervention technology model: an integrated conceptual and technological framework for eHealth and mHealth interventions. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(6):e146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3077] [Medline: 24905070]
- Morrison LG, Yardley L, Powell J, Michie S. What design features are used in effective e-health interventions? A review using techniques from Critical Interpretive Synthesis. Telemed J E Health 2012 Mar;18(2):137-144. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0062] [Medline: 22381060]
- 34. Rippen HE, Pan EC, Russell C, Byrne CM, Swift EK. Organizational framework for health information technology. Int J Med Inform 2013 Apr;82(4):e1-13. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.01.012] [Medline: 22377094]
- 35. Merolli M, Gray K, Martin-Sanchez F. Developing a framework to generate evidence of health outcomes from social media use in chronic disease management. Med 2.0 2013;2(2):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/med20.2717] [Medline: 25075238]
- 36. Sockolow PS, Crawford PR, Lehmann HP. Health services research evaluation principles. Methods Inf Med 2012 Feb 07;51(2):122-130. [doi: 10.3414/me10-01-0066]
- 37. Price M, Lau F. The clinical adoption meta-model: a temporal meta-model describing the clinical adoption of health information systems. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2014;14:43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-14-43] [Medline: 24884588]
- 38. Alzougool B, Chang S, Gray K. Towards a comprehensive understanding of health information needs. Electronic Journal of Health Informatics 2008;3(2):e15 [FREE Full text]
- 39. Eppler M. What is an effective knowledge visualization? Insights from a review of seminal concepts. In: Marchese FT, Banissi E, editors. Knowledge Visualization Currents: From Text to Art to Culture. London: Springer-Verlag; 2013:3-12.
- 40. Snyder J. Visual representation of information as communicative practice. J Assn Inf Sci Tec 2014 Apr 21;65(11):2233-2247. [doi: 10.1002/asi.23103]
- 41. West VL, Borland D, Hammond WE. Innovative information visualization of electronic health record data: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Mar;22(2):330-339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002955] [Medline: 25336597]
- 42. Zhang Z, Wang B, Ahmed F, Ramakrishnan IV, Zhao R, Viccellio A, et al. The five Ws for information visualization with application to healthcare informatics. IEEE Trans Vis Comput Graph 2013 Nov;19(11):1895-1910. [doi: 10.1109/TVCG.2013.89] [Medline: 24029909]
- 43. Bélanger E, Bartlett G, Dawes M, Rodríguez C, Hasson-Gidoni I. Examining the evidence of the impact of health information technology in primary care: an argument for participatory research with health professionals and patients. Int J Med Inform 2012 Oct;81(10):654-661. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.07.008] [Medline: 22910233]
- 44. Sinclair M. A guide to understanding theoretical and conceptual frameworks. Evidence Based Midwifery 2007;5(2):39.
- 45. Moody DL. Theoretical and practical issues in evaluating the quality of conceptual models: current state and future directions. Data & Knowledge Engineering 2005;55(3):243-276.
- 46. O'Connor Y, O'Reilly P, O'Donoghue J. M-health infusion by healthcare practitioners in the national health services (NHS). Health Policy and Technology 2013;2(1):26-35.
- 47. Garcia-Smith D, Effken JA. Development and initial evaluation of the Clinical Information Systems Success Model (CISSM). Int J Med Inform 2013 Jun;82(6):539-552. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.01.011</u>] [Medline: <u>23497819</u>]
- 48. Lwoga E, Questier F. A model for measuring open access adoption and usage behavior of health sciences faculty members. In: Proceedings of 13th Mediterranean Conference on Medical and Biological Engineering and Computing. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2014 Presented at: 13th Mediterranean Conference on Medical and Biological Engineering and Computing; 25-28 September 2013; Seville, Spain p. 1298-1301.
- 49. Scott P, Briggs J, Wyatt J, Georgiou A. How important is theory in health informatics? A survey of UK academics. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;169:223-227. [Medline: <u>21893746</u>]
- 50. Heath M, Appen R. Impact of information technology culture conflict on meaningful use of electronic health records system: A conceptual framework. In: aisel.aisnet.org. Atlanta, GA, USA: Association for Information Systems; 2014 Presented at: Twentieth Americas Conference on Information Systems; 7-9 August 2014; Savannah, GA, USA.
- 51. Paez K, Roper RA, Andrews RM. Health information technology and hospital patient safety: a conceptual model to guide research. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf 2013 Sep;39(9):415-425. [Medline: 24147353]
- 52. Messeri P, Khan S, Millery M, Campbell A, Merrill J, Shih S, et al. An information systems model of the determinants of electronic health record use. Appl Clin Inform 2013 Apr 17;4(2):185-200. [doi: 10.4338/aci-2013-01-ra-0005]

- Harrison MI, Koppel R, Bar-Lev S. Unintended consequences of information technologies in health care--an interactive sociotechnical analysis. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2007;14(5):542-549 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2384] [Medline: 17600093]
- 54. Haddad P, Wickramasinghe N. Conceptualizing business value of IT in healthcare to design sustainable e-Health solutions. Atlanta, GA, USA: Association for Information Systems; 2014 Presented at: Twentieth Americas Conference on Information Systems; 7-9 August 2014; Savannah, GA.
- 55. Olla P, Butrico C, Pichette C. Role of mHealth in nursing: a conceptual framework. In: Adibi S, editor. mHealth Multidisciplinary Verticals. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 2015:279-298.
- 56. Mburu S, Franz E, Springer T. A conceptual framework for designing mHealth solutions for developing countries. In: Proceedings of the 3rd ACM MobiHoc Workshop on Pervasive Wireless Healthcare. New York: ACM; 2013 Presented at: 3rd ACM MobiHoc Workshop on Pervasive Wireless Healthcare; 29 July - 1 August 2013; Bangalore, India p. 31-36.
- 57. Williams P, Maeder A. A conceptual framework for secure mobile health. Journal of the International Society for Telemedicine and eHealth 2013;1(1):44.
- 58. Ritz D. Measuring e-health impact: an e-health evaluation framework that leverages process control theory and big data analytics. In: Marconi K, Lehmann H, editors. Big Data and Health Analytics. Hoboken, NJ: Auerbach Publications; 2014:309-332.
- 59. Unertl KM, Novak LL, Johnson KB, Lorenzi NM. Traversing the many paths of workflow research: developing a conceptual framework of workflow terminology through a systematic literature review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2010;17(3):265-273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2010.004333] [Medline: 20442143]
- 60. Sanderson P, Xiao T, Freeman C, Broxham W. Envisioning healthcare work: models for prospective evaluation of new systems. In: Proceedings of the 2nd ACM SIGHIT International Health Informatics Symposium. New York: ACM; 2012 Presented at: 2nd ACM SIGHIT International Health Informatics Symposium; 28-30 January 2012; Miami, Florida, USA p. 779-784.

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.08.15; peer-reviewed by P Schulz, L Moja, M Lorenzo; comments to author 17.11.15; revised version received 10.12.15; accepted 03.01.16; published 24.02.16. <u>Please cite as:</u> Gray K, Sockolow P Conceptual Models in Health Informatics Research: A Literature Review and Suggestions for Development JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e7 URL: http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e7/ doi:10.2196/medinform.5021 PMID:26912288

©Kathleen Gray, Paulina Sockolow. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 24.02.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Integration of Provider, Pharmacy, and Patient-Reported Data to Improve Medication Adherence for Type 2 Diabetes: A Controlled Before-After Pilot Study

Brian E Dixon^{1,2,3}, MPA, PhD; Abdullah H Alzeer⁴, PhD (c); Erin O'Kelly Phillips⁵; David G Marrero^{5,6}, PhD

⁶Department of Endocrinology, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN, United States

Corresponding Author:

Brian E Dixon, MPA, PhD Indiana University Richard M. Fairbanks School of Public Health Department of Epidemiology 1101 West 10th Street RF 304 Indianapolis, IN, 46202 United States Phone: 1 3172780046 Fax: 1 3172749305 Email: bedixon@regenstrief.org

Abstract

Background: Patients with diabetes often have poor adherence to using medications as prescribed. The reasons why, however, are not well understood. Furthermore, most health care delivery processes do not routinely assess medication adherence or the factors that contribute to poor adherence.

Objective: The objective of the study was to assess the feasibility of an integrated informatics approach to aggregating and displaying clinically relevant data with the potential to identify issues that may interfere with appropriate medication utilization and facilitate patient-provider communication during clinical encounters about strategies to improve medication use.

Methods: We developed a clinical dashboard within an electronic health record (EHR) system that uses data from three sources: the medical record, pharmacy claims, and a patient portal. Next, we implemented the dashboard into three community health centers. Health care providers (n=15) and patients with diabetes (n=96) were enrolled in a before-after pilot to test the system's impact on medication adherence and clinical outcomes. To measure adherence, we calculated the proportion of days covered using pharmacy claims. Demographic, laboratory, and visit data from the EHR were analyzed using pairwise t tests. Perceived barriers to adherence were self-reported by patients. Providers were surveyed about their use and perceptions of the clinical dashboard.

Results: Adherence significantly and meaningfully improved (improvements ranged from 6%-20%) consistently across diabetes as well as cardiovascular drug classes. Clinical outcomes, including HbA1c, blood pressure, lipid control, and emergency department utilization remained unchanged. Only a quarter of patients (n=24) logged into the patient portal and completed psychosocial questionnaires about their barriers to taking medications.

Conclusions: Integrated approaches using advanced EHR, clinical decision support, and patient-controlled technologies show promise for improving appropriate medication use and supporting better management of chronic conditions. Future research and development is necessary to design, implement, and integrate the myriad of EHR and clinical decision support systems as well as patient-focused information systems into routine care and patient processes that together support health and well-being.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e4) doi:10.2196/medinform.4739

¹Indiana University Richard M. Fairbanks School of Public Health, Department of Epidemiology, Indianapolis, IN, United States

²Regenstrief Institute, Inc., Center for Biomedical Informatics, Indianapolis, IN, United States

³Center for Health Information and Communication, Health Services Research and Development Service, Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Health Administration, Indianapolis, IN, United States

⁴School of Informatics and Computing, Department of BioHealth Informatics, Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN, United States

⁵Diabetes Translational Research Center, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN, United States

KEYWORDS

medication adherence; barriers to medication use; diabetes mellitus; type 2; medical records systems; computerized; health records; personal; physician-patient relations; drug monitoring; patient-centered care

Introduction

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a major public health issue, affecting more than 350 million people worldwide and the fourth leading cause of death. Globally, the prevalence of T2DM continues to rise at nearly epidemic rates, driven by urbanization, growing increases in obesity, and aging of populations [1]. Findings from several studies investigating the quality of T2DM care reveal a discrepancy between system-level disease management strategies and outcomes [2-6]. In essence, even though there are improved treatment strategies, expected outcomes are not occurring at a commensurate level. Therefore, greater emphases on patient-level factors that may explain T2DM intervention outcomes are being explored.

Patient Adherence to Medication

An example of a patient-level factor is adherence to complex medication regimens. Increasing evidence suggests that patients with T2DM often have poor adherence with prescribed medication therapies [7,8]. The reasons why individual patients do not take their medications as prescribed, however, are poorly understood. Existing research about medication adherence tends to investigate the issue as a class phenomenon, suggesting that patients as a group are universally impacted by a somewhat narrow range of factors such as side effects, cost, and forgetfulness [9].

Because adherence is treated as a class phenomenon, interventions tend to focus on singular modalities to change provider or patient behavior. This is especially true for informatics-related interventions. For example, in Vollmer et al [10], an interactive voice response system called patients who appeared to have gaps in refilling their asthma medication. Automated calls were made to patients or family members, but no assessment of individual barriers to adherence were measured or factored into the system. Similarly, recent systematic reviews of consumer-focused health information technologies conclude that prior studies tend to offer patients narrowly scoped functionalities out-of-the-box without regard to individual situations with limited success [11,12]. A recent review by Sapkota et al [13] found that while 22 of 52 (42%) interventions resulted in modest improvements in adherence, just 9 (17%) improved both adherence and glycemic control.

Despite existing efforts to improve adherence, patient-reported barriers to medication adherence (eg, lack of ability to pay, beliefs about the efficacy of medications in treating a condition, transportation to pharmacy, etc) and the extent to which those barriers contribute to poor T2DM outcomes are not currently assessed routinely in clinical practice [14]. Indeed, few have assessed the role of barriers perceived by patients to medications use and how perceived barriers may be addressed by intervention. To address barriers to taking medications as prescribed facing individuals with T2DM, we developed a Web-based module for an electronic health record (EHR) system to electronically integrate the capture and presentation of information regarding T2DM patients' disease management, medication adherence, and perceived barriers to adherence [15]. The system combines three elements: (1) objective data regarding medication possession ratios; (2) laboratory and point-of-care testing data that can indicate medication use; and (3) patient-reported data on perceived barriers to adherence. By routinely capturing patient-reported barriers and integrating such information with other electronic health data that is accessible during the clinical encounter, we seek to better potentiate patient-provider communication about medication use and thus inform T2DM therapy decision-making processes.

Following the development of the EHR module, we pilot tested the intervention in 3 primary care clinics located in an urban environment. By pilot testing the module, we sought to evaluate: (1) the extent to which patients would be willing to provide data to inform provider-patient conversations about medication use; (2) the impact of the system on medication use as prescribed by providers; and (3) the system implementation in a real-world clinical setting. We hypothesized that patients would be willing to share their perceived barriers to adherence as increasingly health systems are seeking patient input into clinical decision-making processes. We further hypothesized, given known challenges with adherence among patients with diabetes, that the intervention would improve adherence rates, which would improve other clinical indicators such as diabetes and cardiovascular risk factor control. Finally, we hypothesized that the dashboard would be used and positively perceived by providers.

Study Aim

In this paper, we describe the results of the pilot testing. We further comment on the implications of the pilot for future research and development of integrated informatics solutions to support patient-centered care.

Methods

Setting

Eskenazi Health is one of the 5 largest safety net health systems in the United States. The health system contains a 315-bed hospital and 9 community health centers located across the metropolitan area of Indianapolis, the eleventh largest city in the United States. Each community health center provides adult primary care, pediatrics, obstetrics, gynecology, and mental health.

The lead author (BED) presented the design of the dashboard and study to health center leadership at a health system meeting, asking for volunteers. In this study, 5 of the 9 community health centers volunteered to participate. We purposely selected 3 of the 5 health centers to ensure geographical and socioeconomic



diversity among the study patient population. Only 3 health centers were selected to best manage provider and patient enrollment.

Study Participants

First, we recruited primary care providers with the authority to prescribe medications, which included medical doctors and nurse practitioners practicing in the 3 target clinics. Staff at ResNet, a practice-based research network recruitment engine used by Eskenazi as well as the Indiana Clinical and Translational Sciences Institute [16], approached eligible providers (n=29). Once providers gave their permission to participate, ResNet used the EHR to identify potential patients with diabetes for recruitment.

Provider participation was voluntary. Out of 29 eligible providers, 15 (52%) agreed to participate. Of the 14 eligible providers who did not participate, 8 never responded to our invitations to participate, 2 indicated they did not treat patients with T2DM, 1 indicated she was leaving the practice within 30 days, and 1 indicated she was not interested.

Potential patient participants were identified based on past medical history documented in the EHR. Queries of the EHR identified 2369 potential patients who were at least 18 years of age and possessed: (1) either an International Classification of Diseases, Version 9 or local diagnosis term indicating type 2 diabetes; (2) at least one active prescription for either biguanides, sulfonylureas, or thiazolidinediones (diabetic drug therapies); and (3) a history of primary care visits with an enrolled provider. ResNet staff then contacted eligible patients via phone to further screen them for enrollment. Screening questions asked patients to confirm they did have diabetes and were taking medication to manage their disease. In addition, phone screeners asked whether the patient possessed regular access to a computer with the Internet, as well as their ability to read English. After verification of inclusion criteria, phone screeners next described the study, and then asked for informed consent. Consenting patients were asked to provide either an email address or mobile phone number that could receive a text message to receive further instructions during the study. ResNet staff worked to contact, screen, and consent eligible patients until a sufficient number (n=96) was enrolled.

System Description

The primary system of interest is a clinical dashboard (Figure 1 shows this) used by providers in the context of routine primary care. The dashboard is a Java-based module designed to plug into the Regenstrief CareWeb framework, an open-source EHR platform developed by the Regenstrief Institute's Center for Biomedical Informatics. CareWeb is a Web-based version of the Regenstrief Medical Record System (RMRS), providing primary care clinicians in Eskenazi Health facilities access to patients' medical records [17]. We have previously described the design and development of the dashboard [15].

When a clinician selects a patient in the EHR, the dashboard refreshes with content from multiple sources: recent physiological data from the EHR, pharmacy data providing objective medication adherence data from a medication module, and patient-reported barriers to medication adherence from a patient portal. Briefly, we review the dashboard components and data sources.

Figure 1. Screenshot of clinical dashboard designed to integrate medication adherence information from multiple sources into electronic health record (EHR) system.



Electronic Health Record Data

The left panel of the dashboard displays information extracted from the RMRS. There are three types of EHR data relevant to diabetic patient populations that are displayed: blood pressure,

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e4/

RenderX

HbA1c, and cholesterol. Clinicians routinely measure and analyze HbA1c levels to determine how well diabetic patients keep their disease under control. High blood pressure and poor lipid management are also commonly corelated with type 2

diabetes, leading to polypharmacy regimens to treat multiple conditions.

Medication Adherence Data

Adherence to T2DM and related medications is displayed in the middle panel of the dashboard. The information originates from the Medication (Med) Hub, an independent Web service within the Regenstrief technology infrastructure designed to gather and reconcile a patient's current medication list [18]. Using available pharmacy data from the Med Hub, we calculate the proportion of days covered (PDC), a ratio representing whether the patient possessed a drug or a class of drugs (eg, all oral T2DM medications) during a defined measurement period. The PDC has been shown in numerous studies to accurately identify patients who fail to fill or refill their medications as directed by their physician or pharmacist [19], and it is the recommended measure for adherence by the Pharmacy Quality Alliance [20]. We use a dichotomized 6-month (180-day) PDC with a cut-off point of 80%, which we have found to provide the strongest and most reliable correlation with patient glycemic control [21].

Patient-Reported Barriers to Adherence

The right panel of the dashboard displays patient-reported barriers to taking their medications as prescribed. Patients report their barriers to adherence using a Web-based portal (Figure 2 shows this welcome screen) developed using the Open Medical Record System (OpenMRS) platform [22], an open-source EHR that originated at Regenstrief, but is now implemented and supported by a worldwide collaborative involving individuals from numerous counties involved in EHR and m-Health initiatives [23]. OpenMRS includes a forms module that allows collection of standardized data from patients. Using the forms module, we implemented a 5-point Likert style, validated questionnaire developed by researchers at the Diabetes Translational Research Center affiliated with the Indiana University School of Medicine [24,25]. The questionnaire, as implemented in the portal, is included as Appendix 1 (see Multimedia Appendix 1).

The patient questionnaire uses 20 items to assess possible barriers to medication adherence. For example, valid responses as to why one may not take his or her prescribed medications include, "I can't afford them" and "I just forget to take them". There are 5 factors or subscales that can be identified from responses to the questionnaire and displayed to clinical users: poor access to medications; poor communication with providers; poor understanding of medications and difficulty taking them or difficulty in taking them; presence of side effects; and system-level barriers to use. Previous analysis suggests that persons with poor cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factor control have more reported barriers that may inhibit medication adherence than do persons with good risk factor control [25].

Figure 2. Screenshot of the patient portal displays the initial screen following log in which prompts the user to complete the questionnaire about medication usage and challenges.

	/IRS		Currently logged in as test	patienta <u>Log out My Home</u> My Profile <u>Help</u> <u>Contact Us</u>			
OpenMRS MEDICAL RECORD SYSTEM							
Hello, test. Welcome to 'Personal Health Toolkit'.							
	Taking your medications as directed by your doctor can be challenging. In this website we have list of common reasons why people do not take their medications. We would like you to click on Medication Feedback below and tell us if any of these reasons have applied to you in the past six months. This information will help us to find ways to make it easier for you to use your medicines and improve your health.						
	My Profile	Help	Contact	Logout			
English (United Kingdom)	English (United States) português italiano	français español Last Build: Jul 27 2012 03:30 PM	Version: 1.8.3 Build 24510	Powered by OpenMRS 🔿 Made possible by 📈			

Information Flow

The information needed for the dashboard is queried in parallel with other CareWeb processes when a clinician opens the EHR for a patient (Figure 3 shows this). First, the CareWeb server notifies the T2DM module that a patient record has been

selected. The module then, in parallel, requests data from the RMRS, Med Hub, and Web-based patient portal. The respective datasets are stored in the server's cache until the clinician selects the "DM2 Med Adherence" tab within the CareWeb apps (Figure 1). Upon selection, the datasets are rendered into their respective columns for review by the clinician.



Figure 3. Information flow diagram depicting the architecture of the type 2 diabetes clinical information system module and its integration with existing electronic health record system, clinical decision support system, and patient portal components. T2DM = type 2 diabetes mellitus; EHR = electronic health record; CDS = clinical decision support; and Med = medication.



Study Design

Following enrollment of providers and patients, a research assistant created patient portal user accounts for each of the enrolled patients. Account information was then emailed or texted to patients, and they were asked to complete a baseline questionnaire regarding perceived barriers to using medications as prescribed by their clinician. Patients who did not complete a baseline questionnaire were reminded via email or text message, based on patient preferences. Patients were further asked to complete a questionnaire every 2-3 months after baseline. Reminders were sent to unresponsive participants. After successful completion of each questionnaire, patients were provided a US \$10 retail gift card.

Consenting providers were given access to the integrated clinical dashboard within their EHR. This meant the tab labelled "DM2 Med Adherence" in Figure 1 was enabled for their user profile in the EHR, allowing them to access it at any time. Providers were informed about the tab and offered a brief tutorial by a nurse informaticist who regularly visits the clinic to educate providers about changes to the EHR. In addition, noninterruptive reminders were displayed to enrolled providers when relevant data for a patient were available for review on the dashboard. Providers could open the dashboard by clicking on the reminder

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e4/
```

RenderX

in addition to, or instead of, clicking on the "DM2 Med Adherence" tab shown in Figure 1.

To assess the effect and implementation of the module, we used a controlled before-after design. We evaluated: (1) the willingness of patients to provide data via the Web-based portal; (2) changes to patients' medication adherence as well as clinical indicators; and (3) provider usage and perceptions of the module. To measure patient willingness to provide data, we captured data on patient enrollment in the study as well as completion rates of adherence barrier questionnaires during the pilot timeframe. To measure changes in medication adherence as well as clinical indicators, we compared patients' adherence, diabetic control, lipid control, and health care utilization rates before and after the introduction of the dashboard. Baseline data were collected from participants' medical records for the year prior to the introduction of the intervention. The same data were collected from participants' medical records for the 9-month pilot study. To measure provider engagement with the EHR system, we captured data on whether and how often they accessed the dashboard. We further surveyed providers about their use and perceptions of the dashboard following the pilot. The study was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at Indiana University (Protocol No. 1109006851).

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated for participant characteristics as well as adherence, diabetic control, lipid control, and health care utilization variables. Mean values were calculated across all observations (eg, multiple HbA1c measurements) during the preintervention (one year before) and postintervention (9 months after) periods, and the means for each time period were compared using within-subject paired t tests. Adherence was measured using PDC calculated for each time period by patient for each drug class using the methods described in Nau [20] and Wang et al [26]. Patient-level PDC calculations were compared using within-subjects paired t tests. Patient-reported barrier data from questionnaires were summarized using descriptive statistics. Provider responses to questionnaires regarding their use and perception of the dashboard were summarized using counts and means; small numbers prevented the use of statistical analysis. All statistical tests were performed using SAS 9.4 (Carey, NC).

Results

Study Recruitment

Out of 2369 potential patients identified by the EHR system, we attempted to recruit 906 (38.24%) via telephone in an effort

Table 1. Study population characteristics.

to reach our goal of 100 enrolled patients. A total of 203/906 (22.40%) patients completed screening, of which 131/203 (64.5%) were eligible. Those determined to be ineligible (n=72/131; 55.0%) reported that they did not have regular access to a computer or mobile device with access to the Internet or could not provide informed consent. All of the potentially eligible participants were patients with diabetes who were taking medications as forecasted by the EHR. Of the 131 patients eligible to participate, 108 (82.4%) consented to participate in the study and 96 (73.3%) completed enrollment procedures.

Study Population Characteristics and Baseline Measures

Table 1 summarizes the characteristics of the final study population. African Americans were overrepresented given the population demographics of the Indianapolis metropolitan area from which they were selected. Most participants (n=84/96; 87%) were under 65, and half (n=50/96; 52%) possessed a baseline HbA1c above 8.0%, indicating they had difficulty controlling their diabetes. Participants were, on average, obese and possessed optimal low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol levels. On average, the participants visited their PCP (primary care provider) once every 3 months (mean >5 visits), and participants visited the emergency department (ED) once in the time period prior to the start of the intervention.

Characteristics		Count (%) or mean (median)	SD
		n=96	
Gender			
	Male (%)	40 (42)	
	Female (%)	56 (58)	
Race			
	Caucasian (%)	47 (49)	
	African American (%)	41 (43)	
	Unknown (%)	8 (8)	
Age		53 (52)	11.00
HbA1c (%)		8.79 (8)	1.98
LDL (mg/dL)		95.6 (93)	34.18
Body mass index (kg/m ²)		39.87 (37)	11.95
PCP visits		5.45 (5)	4.71
ED visits		1.02 (1)	1.35

Postintervention Change to Adherence and Other Measures

Table 2 summarizes the change in physiologic, health care utilization, and PDC calculations observed 9-months after the introduction of the intervention. Participants were repeatedly invited to log in to the Web-based portal to complete the questionnaire about challenges they faced in taking their medications. Despite multiple prompts via email and short message service, only 24 participants completed at least one

questionnaire during the study period. We therefore stratified the results based on whether the patient completed the questionnaire. However, we observed no significant differences in demographics (eg, gender, race) between patients who completed questionnaires and those who did not. We further observed little meaningful differences in clinical outcomes or health care utilization between those who did log in to the portal versus those who did not. However, medication adherence rates improved significantly and meaningfully across diabetes and cardiovascular drug classes.

Table 2. Patient engagement and outcomes measures.

8.8.8						
Outcomes, means			Assessment completed ^a	No assessment completed ^b	Overall total (n=96)	Overall P ^c
			(n=24)	(n=24)		
Physiological						
	HbA1c					
		Pre	8.71	8.82	8.79	.29
		Post	8.66	8.96	8.88	
	LDL					
		Pre	100.55	93.95	95.61	.06
		Post	100.71	109.29	107.27	
	Body mass index					
		Pre	40.41	39.71	39.87	.29
		Post	44.43	37.97	39.46	
Utilization						
	PCP visits					
		Pre	5.46	5.44	5.45	<.001
		Post	1.75	2.42	2.25	
	ED visits					
		Dre	1.00	1.03	1.02	001
		Post	0.46	0.64	0.59	.001
Dishataa duug alagaag DD	C 0/	rost	0.40	0.04	0.39	
Diabetes drug classes, PD	DDC for birrowider (m. 20	2)				
	PDC for biguanides (n=38	5)				001
		Pre	72	/4	74	<.001
		Post	88	89	89	
	PDC for thiazolidinedion	es (n=8)				
		Pre	88	69	77	.004
		Post	96	91	93	
	PDC for sulfonylureas (n=	=26)				
		Pre	71	74	73	<.001
		Post	88	96	93	
Cardiovascular drug class	ses, PDC %					
	PDC for ACE inhibitors (n=45)				
		Pre	90	85	85	.04
		Post	83	85	91	
PDC for angiotensin II receptor						
	Antagonists (ARB) (n=14))				
		Pre	87	78	80	.02
		Post	96	92	93	
	PDC for calcium channel	blockers (n=18)				
		Pre	92	85	87	.03
		Post	96	94	95	
	PDC for beta blockers (n-	= 30)	2.4	· ·		
	L D C IVI DELL DIOCKETS (II-	Dro	86	72	75	< 001
		110	00	15	15	<.001

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Med Inform 2016 | vol. 4 | iss. 1 |e4 | p.63 (page number not for citation purposes)

Dixon et al

Outcomes, means		Assessment completed ^a (n=24)	No assessment completed ^b (n=24)	Overall total (n=96)	Overall <i>P</i> ^c
	Post	94	90	91	
PDC for 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl CoA reductase					
Inhibitors (statins) (n=13))				
	Pre	80	80	80	.02
	Post	99	91	94	

^aPatients who completed at least one Web-based assessment

^bPatients who never logged in to complete an assessment

^cPaired *t* test *P* value, overall

Barriers to Adherence

The top 5 barriers, based on mean scores from the questionnaires completed by those patients who completed at least one questionnaire (n=24), are presented in Table 3. The mean scores

 Table 3. Commonly reported perceived barriers to adherence by patients.

Questionnaire item	Mean score
I just don't like taking medicine in general.	5.69
I just forget to take them.	5.36
I can't afford them.	5.19
I ran out of medication before I could call or visit my doctor or nurse.	5.17
My medicines make me feel bad or have side effects I don't like.	5.15

Feedback From Providers

Out of 29 eligible providers practicing at the 3 clinics prior to the implementation of the dashboard, 15 (52%) volunteered to participate. At the end of the 9-month study, 12 (80%) of these providers still practiced at the 3 participating sites. Out of the 12 providers still practicing, 6 (50%) provided feedback via a postintervention questionnaire.

All of the responding providers reported being aware of the dashboard when asked about it one month following the end of the pilot period. However, only 4 of the 6 (66%) reported using the dashboard at least once during the pilot. The 2 providers who indicated they did not use the dashboard responded negatively in general to questions about clinical information systems. For example, both these clinicians disagreed with statements that technology is easy to use in their workplace. They were further less than agreeable that technology could support care coordination or inform clinical decisions.

When asked about whether the dashboard was useful to patient-provider conversations about adherence and helpful to improving medication adherence or helpful to improving medication adherence, half of the providers responded negatively (eg, Disagree) and half were neutral. The providers who responded negatively to questions about the dashboard's usefulness provided interesting open-ended comments. A provider reported that she was "not confident" regarding the quality of the information on the dashboard. Another respondent indicated he wasn't sure if the dashboard contained data from outside pharmacies. A third provider recommended that patients "always bring their pill bottles" for independent verification of what they are taking, regardless of what data are displayed on the dashboard.

for these items range from 5 (Rarely) to 6 (Sometimes). So

while common, these items do not necessarily indicate the items

impact adherence. The items range in nature from general to

financial to possible side effects.

Discussion

Principal Results

A dashboard designed to inform clinicians and stimulate provider-patient conversations about medication adherence for patients with T2DM was introduced into the EHR system at 3 busy ambulatory clinics. Clinicians were prompted to review the dashboard for patients enrolled in a feasibility pilot, then work with their patients to address medication adherence issues illuminated by the dashboard. Following the introduction of the intervention, enrolled patients' medication adherence improved significantly and meaningfully achieving its primary outcome. However, no significant changes to clinical outcomes or health care utilization were observed. This may be the result of patients being exposed to the barriers questionnaire; an exposure that may have stimulated their consideration of the importance of using medications as prescribed. In this regard, it is noteworthy that few patients were willing to complete Web-based questionnaires about their challenges to taking medications as prescribed using a Web-based portal from their home computer or mobile device. This may reflect concerns about divulging to their providers that they are not using medications as prescribed. The desire of patients to indicate positive medication use patterns even when in actuality they are not adhering to avoid

social sanctioning has been noted in the medication adherence literature [5,8,13]. Provider usage was limited and perceptions were mixed. Therefore, while the intervention shows potential for addressing patterns of medication use, it will require further work, especially more effective implementation strategies, to more actively engage patients in contributing data and providers in using the data if broader impact beyond adherence is to be achieved.

Medication adherence improved following the intervention. For every drug class in which mean adherence was below 80% (the cut-off point considered "good" by the Physicians Quality Alliance) prior to the intervention, mean PDC was observed to be above 80% at the end of the study. Moreover, this trend was consistent for diabetes as well as CVD drug classes, for which adherence was also displayed on the dashboard given known comorbidity between diabetes and CVD. In fact, PDC improved not only in the overall cohort, but also across subgroups with one exception: PDC fell for patients taking ACE inhibitors who completed at least one Web-based questionnaire, although it did not dip below 80%. Thus, the dashboard appears to be effective at calling attention to adherence issues, even in cases where the dashboard lacked information on patients' psychosocial challenges to self-reported taking their medications.

The combination of providing PDC alongside laboratory data may therefore be sufficient to stimulate patient-provider discussion about appropriate medication use. It is also possible that the requests for patients to provide data about barriers acted as a clinical reminder, which influenced patients to be mindful about medication use. Finally, it is plausible that patients, believing that their provider was going to see data about their medication utilization, elected to be more consistent in their medication use. Information on patient-provider conversations and motivations for better adherence were not captured in this study; these would be important dimensions to measure in a larger study involving mixed methods.

Although the primary objective was achieved, we did not observe any meaningful changes to patients' health status. Diabetic control and BMI remained unchanged, and health care utilization remained constant. With respect to diabetic control, in theory, this should improve in parallel with medication adherence. Where patients with diabetes use their medications as directed by clinicians, HbA1c levels are expected to fall below 8.0%. A reason we may not have observed a change is the length of the pilot. It can take up to 3 months for HbA1c values to change following a change in medication usage, and only a few patients had more than 2 measured HbA1c values in the EHR system by the end of the 9-month pilot. With respect to BMI, we did not anticipate a change based on the intervention and included drug classes. When considering indicators associated with CVD (eg, LDL), values postintervention trended in the wrong direction, although the change was not quite statistically significant. This was surprising given that adherence for CVD drug classes also increased. Finally, with respect to health care utilization, although the P values were significant, clinically the changes are insignificant. Patients continued to see their PCP approximately every 3 months, and ED visits

XSL•FC

averaged one per year when you adjust the values for the shortened postintervention observation period.

Limitations

Results of the pilot should be interpreted with caution given the small size of the cohort and limited timeframe of the study. Informatics interventions can take a while to be adopted and routinely used by clinicians. In our study, only half of the clinicians practicing in each health center agreed to participate in the study. Not surprisingly, many clinicians we approached who are experiencing serious time constraints, were hesitant about adopting yet another tool into their routine workflow. Other clinicians were near retirement, and some did not want to be bothered with participation in any research study. Given mixed participation and limited use, the intervention may not be directly responsible for changes in adherence especially since our model did not control for other factors. A future trial of such an intervention in the larger health system would need to control for patient as well as provider and clinic factors to be more confident in stating the effect of the informatics intervention.

In addition, the project struggled to engage patients in logging into the portal where they could complete the psychosocial questionnaire about barriers to taking their medications. Even with a financial incentive, just one-quarter of the cohort completed at least one questionnaire during the 9-month pilot. Many enrolled patients struggled due to computer or Internet access issues. For example, one participant repeatedly stated she was waiting for her daughter to come over to help her. Other patients' email addresses bounced less than 1-2 weeks after they provided them during the enrollment process. Text messaging and phone calls were helpful in reaching some of these patients, but access challenges remained for a significant number of study subjects. Furthermore, the patient portal was not routinely used by our clinical partner, Eskenazi Health. The portal vendor for the health system refused to work with the study team, stating their platform was designed only for secure messaging and they did not have an interest in expanding their service offerings to enable patient reported data to be integrated into the EHR. Therefore, the clinicians were unfamiliar with the portal, which may have contributed to lackluster participation by patients beyond their Internet access challenges.

Comparison With Prior Work

Prior studies to improve adherence and glycemic control or glycemic control tend to focus on singular modalities to change provider or patient behavior with limited success. For example, in Vollmer et al [10], an interactive voice response system called patients who appeared to have gaps in refilling their asthma medication. The system was statistically significant in changing adherence, but the mean change (2%) was not clinically meaningful (eg, impact on health outcomes as well as quality of life). Similarly, a systematic review of patient portals by Ammenwerth et al [12] identified just one study that demonstrated an effect on diabetes care delivery. While that one portal was found to be associated with a change in medication regimen, it had no impact on clinical outcomes as measured by HbA1c and blood pressure [27]. A recent systematic review by Sapkota et al [13] of interventions targeting patients with type 2 diabetes found that just 9 of 52 (17%)

studies found an improvement to both adherence and glycemic control. A broader meta-analysis of consumer-focused health information technology trials by Or and Tao [11] similarly found that none of the identified studies showed an impact on clinical or psychosocial outcomes; and the impact of patient-centered technologies had mixed effects on consumer behavior. While our intervention did have both statistically significant and clinically meaningful impact on adherence, our impact on more core measures of quality were similarly disappointing.

Future Directions

Given the context of prior studies, our results suggest a change to how we design, implement, and integrate technologies into care delivery systems and consumers' lives. Our dashboard received positive feedback from some of the clinicians before and during the study. Yet to access the dashboard, clinicians needed to click on yet another tab within the EHR system or be prompted to view the dashboard when data were available for a given patient. While alerts can be useful to guide provider behavior, they can also be viewed as a nuisance leading to providers ignoring or overriding them [28,29]. This may be why some providers reported not using the dashboard during the pilot. Therefore, as we develop dashboards or other EHR widgets, we must find ways to more seamlessly integrate them into clinical processes when contextually appropriate. Other projects at Regenstrief have explored contextually sensitive alerts [30-32], concluding they are promising. Furthermore, we need to explore other clinical team roles (eg, medical assistant, registered nurse, clinical pharmacist), beyond the physician, for whom an adherence dashboard might make more sense given the workflow in primary care as well as other settings.

In addition to information and workflows, we can refine our approach to synthesis as well as visualization of information in clinical dashboards. For example, in this study, patient reported barriers were often missing, yet medication adherence improved. Therefore, it may be sufficient to provide a view of adherence using just 2, objective data sources (pharmacy claims, vital signs). This would assume, however, that providers trust the data and dashboard. In this feasibility pilot, 2 of the providers were wary of the data in the dashboard. Better awareness and experience with integrated data views might solve this issue; or better strategies to educate providers on the sources and quality of data in EHR systems might be considered.

Moreover, when patient barriers were missing, a full third of the screen was blank. Other visualizations of adherence data in combination with vitals sign trends and patient-reported data or patient-reported data could be explored to design EHR widgets that might reduce the potential for white space or maximize screen real estate. A larger trial could explore, for example, variants to the information visualization tested here to find optimal representations of multiple data streams. To be effective, "routine clinical care" must also include environments where patients exist (eg, home, work, bus stop). Integrated information solutions, therefore, must incorporate technologies that can be integrated into daily routines of people. Our efforts were hampered by system barriers that remain a challenge for many people, especially those who are elderly or of low socioeconomic status [33]. Thus, a digital divide still exists, even if it may be shrinking in populations burdened by multiple comorbid diseases requiring complex drug regimens. Therefore, future studies should consider approaches that can reach broad populations instead of developing on an isolated platform that cannot be integrated into the existing health information infrastructure. A pilot study involving text messages to homeless veterans that reduced appointment no-show rates [34] and the multiple studies involving text4baby [35] demonstrate that even disadvantaged populations can benefit from health informatics interventions delivered in a modality that is broadly accessible to patients. Instead of the Web-based browser-based portal we used, we could have explored mobile platforms that could be accessed via mobile phones. Yet one-dimensional "smart" apps are similarly unlikely to be sufficient. The patient-focused aspect of our pilot was largely one-sided, designed to collect information from patients instead of engage them in learning about their disease and strategies for self-management. Management of diabetes involves not only medication adherence, but also changes to diet, exercise, and comorbid conditions such as hypertension. Therefore, technologies that engage patients will likely be those that can address multiple concerns in an integrated fashion (eg, one-stop shop) rather than require multiple apps or interfaces. In addition, it will become critical that future apps include appropriate education that emphasizes the importance of patient-provider communication to enable shared decision making that will achieve optimal therapeutic outcomes.

Conclusions

To fully realize the potential of health information technologies to support patient-centered care delivery, while impacting population health outcomes, information and technical systems need to be integrated. Our vision of technical interfaces among EHR, CDS, and patient information systems, which are integrated into clinical and personal ecosystems, is necessary to create environments in which shared decision making can be informed by evidence, an individual's health data, and knowledge of social determinants. The results from our early pilot of an integrated approach are promising. Yet, they suggest additional research and development to better design, implement, and integrate the myriad of EHR and CDS systems, as well as patient devices, into routine care and patient processes that together support health and well-being.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Jeremy Leventhal, Jonathan Cummins, and Hui Xiao of the Regenstrief Institute Center for Biomedical Informatics for their time and talent in architecting and developing the systems described in this article. Zuoyi Zhang, PhD, of the Regenstrief Institute provided invaluable advice and guidance on the analysis plan. The authors also wish to acknowledge Abdulrahman M. Jabour, a doctoral candidate at the IU School of Informatics and Computing, for his assistance in managing

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e4/
```

XSL•FO RenderX

study subject's portal accounts and collection of data during the early phases of the pilot study. The authors further acknowledge the support of ResNet, especially Jane Anne French, CCRP, in recruiting patients from Eskenazi Health for enrollment in this study. ResNet is a core service of the Indiana Clinical and Translational Sciences Institute that provides recruitment services. Finally, the authors thank the clinical leadership at Eskenazi Health for their support in finding innovative ways to integrate informatics tools into clinical practice.

This work was supported by a grant (R34DK092769) from the National Institute for Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases. The Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Health Administration, Health Services Research and Development Service (CIN 13-416) further employs Dr Dixon as a Health Research Scientist at the Richard L. Roudebush Veterans Affairs Medical Center in Indianapolis, Indiana, USA. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, the National Institutes of Health, the Department of Veterans Affairs, or the U.S. Government.

Authors' Contributions

DGM and BED guided the design of the study. AHA provided key analytical support for calculating and summarizing the medication adherence data. EOP provided key support for the recruitment and enrollment of patients as well as data management and analysis. BED drafted the article. DGM, AHA, and EOP provided critical revisions of the article. BED finalized the article for publication.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Questionnaire given to patients regarding perceived barriers to taking their medications as prescribed.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 201KB - medinform v4i1e4 app1.pdf]

References

- George B, Cebioglu M, Yeghiazaryan K. Inadequate diabetic care: Global figures cry for preventive measures and personalized treatment. EPMA J 2010 Mar;1(1):13-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13167-010-0006-5] [Medline: 23199037]
- 2. Kim C, Williamson DF, Herman WH, Safford MM, Selby JV, Marrero DG, Narayan K M Venkat, et al. Referral management and the care of patients with diabetes: The Translating Research Into Action for Diabetes (TRIAD) study. Am J Manag Care 2004 Feb;10(2 Pt 2):137-143 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15005506]
- 3. Kim C, Williamson DF, Mangione CM, Safford MM, Selby JV, Marrero DG, Narayan K M Venkat, Translating Research Into Action for Diabetes (TRIAD) Study. Managed care organization and the quality of diabetes care: The Translating Research Into Action for Diabetes (TRIAD) study. Diabetes Care 2004 Jul;27(7):1529-1534. [Medline: <u>15220223</u>]
- 4. Levit K, Smith C, Cowan C, Lazenby H, Sensenig A, Catlin A. Trends in U.S. health care spending, 2001. Health Aff (Millwood) 2003;22(1):154-164 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12528847]
- Kerr EA, Gerzoff RB, Krein SL, Selby JV, Piette JD, Curb JD, Narayan K M Venkat, et al. Diabetes care quality in the Veterans Affairs Health Care System and commercial managed care: The TRIAD study. Ann Intern Med 2004 Aug 17;141(4):272-281. [Medline: 15313743]
- Mangione CM, Gerzoff RB, Williamson DF, Steers WN, Kerr EA, Brown AF, et al. The association between quality of care and the intensity of diabetes disease management programs. Ann Intern Med 2006 Jul 18;145(2):107-116. [Medline: 16847293]
- Hanlon JT, Schmader KE, Ruby CM, Weinberger M. Suboptimal prescribing in older inpatients and outpatients. J Am Geriatr Soc 2001 Feb;49(2):200-209. [Medline: <u>11207875</u>]
- 8. Vik SA, Maxwell CJ, Hogan DB. Measurement, correlates, and health outcomes of medication adherence among seniors. Ann Pharmacother 2004 Feb;38(2):303-312. [doi: 10.1345/aph.1D252] [Medline: 14742770]
- 9. Benson J, Britten N. Patients' decisions about whether or not to take antihypertensive drugs: Qualitative study. BMJ 2002 Oct 19;325(7369):873 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12386041]
- Vollmer W, Feldstein A, Smith D, Dubanoski J, Waterbury A, Schneider J, et al. Use of health information technology to improve medication adherence. Am J Manag Care 2011 Dec;17(12 Spec No):SP79-SP87 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22216772]
- Or Calvin K L, Tao D. Does the use of consumer health information technology improve outcomes in the patient self-management of diabetes? A meta-analysis and narrative review of randomized controlled trials. Int J Med Inform 2014 May;83(5):320-329. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.009</u>] [Medline: <u>24534118</u>]

- 12. Ammenwerth E, Schnell-Inderst P, Hoerbst A. The impact of electronic patient portals on patient care: A systematic review of controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(6):e162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2238] [Medline: 23183044]
- Sapkota S, Brien J, Greenfield J, Aslani P. A systematic review of interventions addressing adherence to anti-diabetic medications in patients with type 2 diabetes--impact on adherence. PLoS One 2015;10(2):e0118296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118296] [Medline: 25710465]
- Brown MT, Bussell JK. Medication adherence: WHO cares? Mayo Clin Proc 2011 Apr;86(4):304-314 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.4065/mcp.2010.0575</u>] [Medline: <u>21389250</u>]
- 15. Dixon BE, Jabour AM, Phillips EO, Marrero DG. An informatics approach to medication adherence assessment and improvement using clinical, billing, and patient-entered data. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2014;21(3):517-521 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001959] [Medline: 24076751]
- 16. ResNet. Indianapolis: Indiana: ResNet clinical and translational sciences institute; 2012 URL: <u>https://www.indianactsi.org/</u> programs/researchnetworks/resnet [accessed 2015-12-10] [WebCite Cache ID 6dg7sDLjn]
- 17. McDonald CJ, Overhage JM, Tierney WM, Dexter PR, Martin DK, Suico JG, et al. The Regenstrief medical record system: A quarter century experience. Int J Med Inform 1999 Jun;54(3):225-253. [Medline: <u>10405881</u>]
- Simonaitis L, Belsito A, Overhage JM. Enhancing an ePrescribing system by adding medication histories and formularies: The Regenstrief Medication Hub. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2008:677-681 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18999153]
- 19. Sikka R, Xia F, Aubert RE. Estimating medication persistency using administrative claims data. Am J Manag Care 2005 Jul;11(7):449-457 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16044982</u>]
- 20. Nau DP. Proportion of days covered (PDC) as a preferred method of measuring medication adherence Springfield, VA: Pharmacy quality alliance URL: <u>http://www.pqaalliance.org/images/uploads/files/PQA%20PDC%20vs%20%20MPR.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-12-10] [WebCite Cache ID 6dg82nij5]
- 21. Zhu VJ, Tu W, Rosenman MB, Overhage JM. Facilitating clinical research through the health information exchange: Lipid control as an example. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2010;2010:947-951 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21347118]
- Mamlin BW, Biondich PG, Wolfe BA, Fraser H, Jazayeri D, Allen C, et al. Cooking up an open source EMR for developing countries: OpenMRS a recipe for successful collaboration. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2006:529-533 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17238397</u>]
- 23. Mohammed-Rajput NA, Smith DC, Mamlin B, Biondich P, Doebbeling BN, Open MRS Collaborative Investigators. OpenMRS, a global medical records system collaborative: Factors influencing successful implementation. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2011;2011:960-968 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22195155]
- 24. Monahan PO, Lane KA, Hayes RP, McHorney CA, Marrero DG. Reliability and validity of an instrument for assessing patients' perceptions about medications for diabetes: The PAM-D. Qual Life Res 2009 Sep;18(7):941-952. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-009-9510-2] [Medline: 19609723]
- 25. Marrero D, Monahan P, Lane K, Hayes R. Validation of a scale to measure patient-perceived barriers to medication use. 2006 Presented at: International Society for Quality of Life Research meeting abstracts. Qual Life Res. ;15(Suppl 1), Abstract #1223; 2006; USA p. A34-A35 URL: <u>https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/handle/1805/8164</u>
- 26. Wang S, Huang Z, Traubenberg S. Measuring medication adherence with simple drug use and medication switching. In: SAS Institute, Inc. 2013 Presented at: SAS Global Forum; April 28 May 1, 2013; San Francisco, CA URL: <u>http://support.sas.com/resources/papers/proceedings13/168-2013.pdf</u>
- Grant RW, Wald JS, Schnipper JL, Gandhi TK, Poon EG, Orav EJ, et al. Practice-linked online personal health records for type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 2008 Sep 8;168(16):1776-1782 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/archinte.168.16.1776] [Medline: 18779465]
- Russ AL, Zillich AJ, McManus MS, Doebbeling BN, Saleem JJ. Prescribers' interactions with medication alerts at the point of prescribing: A multi-method, in situ investigation of the human-computer interaction. Int J Med Inform 2012 Apr;81(4):232-243. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.01.002] [Medline: 22296761]
- 29. van der Sijs Heleen, Aarts J, Vulto A, Berg M. Overriding of drug safety alerts in computerized physician order entry. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2006;13(2):138-147 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M1809] [Medline: 16357358]
- Biondich P, Dixon BE, Duke J, Mamlin B, Grannis S, Takesue B, et al. Regenstrief medical informatics: Experiences with clinical decision support systems. In: Greenes RA, editor. Clinical Decision Support: The Road to Broad Adoption. 2 ed. Burlington, MA: Academic Press; 2014:165-187.
- Duke JD, Morea J, Mamlin B, Martin DK, Simonaitis L, Takesue BY, et al. Regenstrief Institute's medical gopher: A next-generation homegrown electronic medical record system. Int J Med Inform 2014 Mar;83(3):170-179. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.11.004] [Medline: 24373714]
- 32. Duke JD, Bolchini D. A successful model and visual design for creating context-aware drug-drug interaction alerts. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2011;2011:339-348 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22195086]
- 33. Zickuhr K. Pew Research Center's Internet & American Life Project. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center; 2013. Who's not online and why URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/files/old-media/</u> /Files/Reports/2013/PIP_Offline%20adults_092513_PDF.pdf [accessed 2015-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6YhlVUD3E]

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e4/

- McInnes DK, Petrakis BA, Gifford AL, Rao SR, Houston TK, Asch SM, et al. Retaining homeless veterans in outpatient care: A pilot study of mobile phone text message appointment reminders. Am J Public Health 2014 Sep;104 Suppl 4:S588-S594. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2014.302061] [Medline: 25100425]
- 35. Whittaker R, Matoff-Stepp S, Meehan J, Kendrick J, Jordan E, Stange P, et al. Text4baby: Development and implementation of a national text messaging health information service. Am J Public Health 2012 Dec;102(12):2207-2213. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.300736] [Medline: 23078509]

Abbreviations

BMI: body mass index
CVD: cardiovascular disease
ED: emergency department
EHR: electronic health record
LDL: low-density lipoprotein
MED: medication
OpenMRS: Open Medical Record System
PCP: primary care provider
PDC: proportion of days covered
RMRS: Regenstrief Medical Record System
T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 21.05.15; peer-reviewed by H Durrani, P Aslani, J Saleem, C Or; comments to author 29.07.15; revised version received 08.09.15; accepted 07.10.15; published 08.02.16.

Please cite as:

Dixon BE, Alzeer AH, Phillips EO, Marrero DG Integration of Provider, Pharmacy, and Patient-Reported Data to Improve Medication Adherence for Type 2 Diabetes: A Controlled Before-After Pilot Study JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e4 URL: http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e4/ doi:10.2196/medinform.4739 PMID:26858218

©Brian E Dixon, Abdullah H Alzeer, Erin O'Kelly Phillips, David G Marrero. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 08.02.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Industry and Occupation in the Electronic Health Record: An Investigation of the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Industry and Occupation Computerized Coding System

Matthew Schmitz^{1*}, MSc; Linda Forst^{1*}, MD, MPH

Environmental and Occupational Health Sciences, School of Public Health, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, United States *all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Linda Forst, MD, MPH Environmental and Occupational Health Sciences School of Public Health University of Illinois at Chicago 2121 W. Taylor, MC 922 Chicago, IL, 60612 United States Phone: 1 312 3553826 Fax: 1 312 413 9898 Email: Forst-L@uic.edu

Abstract

Background: Inclusion of information about a patient's work, industry, and occupation, in the electronic health record (EHR) could facilitate occupational health surveillance, better health outcomes, prevention activities, and identification of workers' compensation cases. The US National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) has developed an autocoding system for "industry" and "occupation" based on 1990 Bureau of Census codes; its effectiveness requires evaluation in conjunction with promoting the mandatory addition of these variables to the EHR.

Objective: The objective of the study was to evaluate the intercoder reliability of NIOSH's Industry and Occupation Computerized Coding System (NIOCCS) when applied to data collected in a community survey conducted under the Affordable Care Act; to determine the proportion of records that are autocoded using NIOCCS.

Methods: Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) codes are used by several federal agencies in databases that capture demographic, employment, and health information to harmonize variables related to work activities among these data sources. There are 359 industry and occupation responses that were hand coded by 2 investigators, who came to a consensus on every code. The same variables were autocoded using NIOCCS at the high and moderate criteria level.

Results: Kappa was .84 for agreement between hand coders and between the hand coder consensus code versus NIOCCS high confidence level codes for the first 2 digits of the SOC code. For 4 digits, NIOCCS coding versus investigator coding ranged from kappa=.56 to .70. In this study, NIOCCS was able to achieve production rates (ie, to autocode) 31%-36% of entered variables at the "high confidence" level and 49%-58% at the "medium confidence" level. Autocoding (production) rates are somewhat lower than those reported by NIOSH. Agreement between manually coded and autocoded data are "substantial" at the 2-digit level, but only "fair" to "good" at the 4-digit level.

Conclusions: This work serves as a baseline for performance of NIOCCS by investigators in the field. Further field testing will clarify NIOCCS effectiveness in terms of ability to assign codes and coding accuracy and will clarify its value as inclusion of these occupational variables in the EHR is promoted.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e5) doi:10.2196/medinform.4839

KEYWORDS

RenderX

medical informatics; occupation code; industry code; NIOCCS; occupational health; occupation+electronic health record

Introduction

The links between work and health have been long understood [1]. Illnesses and injuries that arise out of employment are amenable to primary, secondary, and tertiary prevention, but prevention requires identification of hazards as well as knowledge of associated health conditions. Inclusion of information about employment in medical records could aid physicians and other health professionals in the recognition of work-related illnesses and injuries. Such information could also highlight working conditions that interfere with general health and well-being and stymie treatment efforts. Furthermore, capture of employment variables would allow for intervention research and surveillance of work related patterns of illness and injury at the population level [2-4]. After earlier attempts at automated coding of work variables for governmental agencies in the United States [5], the development and widespread use of electronic health records (EHRs) presents a unique opportunity to advance the collection and incorporation of information on industry and occupation (I&O) into patients' medical records [6].

In its 2010 report, "Reducing Environmental Cancer Risk -What We Can Do Now", the President's Cancer Panel recommended routine assessment of occupational history and the incorporation of such information into the medical record in order to better assess potential workplace exposures and related risk of chronic illnesses such as cancer [7]. The National Prevention Council, headed by the US Surgeon General, also called for the inclusion of occupational and environmental risk assessment in the patient medical history in its 2011 National Prevention Strategy [8]. An Institute of Medicine 2011 report, "Incorporating Occupational Information in Electronic Health Records", concluded that incorporation of occupational information in EHRs could contribute to improving individual and population health care and issued a number of recommendations to the US National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) and its partners to guide the process; these include adopting Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) coding standards for use in EHRs, assessing the feasibility of autocoding occupational health information, and assessing the impact on meaningful-use goals of incorporating occupational information into EHRs, specific objectives that must be met to qualify for Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services Incentive Programs meant to ensure that implementation of EHRs improves clinical outcomes and population health [9]. As a result of these recommendations, NIOSH developed the National Industry and Occupation Computerized Coding System (NIOCCS), and following on to earlier work in this area, a Web-based system that translates "industry" and "occupation" text into standardized codes. The NIOCCS system has had limited evaluation, to date.

The goal of this investigation was to evaluate the quality of I&O coding of data obtained in a community-based, health care needs assessment. Specific objectives were to: (1) determine interrater reliability of hand coding of "industry" and "occupation" variables using the 2010 Standard Occupational Codes; (2) determine the ability of NIOCCS to assign codes to "industry" and "occupation" responses from the general public (potential

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e5/
```

XSL•FC

patients); and (3) to evaluate the relationship between hand-coded versus NIOCCS-assigned SOC codes.

Methods

University of Illinois Survey on Neighborhood Health

In 2013-2014, the University of Illinois Survey on Neighborhood Health (UNISON) was conducted, as this health care system's community health needs assessment required by the Patient Accountability and Affordable Care Act (ACA) [10]. A sampling scheme was constructed for a study of 1400 individuals, approximately half of them reached through a door-to-door survey according to a randomized, block design; the other half that were surveyed were current patients with specific chronic diseases.

A survey tool was created from existing national surveys to collect patient-reported information about health behaviors, health care access and utilization, prevalence of disease conditions, quality of life indicators, and knowledge of the ACA. Basic biometric screening was done and those who answered the survey were invited to come to university clinics for laboratory testing. There were 3 questions that were inserted by investigators to use for the current study: (1) current employment status; (2) type of business or industry working in (respondents could select from a list or write in a response); and (3) job title (write-in, only). For every currently employed individual, responses to questions 2 and 3 were downloaded to a MS Excel spreadsheet and used in this analysis. No identifying information was obtained.

Coding

The 2010 SOC system is used to classify workers into occupational categories for the purpose of collecting, calculating, or disseminating data [11]. This system has been adopted by several federal agencies in order to harmonize collection of work-related variables in a variety of demographic, employment, and health oriented databases. The 2010 version classifies workers into one of 840 detailed occupations according to their definitions. To facilitate classification, detailed occupations are combined to form 461 broad occupations, 97 minor groups, and 23 major groups. Detailed occupations in the SOC with similar job duties, and in some cases skills, education, and training, are grouped together. The coding scheme gives 2 digits for the 23 major categories, followed by a hyphen, and 4 more digits for more finely described categories (XX-XXXX). For example, a home health aide would be coded Healthcare Support Occupations (31-0000) for major group, (31-1000) for minor group, Nursing, Psychiatric, and Home Health Aides (31-1010) for broad occupation, and Home Health Aide (31-1011) for detailed occupation [11].

The investigators obtained the 2010 SOC system of codes and individually hand-coded the data down to the most detailed level of classification possible based on the information provided by each respondent [11]. They then met and came to a consensus if their codes differed.

The NIOSH Industry & Occupation Computerized Coding System (NIOCCS) Version 2.0 was used to autocode the data according to 2010 SOC codes, separately from the hand coding.

NIOCCS is a Web-based system that translates text into standardized I&O codes [12]. It was designed for use by researchers, government agencies, state health departments, and other organizations that collect or evaluate information using I&O. Its purpose is to provide a tool that reduces the high cost of manually coding I&O information, while simultaneously improving uniformity of the codes. The NIOCCS Coding Engine design has processes that cover phrase-based and word-based, exact match and proximity match, and weighted and not-weighted matching. Each process has its specialty of best-fit coding areas to enhance the combined coding ability. Figure 1 shows the NIOCCS coding scheme [12].

The dataset of survey participants' responses on employment was used for NIOCCS autocoding for the first 2 digits (industry)

and the last 4 digits (occupation) using both the high confidence level (90% cutoff) and medium confidence level (70% cutoff) criteria. Records processed using the high confidence threshold require that NIOCCS has 90% or greater confidence of accuracy for matching, whereas the medium confidence threshold only requires 70% or greater confidence of accuracy for coding to occur. The degree of confidence is based on the degree of fidelity of the variable to the actual code, with the "high" confidence level requiring stronger probability of a match (less "fuzziness") than "medium" confidence level allows. We used either the industry data (first 2 digits) selected by the respondent from a list, or the write-in response when "other" was selected. The occupation data, the last 4 digits, were written in by the respondent (not selected off a list).

Figure 1. The US National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) Industry & Occupation Computerized Coding System (NIOCCS) Coding Engine [12]. I&O: industry and occupation.



Data Analysis

The kappa statistic was used to assess the reliability of manual versus NIOCCS autocoding. The first 2 digits were compared between hand and electronic coding, as were the last 4 digits. The proportion of records containing I&O information that are autocoded out of all the records submitted for coding is called the "production rate". The industries and occupations that could not be coded by NIOCCS resulted in unbalanced contingency tables, a row by column table where the manually assigned codes for each respondent constitute the rows and the NIOCCS-assigned codes constitute the columns, for both the 2-digit and 4-digit comparisons. A contingency table is one where rows and columns are set up to analyze for associations between the two. In order to obtain correct kappa statistics, an approach suggested by Crewson [13] was used to create

balanced contingency tables through the creation of dummy observations covering all possible rating scenarios in a separate stratum from the original data. Using this approach, SAS PROC FREQ calculates the kappa statistics separately for the strata containing the original data and the dummy observations. All 6 digits were not evaluated because of the extremely high number of potential rating categories and practical limits of computing power. SAS v.9.4 (SAS Inc, North Carolina) was used for this analysis.

Results

Response Breakdown From Door-to-Door Survey

Responses were obtained from 740 individuals in the door-to-door survey, with 359 (48.5%) currently working. The breakdown of "industry" based on hand coding, considered the
gold standard for I&O coding, is shown in Table 1. There were 6 of the 23 industries that comprised over 50% of the responses.

Table 1. Industrial sectors of 359 working individuals surveyed in the UNISON study.

Industry	Number	%	Cum %
Office and administrative support (43-XXXX)	37	10.3	10.3
Management (11-XXXX)	32	8.9	19.2
Health care support (31-XXXX)	30	8.4	27.6
Food preparation and serving (35-XXXX)	29	8.1	35.7
Education, training, and library (25-XXXX)	28	7.8	43.5
Personal care and service (39-XXXX)	24	6.7	50.2
Transportation (53-XXXX)	23	6.4	56.6
Sales and related (41-XXXX)	20	5.6	62.2
Business and financial operations (13-XXXX)	18	5.0	67.2
Production (51-XXXX)	18	5.0	72.2
Protective service (33-XXXX)	14	3.9	76.1
Health care practitioners and technical (29-XXXX)	13	3.6	79.7
Arts, design, entertainment, sports, and media (27-XXXX)	11	3.1	82.8
Building and grounds cleaning and maintenance (37-XXXX)	11	3.1	85.9
Life, physical, and social science (19-XXXX)	9	2.5	88.4
Computer and mathematical (15-XXXX)	8	2.2	90.6
Community and social service (21-XXXX)	8	2.2	92.8
Construction and extraction (47-XXXX)	7	1.9	94.8
Job title "None", left blank, or unknown	6	1.7	96.5
Legal (23-XXXX)	5	1.4	97.9
Installation, maintenance, and repair (49-XXXX)	4	1.1	99.0
Architecture and engineering (17-XXXX)	2	0.6	99.6
Farming, fishing, and forestry (45-XXXX)	1	0.3	99.9
Temp worker	1	0.3	100.0

Production Rates for "High" and "Medium" Confidence Levels

Table 2 shows the production rates (the percentage autocoded) for "high" and "medium" confidence levels. For the high confidence algorithm, the production rates of "industry" (the first 2 digits) range from 115/359 (32.0%) to 129/359 (35.9%),

with the "write-ins" performing a little better (23/65, 35% autocoded) than those selected off a card (94/294, 31.9% autocoded). Production rates were higher for the medium confidence level (176/294, 59.8% to 38/65, 58%). Similar results were obtained for the production rates of "occupation" (the last 4 digits) at both confidence levels.

Table 2. Production rates of autocoding of I&O by 2- and 4- digit Standardized Occupational Codes obtained from 359 respondents in a community survey, with industry selected from a list versus industry write-in.

	High confidence, %	Medium confidence, %
2-digit SOC (XX-XXXX), industry selected off card	32	49
2- digit SOC (XX-XXXX), industry write-in	36	58
4-digit SOC (XX-XXXX), industry selected off card	31	49
4-digit SOC (XX-XXXX), industry write-in	36	58

Comparison of Manual Coding by Two Investigators

Both investigators manually coded all 359 responses. For the comparison of manual coding by each of the investigators, the

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e5/

2-digit blinded coding yielded a kappa of 0.84 (95% CI 0.79-0.88) using 338 observations (21 missing); at the 4-digit level, a kappa of 0.58 (95% CI 0.52-0.63) using 337 observations (22 missing) was achieved. Investigators



subsequently reached agreement at the 6-digit level (2 and 4, combined) on every case and used these agreed-upon codes for comparisons to the NIOCCS-generated codes. Hand coding versus NIOCCS coding yielded high kappa statistics at the 2-digit level, but low kappa statistics at the 4-digit level. The

NIOCCS high confidence algorithm produced higher accuracy than the medium confidence level, but coded fewer observations. There was no difference in selection of industry off a card versus writing it in free form. All comparisons are shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Interrater reliability measures of SOC 2010 coding of I&O data by different coding methods.

Coding technique	n (missing)	Kappa (95% CI)
Investigator 1 x Investigator 2: 2 digit	338 (21)	0.84 ^a (0.79-0.88)
Investigator 1 x Investigator 2: 4 digit	337 (22)	0.58 (0.52-0.63)
Investigator-agreed x NIOCCS high: 2 digit	115 (244)	0.84 ^a (0.77-0.91)
Investigator-agreed x NIOCCS high: 2 digit (with write-in)	129 (230)	0.84 ^a (0.78-0.91)
Investigator-agreed x NIOCCS high: 4 digit	112 (247)	0.70 (0.62-0.79)
Investigator-agreed x NIOCCS high: 4 digit (with write-in)	129 (230)	0.68 (0.60-0.76)
Investigator-agreed x NIOCCS med: 2 digit	177 (182)	0.71 (0.65-0.78)
Investigator-agreed x NIOCCS med: 2 digit (with write-in)	207 (152)	0.71 (0.64-0.77)
Investigator-agreed x NIOCCS med: 4 digit	177 (182)	0.60 (0.52-0.67)
Investigator-agreed x NIOCCS med: 4 digit (with write-in)	207 (152)	0.56 (0.49-0.63)

^a agreement = high

Discussion

Relationship Between Work and Health

There is a growing appreciation of the relationship between work and health. First, "work" is a determinant of health in that job activities expose working people to illness and injury risks: workers who are exposed to chemical, biological, physical, ergonomic, and psychosocial hazards are more likely to experience adverse health effects associated with those hazards. Furthermore, health is affected by employment status, whether an individual is employed, unemployed, partially employed, or stably employed has an impact on health and well-being [14]. Second, employment in the United States is integrally related to health insurance coverage for both general health and work-related injury/illness, and health care coverage determines whether an individual has access to care or whether optimal health outcomes can be achieved as a result of a clinical encounter. Third, the workplace is increasingly being utilized as a venue for health promotion activities. Wellness programs are being implemented to prevent and control chronic health conditions based on the belief that a healthy workforce is a more productive workforce and will cost the employer less money due to absenteeism, presenteeism (low productivity while at work), and health insurance costs [15-17]. Finally, there are recent studies examining the transfer of workers' compensation costs to general health insurance, to federal programs, to community health centers as nonreimbursable costs, and to indigent worker-patients, themselves [18-20]. Inclusion of information on I&O in the EHR is integral to providing information that can be utilized in health care encounters to improve the health and well-being of adult patients. On a population level, variables collected in the EHR can be used to study relationships between sociodemographics, hazardous exposure conditions, and health outcomes. The use of health

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e5/

RenderX

records by state programs for surveillance of occupational illness and injury has increased in the last decade as a way to enhance case capture, target preventive efforts, and conduct research [21].

General guidelines for the interpretation of the kappa statistic have been suggested by Landis and Koch [22] as values <.00 indicating poor agreement, .00-.20 as slight, .21-.40 as fair, .41-.60 as moderate, .61-.80 as substantial, and .81-1.00 as almost perfect agreement. Fleiss [23] has also suggested guidelines characterizing kappa values below .40 as poor, .40-.75 as fair to good, and over .75 as excellent. While both sets of guidelines are arbitrary, they provide a general framework for the interpretation of kappa values. It is also important to remember that the magnitude of kappa values can be influenced by the prevalence of given attributes being rated, in this case the prevalence of employment in various industries and occupations among the sample population, as well as potentially by bias [24].

Principal Results

Using the Landis and Koch [22] framework for interpreting the kappa statistic, the between-investigator agreement for 2-digit manual coding was "almost perfect", as was the agreement between the manually coded classification and the NIOCCS high confidence model, while the agreement between the manually coded classification and the NIOCCS medium confidence model was slightly lower, but still "substantial". The between-investigator agreement for 4-digit coding was moderate, the agreement between the manually coded classification and the NIOCCS high confidence model was substantial, and the agreement between the manually coded classification and the NIOCCS high confidence model was substantial, and the agreement between the manually coded classification and the NIOCCS medium confidence model was moderate. Including respondent-provided write-in information for industry led to a slight increase in the number of observations

autocoded by NIOCCS for both high and medium confidence models, but did not alter the kappa statistic for 2-digit coding and slightly decreased the kappa statistic for 4-digit coding as compared to the manually coded classifications.

If the investigator-agreed-upon manually coded classifications are taken as the true I&O classifications for this study, then the NIOCCS models performed near, but slightly below the accuracy performance goals of 10% or less error rate and 25% or less error rate for the high and medium confidence models respectively, when examining the 2-digit coding; however, it performed well below the performance goals for the 4-digit coding [25]. Importantly, the NIOCCS high confidence model achieved a comparable level of agreement for the 2-digit coding and a greater level of agreement for the 4-digit coding than was originally achieved between blinded investigators. However, a significant limitation of the model that may influence the overall agreement between manual and autocoded results is the production rate of the NIOCCS autocoding (ie, most of the entries do not get coded by NIOCCS and therefore cannot be compared with manual coding). Notably, there does not appear to be any pattern in regards to industry or occupation in the data that was not autocoded.

The goal of NIOCCS autocoding is to simplify and mechanize insertion of I&O variables into the EHR; production rate and accuracy are critical to streamlining inclusion of these variables. This study used a field-based survey to explore public use of NIOCCS for coding I&O. Data provided in Table 4 show that NIOCCS did not perform as well in this study as it has in other settings. Death certificates yield the highest production rates and coding by NIOSH performs better than it did for external investigators in this study.

Table 4. NIOCCS autocoding production rates (proportion autocoded) for this investigation versus other studies.

Data type		Year 2013, %	Year 2014	Illinois ACA survey, %
			(Jan-Sept), %	
NIOCCS internal	user (NIOSH perso	nnel) results		
	Death certificates	60	61	
	Surveys	34 MESA [25] & REGARDS [26] Survey Data	37 BRFSS [27] Survey Data	
NIOCCS external	user (non-NIOSH p	personnel) results		
	Death certificates	64 [28]	64 [28]	
	Cancer registries	35 [28]	60 [28]	
	Surveys	49 [28]	50 [28]	32-36
	Other	52 [28]	57 [28]	
Average—all data t	ypes	51	55	
BRFSS-10 states [2	27]	31-55		
		(avg=42%) ^a		

^a Personal communication, NIOSH

Production Rates of the National Industry and Occupation Computerized Coding System

The production rates of the NIOCCS high confidence model were 32% and 36% for the selected and write-in augmented data, respectively; the production rates using the medium confidence model were 49% and 58% for the selected and write-in augmented data. The observed production rates are below the predicted benchmark rate of around 50% for the high confidence and 60%-75% for the medium confidence model when coding survey data [25]. This may be indicative of the quality of the data provided by UNISON survey respondents rather than the performance of the NIOCCS autocoding, however, data acquisition from patients at home versus health care settings should not vary on that basis alone. Because of this, the findings of this study may indicate the need to develop better methods, training, or emphasis on the collection of more detailed information on I&O to support successful autocoding.

Limitations

Because the same 4-digit occupational code can exist within different 2-digit industry code groups, there is a potential for misinterpreting 4 digit codes from different 2-digit major categories as an exact match, however, it is unlikely that this occurred at a frequency high enough to bias the results: the 2-digit codes are quite different, and if it had happened at a frequency high enough to have biased the results, then the 4-digit agreement between hand coding and NIOCCS would have been inflated compared to the 2-digit agreement, which they were not; they were essentially equivalent.

It should be noted that true reliability of the codes—both in the collection phase and in the coding phase—would best be evaluated by further questioning of respondents (patients) to assure that the given I&O are accurate descriptors of their actual industrial sectors and job titles. This would require a study that entails responses to the I&O questions, followed by more extensive questioning of the respondent. In addition, the ability to evaluate hazardous workplace exposure, consider risk, or

promote health in the workplace would require more detailed questioning of the worker by the health care provider.

Conclusions

This study provides important field testing for the NIOCCS system on data collected through an ACA-required community needs assessment carried out by a university health system; development of an autocoding system was recommended by the Institute of Medicine's Committee on Occupational Information and Electronic Health Records. Our results showed that the NIOCCS accuracy performed near its expected benchmark levels for 2-Major Groups SOC coding ("industry"), but well below the expected benchmark for the 4-digit detailed occupation SOC coding level ("occupation") [23]. In this study, NIOCCS production rates fell below the anticipated production rates for survey data. This study could serve as an important baseline performance measure for NIOCCS as NIOSH

continually improves the system to specifically target autocoding and accuracy rates.

According to the UNISON group, "Information learned from UNISON Health will help us to understand the health needs of the diverse community served by the UI Health and to use this information to improve health care for those who need it the most" [10]. "Work" is an important, though often ignored, determinant of health. Knowledge of adult patients' places of employment-both I&O-can serve to inform interventions to improve health and well-being on a population level. Utilization of the NIOCCS tool could aid both researchers and this particular health system in understanding the occupational makeup of the population within its service area by reducing the time and cost associated with manually coding I&O information. It could also aid in establishing uniformity of I&O codes contained within patients' EHRs that could be used to inform physicians of a patient's unique work history and risks of work related health conditions.

Acknowledgments

NIOSH U60/OH009850 and T42/OH008672 provided funds for investigator time; the Office of the Vice President for Health Affairs of the shared the I&O data.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Ramazzini B. De Morbis Artificum Diatriba [Diseases of Workers]. Am J Public Health 2001 Sep;91(9):1380-1382. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.91.9.1380]
- Towle M, Tolliver R, Bui AG, Warner A, Van DM. Adding industry and occupation questions to the behavioral risk factor surveillance system: New opportunities in public health surveillance. Public Health Rep 2015;130(2):153-160. [Medline: 25729104]
- Anderson NJ, Fan ZJ, Reeb-Whitaker C, Bonauto DK, Rauser E. Distribution of asthma by occupation: Washington State behavioral risk factor surveillance system data, 2006-2009. J Asthma 2014 Dec;51(10):1035-1042 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2014.939282] [Medline: 24995660]
- 4. Taylor JA, Frey LT. The need for industry and occupation standards in hospital discharge data. J Occup Environ Med 2013 May;55(5):495-499. [doi: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e318293af12] [Medline: 23618882]
- Patel MD, Rose KM, Owens CR, Bang H, Kaufman JS. Performance of automated and manual coding systems for occupational data: A case study of historical records. Am J Ind Med 2012 Mar;55(3):228-231 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22420026]
- 6. c.ymcdn. 2008. The case for collecting occupational health data elements in electronic health records URL: <u>http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.cste.org/resource/resmgr/OccupationalHealth/TheCaseforCollectingOccHealt.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX83tIno]
- 7. President's CP. April. 2010. Reducing environmental cancer risk What we can do now URL: <u>http://deainfo.nci.nih.gov/</u> advisory/pcp/annualReports/pcp08-09rpt/PCP_Report_08-09_508.pdf [accessed 2015-12-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX85er2Z]
- 8. National PC. June. 2011. National prevention strategy America's plan for better health and wellness URL: <u>http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/priorities/prevention/strategy/report.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX87iYwT]
- 9. Institute OM. Incorporating occupational information in electronic health records. 2011 URL: <u>http://www.nap.edu/catalog/13207/incorporating-occupational-information-in-electronic-health-records-letter-report</u> [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX89d3AN]
- 10. UNISON. University of Illinois survey on neighborhood health. 2015 URL: <u>https://hospital.uillinois.edu/about-ui-health/</u> <u>april-2015-newsletter/unison-survey-results</u> [accessed 2016-01-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6ei4jy8kQ]
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. Accessed 4/19/15. Standard occupational codes URL: <u>http://www.bls.gov/soc/</u> [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX8Eo4Hy]
- 12. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. NIOSH industry & occupation computerized coding system. 2013 URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/coding/overview.html</u> [accessed 2015-12-03] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX8GRzXP]

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e5/
```

- 13. Crewson P. SAS User's Group International 2001 Proceedings. 2001. A correction for unbalanced Kappa tables URL: http://www2.sas.com/proceedings/sugi26/p194-26.pdf [accessed 2016-01-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6ei4w62o4]
- 14. Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. How does employment or unemployment affect health? Accessed 9/28/15. 2013 URL: <u>http://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2012/12/how-does-employment--or-unemployment--affect-health-.html</u> [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX8TO7UB]
- 15. Anger WK, Elliot DL, Bodner T, Olson R, Rohlman DS, Truxillo DM, et al. Effectiveness of total worker health interventions. J Occup Health Psychol 2015 Apr;20(2):226-247. [doi: 10.1037/a0038340] [Medline: 25528687]
- Merchant JA, Kelly KM, Burmeister LF, Lozier MJ, Amendola A, Lind DP, et al. Employment status matters: A statewide survey of quality-of-life, prevention behaviors, and absenteeism and presenteeism. J Occup Environ Med 2014 Jul;56(7):686-698. [doi: 10.1097/JOM.0000000000149] [Medline: 24988095]
- 17. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Research compendium. 2012 URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/</u> 2012-146/pdfs/2012-146.pdf [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX8gwcsX]
- Lipscomb HJ, Dement JM, Silverstein B, Cameron W, Glazner JE. Who is paying the bills? Health care costs for musculoskeletal back disorders, Washington State Union Carpenters, 1989-2003. J Occup Environ Med 2009 Oct;51(10):1185-1192. [doi: 10.1097/JOM.0b013e3181b68d0a] [Medline: 19749603]
- 19. LaDou J. Workers' Compensation in the United States: Cost shifting and inequities in a dysfunctional system. New Solut 2010;20(3):291-302. [doi: <u>10.2190/NS.20.3.c</u>] [Medline: <u>20943472</u>]
- Lipscomb HJ, Schoenfisch AL, Cameron W, Kucera KL, Adams D, Silverstein BA. Contrasting patterns of care for musculoskeletal disorders and injuries of the upper extremity and knee through workers' compensation and private health care insurance among union carpenters in Washington State, 1989 to 2008. Am J Ind Med 2015 Sep;58(9):955-963. [doi: 10.1002/ajim.22455] [Medline: 25939759]
- 21. NIOSH, 2012. Accessed 9/28/15. State based surveillance URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/programs/surv/</u> [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX8m79iz]
- 22. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 1977 Mar;33(1):159-174. [Medline: <u>843571</u>]
- 23. Fleiss J. Statistical methods for rates and proportions. New York: Wiley; 1981.
- 24. Sim J, Wright CC. The kappa statistic in reliability studies: Use, interpretation, and sample size requirements. Phys Ther 2005 Mar;85(3):257-268 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15733050]
- 25. MESA. Accessed 9/28/. 2015. Multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis URL: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/projects/gap/cgi-bin/</u> study.cgi?study_id=phs000209.v2.p1 [accessed 2016-01-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6ei5RGhhn]
- 26. REGARDS: Reasons for geographicracial differences in stroke project. Accessed 9/28/15. URL: <u>http://www.regardsstudy.org/about</u> [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX8wX0NV]
- 27. BRFSS: Behavioral risk factor surveillance system. Accessed 9/28/15 URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/brfss/</u> [accessed 2015-12-04] [WebCite Cache ID 6dX90dk1i]
- 28. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Accessed 9/28/15. NIOCCS user manual URL: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/niosh/topics/coding/pdfs/nioccs_user_manual_2014_sept.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-01-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6ei5hSGpH]

Abbreviations

ACA: Affordable Care Act
EHRs: electronic health records
I&O: industry and occupation
NIOCCS: National Industry and Occupation Computerized Coding System
NIOSH: US National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health
SOC: Standard Occupational Classification
UNISON: University of Illinois Survey on Neighborhood Health

Edited by D Giordano; submitted 17.06.15; peer-reviewed by D Rohlman, H Wu, S Bhattacharya; comments to author 23.08.15; revised version received 28.09.15; accepted 09.10.15; published 15.02.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Schmitz M, Forst L Industry and Occupation in the Electronic Health Record: An Investigation of the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health Industry and Occupation Computerized Coding System JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e5 URL: <u>http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e5/</u> doi:10.2196/medinform.4839 PMID:26878932



©Matthew Schmitz, Linda Forst. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 15.02.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Disruptive Innovation: Implementation of Electronic Consultations in a Veterans Affairs Health Care System

Gouri Gupte^{1*}, PhD, MHA; Varsha Vimalananda^{2,3*}, MD; Steven R Simon^{4,5,6,7*}, MD, MPH; Katerina DeVito^{8*}, MSc; Justice Clark⁵, BS; Jay D Orlander^{5,9*}, MD, MPH

¹School of Public Health, Department of Health Policy and Management, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

²Center for Healthcare Organization and Implementation Research (CHOIR), Edith Nourse Rogers Memorial Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Bedford, MA, United States

³Section of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, School of Medicine, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

⁴VA Boston Healthcare System, Center for Healthcare Organization and Implementation Research (CHOIR), Boston, MA, United States

⁵VA Boston Healthcare System, Section of General Internal Medicine, Boston, MA, United States

⁶Brigham and Women's Hospital, Division of General Internal Medicine and Primary Care, Boston, MA, United States

⁷Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

⁸Harvard School of Public Health, Department of Nutrition, Boston, MA, United States

⁹School of Medicine, Section of General Internal Medicine, Boston University, Boston, MA, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Gouri Gupte, PhD, MHA School of Public Health Department of Health Policy and Management Boston University Room 264 715 Albany Street Boston, MA, 02118 United States Phone: 1 617 414 1426 Fax: 1 617 638 5374 Email: gourig@bu.edu

Abstract

Background: Electronic consultations (e-consults) offer rapid access to specialist input without the need for a patient visit. E-consult implementation began in 2011 at VA Boston Healthcare System (VABHS). By early 2013, e-consults were available for all clinical services. In this implementation, the requesting clinician selects the desired consultation within the electronic health record (EHR) ordering menu, which creates an electronic form that is pre-populated with patient demographic information and allows free-text entry of the reason for consult. This triggers a message to the requesting clinician and requested specialty, thereby enabling bidirectional clinician-clinician communication.

Objective: The aim of this study is to examine the utilization of e-consults in a large Veterans Affairs (VA) health care system.

Methods: Data from the electronic health record was used to measure frequency of e-consult use by provider type (physician or nurse practitioner (NP) and/or physician assistant), and by the requesting and responding specialty from January 2012 to December 2013. We conducted chart reviews for a purposive sample of e-consults and semi-structured interviews with a purposive sample of clinicians and hospital leaders to better characterize the process, challenges, and usability of e-consults.

Results: A total of 7097 e-consults were identified, 1998 from 2012 and 5099 from 2013. More than one quarter (27.56%, 1956/7097) of the e-consult requests originated from VA facilities in New England other than VABHS and were excluded from subsequent analysis. Within the VABHS e-consults (72.44%, 5141/7097), variability in frequency and use of e-consults across provider types and specialties was found. A total of 64 NPs requested 2407 e-consults (median 12.5, range 1-415). In contrast, 448 physicians (including residents and fellows) requested 2349 e-consults (median 2, range 1-116). More than one third (37.35%, 1920/5141) of e-consults were sent from primary care to specialists. While most e-consults reflected a request for specialist input to a generalist's question in diagnosis or management in the ambulatory setting, we identified creative uses of e-consults, including

requests for face-to-face appointments and documentation of pre-operative chart reviews; moreover, 7.00% (360/5141) of the e-consults originated from our sub-acute and chronic care inpatient units. In interviews, requesting providers reported high utility and usability. Specialists recognized the value of e-consults but expressed concerns about additional workload.

Conclusions: The e-consult mechanism is frequently utilized for its initial intended purpose. It has also been adopted for unexpected clinical and administrative uses, developing into a "disruptive innovation" and highlighting existing gaps in mechanisms for provider communication. Further investigation is needed to characterize optimal utilization of e-consults within specialty and the medical center, and what features of the e-consult program, other than volume, represent valid measures of access and quality care.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e6) doi:10.2196/medinform.4801

KEYWORDS

remote consultations; clinical communication; electronic consultation; telehealth; clinical information; decision making, telemonitoring; eHealth infrastructures

Introduction

Electronic consultations (e-consults) can be broadly defined as a platform for provider-provider consultation facilitated by health information technology such as an electronic health record (EHR) or Web-based portal. E-consults are most frequently used by primary care providers (PCPs) to access specialist input on clinical questions that can be addressed through chart review, thereby avoiding the need for a patient visit to the specialty clinic [1-3]. Generally, the intent of e-consults is to improve efficiency and overall quality of care by increasing access to specialty input while reducing unnecessary face-to-face visits [4-8].

While e-consults are a promising innovation, adoption is not widespread [3]. However, with health care reform in the United States and beyond [9], models of integrated care delivery may incentivize institutions to develop e-consult programs to increase access to specialty care while limiting costs [10]. Successful implementation will require a better understanding of how e-consults are being used and the reasons for those uses among both requesters, who are typically PCPs, and responders, who are typically specialists [3,4,11]. Ultimately, patients, clinicians, and policy-makers will need to know how e-consults influence the quality, safety, and cost of health care.

E-consults are a key component of the US Veterans Affairs (VA) health care system's efforts to improve access to specialty care for Veterans, many of whom need to travel long distances to see their providers [8,12-16]. To gain insight into the ongoing rollout and implementation of e-consults across VA, we studied e-consult usage in a large VA health care system. We used quantitative and qualitative methods to characterize the various ways e-consults are used and to explore clinicians' and hospital leaders' attitudes and motivations underlying the patterns observed.

Methods

Study Design

An observational quality improvement study using mixed-methods was conducted. We extracted data from the EHR to quantify e-consult usage over time, by provider type (physician or nurse practitioner (NP) and/or physician assistant),

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e6/
```

and by specialty. We then used qualitative methods to explore both common and unexpected uses of e-consults. Our study utilized the mixed-methods sequential explanatory design described by Creswell and others [17,18]. This design involves collecting and analyzing first quantitative and then qualitative data in two consecutive phases within one study. The second phase builds on the first, in that the qualitative data and analysis help to explain the quantitative results obtained earlier. In our study, we conducted quantitative data collection and analysis to describe the patterns of e-consults use. We identified wide variation in uptake among users, as well as several unexpected patterns of use between and within services. We then used two qualitative methods to help explain our quantitative findings. We purposefully selected both high and low e-consult users as well as administrators, and interviewed them to better understand the reasons for variation in uptake across individuals, and to understand reasons for unexpected uses.

The primary analysis was conducted by three team members (GG, VV, and JC) and was reviewed with the entire study team. This analysis by the project team was cycled back and forth between individual cases and comparisons across cases to capture evolving themes and to understand the dynamics among users of e-consults. Throughout this process, the project team revisited the full interview notes for more detailed analysis on points of interest and to pursue hypotheses.

Setting

VA Boston Healthcare System (VABHS) is a tertiary care system consisting of three main campuses and five community-based outpatient clinics. VABHS provides primary care through a patient-centered medical home model to over 32,000 Veterans with more than 750,000 outpatient visits annually. The main campuses provide acute inpatient care, transitional, palliative, hospice, and nursing-home levels of care, as well as an extensive portfolio of specialized ambulatory procedures and consultative specialty clinics. VABHS is an academic center with multiple affiliations with health care training institutions, hosting hundreds of students, residents, and fellows each year. VABHS is the main referral center for five New England states.

Implementation of e-Consults at VABHS

In January 2011, e-consults were launched at VABHS for selected medical specialties [8,15]. The Department of Medicine

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

promoted use through discussions with primary care leadership and emails to PCPs describing the availability and purpose of e-consults. By early 2013, e-consults had expanded to all clinical services, including all surgical specialties, mental health, and pharmacy with the exception of radiology. Teledermatology was not included as it has been used at VABHS for utilizing collection, storing, and forwarding of new images, and is considered another type of health information technology application. Clinicians are able to request an e-consult in the same way they request a face-to-face consultation, by requesting the service from a menu within the EHR. Certain specialties also accept e-consults from other VA facilities in New England.

Although e-consults in most health care systems are intended for PCPs to request specialty consultations [3,10,19], the VA platform allows any provider with ordering privileges to request an e-consult [20]. The clinician selects the desired consultation within the EHR ordering menu, which creates an electronic form that is pre-populated with patient demographic information and allows free-text entry of the reason for consult. The EHR has a built-in function that allows staff and clinicians to add comments in a separate free-text field within the consultation request. This triggers a message to the requesting clinician and thereby enabling requested specialty, bidirectional clinician-clinician communication. Each specialty has the ability to tailor the e-consult form to solicit or require specific information elements from the ordering clinician. For example, some surgical specialties require the ordering clinician to indicate whether the patient is taking anti-coagulant medications, which would need to be considered before a surgical procedure. Once the ordering clinician completes and electronically signs the request for consultation, it is delivered electronically to the requested specialty. Each specialty routes the incoming consultation requests according to its own preferences. For example, some specialties have a clerk perform an initial review of all consultation requests before forwarding them to individual specialist physicians, while others have one or more clinicians receiving all the consultation requests directly from the ordering clinicians. Consultants can choose to convert an e-consult to a request for a face-to-face visit, or vice versa [21]. Responding providers receive workload credit, a measurement of clinician work that is used within VA for resource allocation, based upon relative value units for each e-consult completed. In February 2014, VA approved the allocation of workload credit to e-consults based on self-reported time spent completing the e-consult in three discrete ranges (1) less than 15 minutes; (2) 15-30 minutes; and (3) greater than 30 minutes. These quantities correspond to so-called levels 2, 3, and 4 for outpatient visit complexity. Responding providers are expected to answer e-consults within three working days.

Data Collection and Analysis

We used the VA EHR to extract quantitative data from January 2012 to December 2013. Data included information on the sending and receiving provider type and specialty, and the date and time of actions on each e-consult. All specialties except radiology participated in the usage of e-consults at the point of the data collection. The date and time stamps allowed us to calculate time to completion, measured as the elapsed time between the signature of the requesting clinician on the e-consult request and the signature of the clinician providing consultation on the completed e-consult form. We used findings from the quantitative data to inform 30-minute, semi-structured interviews with frequent and less frequent requesters and responders and both clinical specialty and hospital leadership in order to better understand e-consult utilization as well as barriers and facilitators of use. We contacted and interviewed 17 medical doctors (MDs), 9 NPs, 1 doctor of pharmacy, and 4 hospital leaders (including 2 chiefs of specialties) for a total of 31 providers from 21 specialties. All individuals we contacted agreed to participate. Using a semi-structured interview guide, we asked providers about their knowledge, usage, experience, and feedback related to e-consults. We asked leadership about the strategies used for promoting e-consult implementation and uptake, assessment methods, and future plans. Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim for analysis. We held team meetings to identify thematic categories related to our project goals, refine their meaning, discuss alternative interpretations, and reach an agreement on representative quotations for each category.

This work was reviewed by the VABHS Institutional Review Board and was determined to be quality improvement rather than human subjects' research.

Results

Quantitative Findings

Our dataset contained information on a total of 7097 e-consults, representing all VABHS e-consults during the study period. In 2012, 1998 (28.15%, 1998/7097) e-consults were completed, compared with 5099 (71.85%, 5099/7097) in 2013, representing a 150% year-to-year increase. More than one quarter (27.56%, 1956/7097) of the e-consult requests originated from VA facilities in New England other than VABHS. Further analyses were limited to the 5141 e-consults originating within VABHS.

The distribution of clinical locations from where e-consults originated within VABHS are displayed in Table 1. More than one-third of the requests for e-consults (37.35%, 1920/5141) originated in primary care, representing the single largest requesting specialty. Nearly one-third (32.0%, 1645/5141) of the e-consults were directed to general surgery and surgical subspecialties.



Table 1. Distribution of e-consults within VABHS by location from where the consult originates from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013 (N=5141).

Specialties		Number of e-consults sent, n (%)
Medicine		2318 (45.09)
	Primary care	1920 (37.35)
	Other medical sub-specialties ^a	398 (7.74)
Surgery		1757 (34.18)
	Orthopedics	634 (12.33)
	Pre-admission testing clinic	370 (7.20)
	General surgery	211 (4.10)
	Other surgical sub-specialties ^b	542 (10.54)
Other		1066 (20.74)
	Sub-acute chronic and inpatient care	365 (7.10)
	Medical acute care	136 (2.65)
	Mental health/psychiatry	75 (1.46)
	Other sub-specialties ^c	490 (9.53)

^aMedical sub-specialties include pulmonary (2.12%, 109/5141), cardiology (1.44%, 74/5141), gastroenterology (1.09%, 56/5141), geriatrics (0.70%, 36/5141), renal (0.58%, 30/5141), rheumatology (0.49%, 25/5141), oncology (0.35%, 18/5141), sleep (0.31%, 16/5141), post-discharge clinic (0.23%, 12/5141), hematology (0.18%, 9/5141), infectious disease (0.12%, 6/5141), dermatology (0.06%, 3/5141), allergy (0.04%, 2/5141), endocrinology (0.02%, 1/5141), and palliative care (0.02%, 1/5141).

^bSurgical sub-specialties include optometry (2.49%, 128/5141), ear nose and throat (2.22%, 114/5141), urology (1.50%, 77/5141), ophthalmology (1.09%, 56/5141), thoracic (0.97%, 50/5141), vascular (0.41%, 21/5141), gynecology (0.31%, 16/5141), podiatry (0.21%, 11/5141), bariatric (0.11%, 6/5141), cardiac surgery (0.08%, 4/5141), and plastic surgery (0.06%, 3/5141).

^cOther includes administrative (2.82%, 145/5141), undefined (1.24%, 64/5141), neurology (1.19%, 61/5141), urgent care (1.46%, 75/5141), spinal cord injury (1.09%, 56/5141), radiology (0.78%, 40/5141), pharmacy (0.62%, 32/5141), surgical acute care (0.49%, 25/5141), rehab medicine (0.31%, 16/5141), anesthesia (0.19%, 10/5141), occupational health (0.14%, 7/5141), audiology (0.08%, 4/5141), dental (0.12%, 6/5141), nutrition (0.04%, 2/5141), prosthetics (0.04%, 2/5141), and radiation therapy (0.02%, 1/5141).

The median time to completion across specialties was 2.2 working days (range 0.8-56). A subset of e-consults (45.77%, 2353/5141) included consultants' indication of time spent completing the e-consult. Most (83.00%, 1953/2353) indicated that they spent less than 15 minutes, while 11.00% (259/2353) spent 15-30 minutes and 5.00% (141/2353) spent more than 30 minutes completing the e-consult. We identified variability in the number of e-consults requested by individual clinicians. A total of 64 NPs requested 2407 e-consults (median 12.5, range 1-415). In contrast, 448 physicians (including residents and fellows) requested 2349 e-consults (median 2, range 1-116). A total of 385 e-consults, representing 7.49% (385/5141) of all e-consults during the study period, were submitted by staff members other than NPs and physicians. Department of Medicine physicians requested a median of 2.0 e-consults (range 1-103), while NPs in Medicine requested a median of 5.0 e-consults (range 1-88).

The distribution of specialties at VABHS receiving the most e-consults requests is displayed in Figure 1. The medical specialties consulted most frequently were cardiology (13.73%, 706/5141), hematology (9.92%, 510/5141), sleep medicine (9.16%, 471/5141), gastroenterology (6.44%, 331/5141), and pulmonary (5.72%, 294/5141). Frequently consulted specialties within surgery included orthopedics (12.92%, 664 /5141) and ophthalmology (2.57%, 132/5141). We unexpectedly identified a number of e-consults submitted within one specialty. For example, 27.72% (487/1757) of e-consults to surgery and surgical specialties were submitted by a clinician in orthopedics to the orthopedics service (ie, an intra-specialty e-consult). These intra-specialty e-consults to orthopedics accounted for 9.47% (487/5141) of all e-consults within the VABHS (see Figure 1). Similarly, 5.74% (101/1757) of e-consults to surgery and surgical specialties were submitted by optometry to ophthalmology, while 1.76% (31/1757) of e-consults to surgery and surgical specialties were submitted by ophthalmology to optometry.

Gupte et al

Figure 1. Distribution of e-consults within VABHS by specialties receiving the most e-consult requests from January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2013 (N=5141).



Qualitative Findings

Unanticipated Uses of e-Consults

The flexibility of the e-consult mechanism was often considered an advantage by specialists, as each specialty could develop its own triage and response mechanism. This flexibility also allowed adaption of the e-consult mechanism for several uses that were not originally intended. Quantitative data had revealed a number of e-consults submitted within the same specialty, or within two divisions of the same specialty. For example, we identified numerous e-consults requested from optometry to ophthalmology and vice-versa. Upon inspection of their content and interviewing providers, we found the majority of these e-consults were submitted to facilitate appointment scheduling. Some were scheduling requests within the same specialty at VABHS, while others were requests for assistance in scheduling post-ophthalmologic follow-ups at VA sites closer to patients' homes.

We identified 588 within-specialty e-consults, particularly among surgical specialties. Through chart review and interviews we found that the majority of these within-specialty e-consults, most frequently occurring in orthopedics, but also in general surgery and other surgical specialties, had been adapted to document and facilitate pre-operative assessments. We ascertained that NPs would generate an e-consult to themselves to document a detailed pre-operative chart review. Based upon this review, NPs often solicited consultation from other specialties through additional e-consults to address issues such as pre-operative evaluation of cardiac risk ("cardiac clearance") and pre-operative medication management (eg, anticoagulation). This work occurred prior to scheduling the patient for the surgical procedure and prior to the NP obtaining a formal history and conducting a physical examination in the pre-operative

RenderX

testing clinic; clinicians explained that the intention was to decrease the likelihood that scheduled elective procedures would need to be delayed. Prior to implementation of the e-consult system, NPs documented their chart review in various locations of the medical record. The e-consult system provided a uniform and easy-to-find location for such documentation that also ensured documentation of the clinical work completed (ie, workload credit). Benefit to patients was noted, as one surgical subspecialty chief said, "I think they (patients) benefit by having all their care coordinated before they come down here, too, so they don't have to keep coming back multiple times."

Benefits of e-Consults From Primary Care Providers' Perspective

PCPs that used e-consults frequently were unanimous in the opinion that e-consults were easy to use, useful, and increased timeliness of and access to specialty care. As one provider said, "I'm a huge fan of it and a big advocate." PCPs reported that placing e-consults was straightforward and that they were "pretty easy to find in the EHR." The free-text format of the e-consult allowed a welcome flexibility in writing the reason for consultation with greater or lesser amounts of detail, depending on the clinical situation. The usefulness of e-consults was related to both the rapidity of the specialist response and the provision of a mechanism for asking simple clinical questions. One PCP noted, "I would define an e-consult as a higher-level question for a specialist that could be safely answered by a chart review." Having a form of communication that was clinically oriented but asynchronous in nature seemed to empower PCPs to seek formal specialty consultation in circumstances where they previously would seek consultation informally such as via a hallway conversation, an e-mail, or phone call, often labeled curbside consultations [20]. As a provider commented, "Things that historically would have been curb-sided can now be

documented as a formal conversation." PCPs also noted that they now found themselves completing e-consult requests in situations where they previously might not have pursued specialist input due to barriers in reaching a specialist colleague and when formal referral of the patient for face-to-face visit did not seem indicated.

The easy availability of e-consults was particularly valuable for primary care NPs at community-based outpatient clinics. For these providers, the geographic distance between themselves and the hospital-based specialists generally precluded access to specialist input through informal conversations. Most PCPs perceived that e-consults resulted in fewer face-to-face consultations, more efficient medication management, expedited diagnostic testing in lieu of or in preparation for a specialist. We also interviewed two providers who infrequently used e-consults who stated their reason for low use was because they were unfamiliar with the process itself.

Benefits of e-Consults From Specialists' Perspective

Like PCPs, specialists noted a major benefit of e-consults to be fewer unnecessary face-to-face consultations. Specialists perceived more available appointment times for scheduling patients who did require face-to-face visits. As one specialist said, "It saves patients a lot of time, it makes us more efficient because we can take care of the patients who really need our services and are really sick, and, ultimately, you can probably reduce manpower too." Specialists particularly valued having the ability to convert face-to-face consultation requests to e-consults when they deemed it appropriate.

Converting face-to-face consultation requests to e-consults was most prevalent in sleep medicine. Sleep medicine physicians, faced with extremely long wait times for clinic appointments, found that in many cases chart review was sufficient to identify which patients were at high risk for having obstructive sleep apnea, and therefore required a sleep study. Conversion of face-to-face consultation requests to e-consults allowed the sleep medicine specialist to render an opinion and order a sleep study for the patient within a few days without the need for a face-to-face evaluation. Sleep medicine physicians indicated that this approach was reported to improved clinic access and dramatically reduced time to ordering and completing a sleep study. In many cases, patients would be diagnosed and started on therapy before having their first live face-to-face consultation visit in the sleep medicine clinic. Sleep medicine physicians did question whether the quality of care and adherence to treatment would be improved if patients had been seen by them before diagnostic testing was completed and therapy initiated.

Specialists discussed the potential for e-consults to support PCP education, in that the consult questions often represented gaps in clinical knowledge that could be addressed with detailed information that might later be used as a reference. They noted that success of this strategy depended on the engagement of the referring provider in the learning process and that some clinicians made nearly identical referrals repeatedly. This pattern was observed most commonly among e-consults submitted by NPs in surgical specialties to medical subspecialties, such as hematology and cardiology, as part of a pre-operative assessment.

Concerns About e-Consult Implementation and Impact on Workflow

While PCPs did not report concerns about e-consults, specialists receiving the highest number of e-consults reported workflow and workload issues due to the increase in volume overtime. Specifically, they complained about the lack of a pre-implementation evaluation of e-consults' impact on the work of the section specialty and the individual providers. E-consults originating outside of VABHS were particularly challenging and time-consuming to complete, since the mechanism for reviewing relevant information outside the main facility involves use of an associated EHR software package that is not easily searchable for specific data. Satisfaction with e-consults varied greatly between individual specialists. For example, a hematologist felt his specialty was particularly well suited to e-consultation and estimated that the hematology unit completed nearly 50% of all new requests for consultations via the e-consult process. In contrast, another individual specialist described e-consults as "an unfunded mandate" created by leadership, which was poorly integrated within the existing workload and fraught with potential legal concerns based on providing advice on a patient who was never examined in person.

One specialist reported that e-consults could contribute to breaks in continuity of care, as the respondent to an e-consult may be different from the specialist who previously saw a given patient in person. Many specialists noted that similar questions were asked repeatedly by the same providers, suggesting to them that the purpose of the e-consult for some individuals was documentation rather than clinical support and knowledge transfer. While they understood that some providers may want documentation due to a lack of clinical confidence, the e-consults for this purpose created excess and unwelcome work for some consultants.

Leadership Engagement to Promote e-Consult Usage

Interviews with hospital and department-level leadership revealed strong enthusiasm for e-consults. One clinical service chief noted "It allows for better triaging of consults and in theory may be improving access to subspecialty clinics." Leaders promoted e-consults in a manner similar to how they encouraged their constituencies to embrace other information technology initiatives to improve specialty access, such as telehealth. Under this model, service-level leadership delegated staff to act as champions for e-consults across clinical services. Two hospital leaders discussed the challenges of implementing e-consults, noting "There was a lot of infrastructure building for e-consults and a lot of education that had to be done." They described a need for more effective strategies to encourage uptake across providers and the potential benefit of incorporating structured fields with mandatory data elements in the e-consult forms to ensure that relevant information is included both by providers requesting consultation and those providing it.

Hospital leaders were not explicitly involved in measuring or tracking the use of e-consults. Use across the medical center

XSL•FC

was monitored at the regional Veterans Integrated Service Network (VISN) level only at the time of our interviews. They understood that the number of e-consults is tracked by specialty, with and considered a proxy for access to specialist expertise. VABHS hospital administrators did not have an available mechanism to provide a more detailed assessment of the content, quality or impact of e-consults on an ongoing basis.

Recommendations From Users of e-Consults

We closed our semi-structured interviews by asking for recommendations to improve the e-consult process. PCPs suggested that leadership should reach out to more providers, specialties, and specialists to improve buy-in of the e-consult process and increase both the number of clinicians requesting e-consults and the number of specialties providing consultation by this mechanism. Specialists suggested specialty-specific discussions to address the perception of an "unfunded mandate," individual performance measurement, legal issues, workflow consideration, and measurement of outcome metrics by the usage of e-consults to create more awareness and engagement. One particular request made during the interviews was about clarity on how credit for work completed is assigned for consultants, as only the lowest level of workload credit was allowed when e-consults were initially launched. VA addressed this in February 2013 with nationwide approval of three different levels of workload credit based upon self-reported time spent completing the e-consult (reported in the quantitative results above). Leadership discussed the need for better evaluation strategies, which could include patient satisfaction scores, provider feedback, process measures, and qualitative workflow impacts.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We undertook this quality-focused evaluation to characterize the usage of e-consults in a large VA health care system, and to describe how the experience of providers and hospital leaders shapes such use. Nearly one-third of e-consults originated from clinicians outside VABHS, representing robust use of the e-consult mechanism to improve specialty access for patients at locations with limited specialty services. As expected, PCPs were the most frequent requesters of e-consults. Using qualitative methods to better understand patterns observed in our quantitative data, we identified innovative and unexpected ways that e-consults are being used to expedite evaluation of sleep disorders, for administrative communication between related specialties, and for pre-operative documentation within a specialty. Overall, both PCPs and specialists felt that e-consults improved timeliness of specialty input and reduced unnecessary face-to-face consultations. PCPs were generally highly satisfied with e-consults, while specialists had concerns related to workload and workflow.

As reported in other health care systems, we found that cardiology and hematology were frequent recipients of e-consults [19,22,23]. Further study is needed to determine whether this finding represents an overall high volume of patient need for such services, particular suitability of e-consults to these specialties, or a combination of these and other factors.

```
http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e6/
```

The particularly high use of e-consults in sleep medicine and orthopedics was largely explained by the specific use of e-consults as adaptations to other system shortcomings; in the former, limited specialty clinic availability, and in the latter, a lack of means to document clinical work that did not include a patient visit. As noted in other studies, dermatology e-consults were not observed in the data as they present as "teledermatology" utilizing collection, storing, and forwarding of new images, and are considered another type of health information technology application [5]. Many of the e-consults to ophthalmology, the second most common recipient in surgical specialties, were requests from optometry for assistance in arranging logistically complicated post-operative plans. The adoption of e-consults for uses other than the originally intended purpose suggests that e-consults in our health care system have become a "disruptive innovation."

Disruptive usage begins when an innovative product takes root among a group of users because it addresses previously unmet needs [24-27]. As knowledge spreads about the utility of the innovation to address these unmet needs, the innovation rapidly garners support and utilization climbs [25]. Disruptive innovations are generally convenient, easy to use, and simpler than existing or prior systems [25,27]. In addition, they are aligned and blend with a pre-existing technology infrastructure; in the case of e-consults, the existing infrastructure is the EHR. E-consults have emerged within VA as a disruptive innovation in part because the existing infrastructure and clinical processes were sufficiently flexible to tolerate the innovation. The VA EHR allows any provider with ordering privileges to request an e-consult from any other service; any type of question or request could be entered into the free-text field, without constraint to specific clinical situations or diagnoses. Hence, the availability of e-consults has led to providers asking more questions of their specialty colleagues. Furthermore, each specialty has the flexibility to develop its own mode of triage and assignment of responsibility for responding to submitted e-consults.

We found a rapid increase in e-consult use since 2011, with high levels of satisfaction among requesters. Users have actively been promoting e-consult use amongst their peers, with the encouragement of clinical leadership. These users are applying e-consults in unexpected ways to address various shortcomings with existing processes; in short, the avid users are making e-consults a disruptive innovation. One result of disruptive innovation is that it identifies previously hidden needs in the current system [24-26]. Our work raises the question of whether unexpected uses of e-consults as workarounds for system needs represent appropriate use. Unexpected and unintended uses of e-consults should be explored in other health care settings, and as e-consult use expands, each health care system will need to develop protocols and policies for managing such unanticipated use and its consequences.

High satisfaction with e-consults among PCPs has been reported in studies of e-consult use in other health care systems. Consistent with those studies, PCPs in this study appreciated the ease of access to specialists, the timeliness of specialty input, and the perception of reduced travel for patients [3,10,28]. In comparison, we identified considerable variation in satisfaction

XSL•FO RenderX

among specialists, a finding that is also consistent with prior work [4,11,20,29]. While most specialists perceived a reduction in unnecessary face-to-face visits, some were concerned about overall higher workload due to increasing e-consult volume. Addressing specialists' concerns about the use of e-consults will be essential as this technology is expanded more broadly. The utility of e- consultation and ultimately the success of the e-consult program will depend in part on the willingness of specialists to answer appropriate e-consult requests as presented, rather than converting them to face-to-face consultations, and on the quality of the specialists' response itself. How specialists accept and respond to e-consults are, to some degree, functions of the types of questions being asked by requesters and by the perceived benefits of e-consultation to the specialist. Our work suggests that better communication between specialists, requesting providers, and leadership about the needs and expectations of each group would foster increased uptake among specialists. While not addressed directly in our interviews, the role of the patient in e-consults merits further examination.

Concurrent with our work, some tangible improvements in the use of e-consults occurred in our institution. During our interviews, we found that one specialty was unaware of the mechanisms for identifying incomplete consults (ie, those consults that were requested but unanswered). Through other interviews, we identified problems in routing of consults to incorrect staff in another service. In both cases, we provided a brief tutorial, improving the specialty's management of their e-consult load. We also provided feedback to our office of information systems on the menu within the EHR for selecting e-consults; this feedback led to reorganization of the types of e-consults in the menu, improving usability. While this study was not designed for rigorous evaluation of the effects of e-consults on clinical practice or outcomes. Our findings have been received with interest among primary care and specialist clinical leaders within our institution and in the regional network of VA facilities.

Limitations

We undertook this project as a quality improvement study in a single health care system within VA. Though the specifics of e-consult use may vary across sites, PCP-to-specialist use is a common finding. Numerous specialties were represented in our data, but in most of them there were a small number of specialist physicians actually involved in triaging and responding to e-consults, limiting the generalizability of our findings.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

RenderX

- 1. Chen AH, Yee HF. Improving primary care-specialty care communication: lessons from San Francisco's safety net: comment on "Referral and consultation communication between primary care and specialist physicians". Arch Intern Med 2011 Jan 10;171(1):65-67. [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2010.484] [Medline: 21220663]
- 2. Sankilampi U, Saari A, Laine T, Miettinen PJ, Dunkel L. Use of electronic health records for automated screening of growth disorders in primary care. JAMA 2013 Sep 11;310(10):1071-1072. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.218793] [Medline: 24026604]

However, our mixed-methods approach of starting with quantitative data, examining de-identified e-consults from frequent users, and following up with semi-structured interviews helped us better understand use, workflow, and variability. Examining data more broadly across VA and eventually to other health care systems would provide a more robust characterization of all these issues. Another possible limitation of our analysis is that we used an administrative database, which did not include certain information about e-consults, such as whether they were converted to or from face-to-face consults, or the time to answer. Thus, our count of the numbers of e-consults may underestimate the true quantity. However, since our aim was to identify trends in e-consult use, rather than absolute quantity, we do not believe inclusion of these e-consults would meaningfully change the trends we observed. Our analyses excluded more than one-fourth of the e-consults that were submitted from outside VABHS, as full information on these was not available at the time of the study. Future evaluations should explore the content and circumstances of these consults in comparison with those submitted within VABHS.

E-consults generate a modest amount of workload credit for those responding to the request for consultation, but this workload credit is an internal metric and not linked to insurance claims or any other external monitoring system. As such, there is no built-in audit system in place to assure quality or appropriateness of use. Our findings strongly suggest that the number of e-consults is not a valid metric for access to specialty care services, such that reliance on measures of volume is likely to result in erroneous conclusions about access to care. Specific examination of the clinical content of e-consults may be necessary to determine the extent to which this innovation is actually improving Veterans' access to high quality specialty care, a major goal of improving overall care at the VA [30].

Conclusions

Our study shows that e-consults facilitate access to specialty expertise for PCPs, but that use across clinical services has become more widespread than originally intended. Further investigation across other VA systems is warranted in order to identify best practices as well as pitfalls of the e-consult mechanism. Additional work is needed to define what features of an e-consult program represent valid measures of access and quality care, and what monitoring systems, if any, need to be implemented.

- Vimalananda VG, Gupte G, Seraj SM, Orlander J, Berlowitz D, Fincke BG, et al. Electronic consultations (e-consults) to improve access to specialty care: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Sep;21(6):323-330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15582108] [Medline: 25995331]
- Kim-Hwang JE, Chen AH, Bell DS, Guzman D, Yee HF, Kushel MB. Evaluating electronic referrals for specialty care at a public hospital. J Gen Intern Med 2010 Oct;25(10):1123-1128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1402-1] [Medline: 20512531]
- Keely E, Liddy C, Afkham A. Utilization, benefits, and impact of an e-consultation service across diverse specialties and primary care providers. Telemed J E Health 2013 Oct;19(10):733-738 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2013.0007] [Medline: 23980939]
- Scherpbier-de Haan ND, van Gelder VA, Van WC, Vervoort GM, Wetzels JF, de Grauw WJ. Initial implementation of a web-based consultation process for patients with chronic kidney disease. Ann Fam Med 2013;11(2):151-156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1494] [Medline: 23508602]
- 7. Wild K, Tanner C, Kaye J, Silbert L, Mansoor D, Boise L, et al. Electronic consults to facilitate specialty dementia assessment and care. Alzheimer's & Dementia 2012 Jul;8(4):P231. [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2012.05.610]
- 8. McAdams M, Cannavo L, Orlander J. Federal Practitioner. 2014. A medical specialty e-consult program in a VA health care system URL: <u>http://www.fedprac.com/view-pdf.html?file=uploads/media/031050026</u> [accessed 2016-01-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6eoFaKbmu]
- Blumenthal D, Dixon J. Health-care reforms in the USA and England: areas for useful learning. Lancet 2012 Oct 13;380(9850):1352-1357. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60956-8</u>] [Medline: <u>23063284</u>]
- Chen AH, Murphy EJ, Yee HF. eReferral--a new model for integrated care. N Engl J Med 2013 Jun 27;368(26):2450-2453. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp1215594</u>] [Medline: <u>23802515</u>]
- 11. Chaudhry R, Spurrier B, Wood D, LaRusso NF. Physician perspectives on electronic consultations for specialty care delivery for patients: implications for person-centered medicine. Int J Pers Cent Med 2012;2(3):453-457.
- 12. Singh H, Esquivel A, Sittig DF, Murphy D, Kadiyala H, Schiesser R, et al. Follow-up actions on electronic referral communication in a multispecialty outpatient setting. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Jan;26(1):64-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1501-z] [Medline: 20848235]
- Singh H, Petersen LA, Daci K, Collins C, Khan M, El-Serag HB. Reducing referral delays in colorectal cancer diagnosis: is it about how you ask? Qual Saf Health Care 2010 Oct;19(5):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/qshc.2009.033712] [Medline: 20584706]
- 14. Vasudevan M, Hurr S, Green M. Federal Practitioner. 2014. The clinical impact of electronic consultation in diabetes care URL: <u>http://www.fedprac.com/view-pdf.html?file=uploads/media/031030032</u> [accessed 2016-01-25] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6eoGBkszt</u>]
- 15. Orlander JD. Federal Practitioner. 2014. The rapid rise of e-consults across specialty care URL: <u>http://www.fedprac.com/home/article/the-rapid-rise-of-e-consults-across-specialty-care/776eb015fc8e449337e902a86dcb3806.html</u> [accessed 2016-01-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6eoG716yA]
- 16. Siepierski S. Federal Practitioner. 2013 Dec. E-consult experience: making health care more accessible and convenient for Veterans URL: <u>http://www.fedprac-digital.com/federalpractitioner/december_2013?pg=33</u> [accessed 2016-01-26] [WebCite Cache ID 6ep4yjCFj]
- 17. Creswell JW. Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Research. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson/Merrill Prentice Hall; 2005.
- 18. Tashakkori A, Teddlie C. Mixed Methodology: Combining Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 1998.
- 19. Malagrino GD, Chaudhry R, Gardner M, Kahn M, Speer L, Spurrier BR, et al. A study of 6,000 electronic specialty consultations for person-centered care at The Mayo Clinic. Int J Pers Cent Med 2012;2(3):266-266.
- Rodriguez KL, Burkitt KH, Bayliss NK, Skoko JE, Switzer GE, Zickmund SL, et al. Veteran, primary care provider, and specialist satisfaction with electronic consultation. JMIR Med Inform 2015;3(1):e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.3725] [Medline: 25589233]
- 21. Singh H, Esquivel A, Sittig DF, Murphy D, Kadiyala H, Schiesser R, et al. Follow-up actions on electronic referral communication in a multispecialty outpatient setting. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Jan;26(1):64-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1501-z] [Medline: 20848235]
- 22. Wasfy JH, Rao SK, Chittle MD, Gallen KM, Isselbacher EM, Ferris TG. Initial results of a cardiac e-consult pilot program. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014 Dec 23;64(24):2706-2707 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.09.061] [Medline: 25524348]
- North F, Uthke LD, Tulledge-Scheitel SM. Integration of e-consultations into the outpatient care process at a tertiary medical centre. J Telemed Telecare 2014 May 6;20(4):221-229. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X14533886</u>] [Medline: <u>24803274</u>]
- Christensen CM, Bohmer R, Kenagy J. Will disruptive innovations cure health care? Harv Bus Rev 2000;78(5):102-12, 199. [Medline: <u>11143147</u>]
- 25. Hwang J, Christensen CM. Disruptive innovation in health care delivery: a framework for business-model innovation. Health Aff (Millwood) 2008;27(5):1329-1335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.27.5.1329] [Medline: 18780919]

- 26. Christensen CM. Innovator's Dilemma: The Revolutionary Book That Will Change the Way You Do Business. New, NY: Harper Business; 2011.
- Doarn CR, Merrell RC. Are you a disruptor and is anyone paying attention? Telemed J E Health 2015 May;21(5):319-320. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2015.9992</u>] [Medline: <u>25955233</u>]
- Smith SA, Shah ND, Bryant SC, Christianson TJ, Bjornsen SS, Giesler PD, et al. Chronic care model and shared care in diabetes: randomized trial of an electronic decision support system. Mayo Clin Proc 2008 Jul;83(7):747-757. [doi: 10.4065/83.7.747] [Medline: 18613991]
- 29. Angstman KB, Adamson SC, Furst JW, Houston MS, Rohrer JE. Provider satisfaction with virtual specialist consultations in a family medicine department. Health Care Manag (Frederick) 2009;28(1):14-18. [doi: <u>10.1097/HCM.0b013e318196def8</u>] [Medline: <u>19225331</u>]
- 30. Blueprint for Excellence.: Department of Veterans Affairs Veterans Health Administration; 2014. URL: <u>http://www.va.gov/</u> <u>HEALTH/docs/VHA_Blueprint_for_Excellence.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-01-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6eoG03ARS]

Abbreviations

e-consult: electronic consultation EHR: electronic health record PCPs: primary care providers NP: nurse practitioner VA: Veterans Affairs VABHS: Veterans Affairs Boston Healthcare System

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.06.15; peer-reviewed by C Liddy, E Keely; comments to author 29.07.15; revised version received 07.08.15; accepted 25.08.15; published 12.02.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Gupte G, Vimalananda V, Simon SR, DeVito K, Clark J, Orlander JD Disruptive Innovation: Implementation of Electronic Consultations in a Veterans Affairs Health Care System JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e6 URL: <u>http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e6/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/medinform.4801</u> PMID:<u>26872820</u>

©Gouri Gupte, Varsha Vimalananda, Steven R Simon, Katerina DeVito, Justice Clark, Jay D Orlander. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 12.02.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Improving Inpatient Surveys: Web-Based Computer Adaptive Testing Accessed via Mobile Phone QR Codes

Tsair-Wei Chien^{1,2}, MBA; Weir-Sen Lin², MPH, PhD

¹Chi Mei Medical Center, Taiwan, Research Department, Chi Mei Medical Center, Taiwan, Taiwan
²Chia-Nan University of Pharmacy and Science, Department of Hospital and Health Care Administration, Chia-Nan University of Pharmacy and Science, Taiwan, Taiwan

Corresponding Author: Weir-Sen Lin, MPH, PhD Chia-Nan University of Pharmacy and Science Department of Hospital and Health Care Administration Number 60, Section 1, Erren Road, Rende District Tainan City 71710 Taiwan (R.O.C.) Phone: 886 +886 6 2664911 Fax: 886 +886 6 2664911 Email: weirsen@mail.cnu.edu.tw

Abstract

Background: The National Health Service (NHS) 70-item inpatient questionnaire surveys inpatients on their perceptions of their hospitalization experience. However, it imposes more burden on the patient than other similar surveys. The literature shows that computerized adaptive testing (CAT) based on item response theory can help shorten the item length of a questionnaire without compromising its precision.

Objective: Our aim was to investigate whether CAT can be (1) efficient with item reduction and (2) used with quick response (QR) codes scanned by mobile phones.

Methods: After downloading the 2008 inpatient survey data from the Picker Institute Europe website and analyzing the difficulties of this 70-item questionnaire, we used an author-made Excel program using the Rasch partial credit model to simulate 1000 patients' true scores followed by a standard normal distribution. The CAT was compared to two other scenarios of answering all items (AAI) and the randomized selection method (RSM), as we investigated item length (efficiency) and measurement accuracy. The author-made Web-based CAT program for gathering patient feedback was effectively accessed from mobile phones by scanning the QR code.

Results: We found that the CAT can be more efficient for patients answering questions (ie, fewer items to respond to) than either AAI or RSM without compromising its measurement accuracy. A Web-based CAT inpatient survey accessed by scanning a QR code on a mobile phone was viable for gathering inpatient satisfaction responses.

Conclusions: With advances in technology, patients can now be offered alternatives for providing feedback about hospitalization satisfaction. This Web-based CAT is a possible option in health care settings for reducing the number of survey items, as well as offering an innovative QR code access.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e8) doi:10.2196/medinform.4313

KEYWORDS

computer adaptive testing; patients' experience; partial credit model; consultation experience and perception; smart phone

Introduction

Patient reports are central to the evaluation of medical care, both in terms of treatment outcomes (ie, patient-reported outcomes and in terms of experiences of quality of care (ie, patient-reported experience measures) [1]. A quality standard

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e8/

RenderX

for patient experience in the United Kingdom's National Health Service (NHS) has been developed by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence [2,3]. The UK National Adult Inpatient Survey—UK NHS 70-item questionnaire—has been in use in Great Britain since 2002, gathering data from over 620,000 patients every year [4].

The first public reporting of the US equivalent of such surveys, the Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Provider and Systems (HCAHPS), began in 2008. HCAHPS collects more than 3.0 million completed surveys from 3912 hospitals every year. On average, more than 28,000 patients are surveyed every day about their recent hospital experience, and more than 8400 patients (approximately 30% response rate) complete the HCAHPS inpatient survey every day [5].

Research Questions

A concern reported in the literature is the burden on patients of answering all survey questions at one time [6-9]. More than 3.6 million patients completed mail-in surveys from the UK NHS (600,000 patients). The US survey (3.0 million respondents) required approximately 6 hours of time per month and cost approximately US \$70 per month [3] to examine people's health service experiences [10]. However, the UK NHS 70-item questionnaire is significantly longer than the US HCAHPS 25-item survey [11,12]. To reduce patient burden, it is first necessary to shorten the item length of the UK NHS inpatient questionnaire to increase response rates without compromising its assessment reliability [2,13].

Many studies [6-9] have reported that item response theory (IRT)-based computer adaptive testing (CAT) has the advantages of both long-form and short-form questionnaires [14-16] in precision and efficiency. Since many patients (or their guardians) already own mobile phones, which they are comfortable using, it makes sense to use them in hospitals and for hospital surveys. At this time, no studies have been published reporting online CAT via mobile phones in medical fields.

However, many skip items (see Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2) exist in the UK NHS 70-item questionnaire, which can be confusing and may perplex researchers on CAT implementation. Thus, our second aim was to tackle the problem of skip items in the UK NHS questionnaire and to implement the online CAT.

Rasch Partial Credit Model Applied to the Item Response Theory–Based Computer Adaptive Testing

Many researchers have contributed to the dichotomous [6] and polytomous [7-9] formats used by CAT. The UK NHS questionnaire comprises items with different categories (eg, 3 and 6 categories for Items 40 and 41; see Multimedia Appendix 1). It is suited for applying the Rasch partial credit model (PCM), that is, items with a different number of responses and with an equal discrimination parameter [17], or the generalized partial credit model, that is, items with a different number of responses and with unequal discrimination parameters [18], if those items form a unidimensional construct. None was jointly available for a comparison of precision and efficiency differences of CAT estimation with the aforementioned methods commonly used in literature, such as PCM, answering all items (AAI), and the randomized selection method (RSM).

Further, as mobile phones have become ubiquitous in the health care setting [19], it is important to offer an alternative online Rasch PCM-CAT assessment to gather hospitalization experience feedback from patients. We propose access to the questionnaire using a quick response (QR) code via mobile phone.

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e8/

XSL•FO

Aims of this Study

The aims of the current study were to investigate whether CAT can (1) be efficient with item reduction and (2) be used with QR codes used for mobile phones.

Methods

Study Data

The UK NHS 70-item questionnaire regarding patient experience was downloaded from the NHS official website [11]. The item and its threshold difficulties (lower summation scores for an item imply that it was more difficult for examinees to respond) were roughly determined by hand computation according to the key findings report for the 2008 inpatient survey [20]. We simulated an interactive metric of 1000 persons (following a normal distribution [$\sim N(0,1)$], called true scores) and 70 items (estimated with aforementioned item difficulties) using the Rasch PCM model [17,21]. Nine items originally designed to automatically select different paths were set with different probabilities by the authors. The remaining 61 items were allocated different weighted scores (see Multimedia Appendix 1). A set of 24 items (ie, regarding sections of the ward, doctors, nurses, patient care, and treatment) was extracted from the UK NHS 70-item questionnaire to be the CAT item pool (see Multimedia Appendix 2). We assumed that the set of 24 items is unidimensional based on the report from the previous study paper [13]. Because these 9 conditional selection path items make CAT difficult to design for a computer, they were excluded from the CAT item pool. Multimedia Appendix 3 shows the file layout and fields we designed for use with the datasets.

Unidimensionality

The Rasch model, named after Georg Rasch [22], is a psychometric model for analyzing categorical data as a mathematical function of the trade-off interaction between (1) the respondent's latent trait (eg, hospitalization perception level in this study) and (2) the item difficulties. The dichotomous Rasch model and its extensions (eg, family models: rating scale model [23], PCM [17]) are successfully used in other areas, including the health profession [24] and market research [25], because of their general applicability [26].

The study data need to meet the following criteria to fit the Rasch model: the infit and outfit mean square errors (MNSQ) of all items are 1.5 for unidimensionality and 0.5 for local independence [27]. Simulation data were generated fitting to the Rasch PCM model [21].

Task 1: Investigating Computer Adaptive Testing Efficiency and Accuracy

Three scenarios were designed to compare their efficiency and accuracy on the UK NHS 70-item questionnaire: (1) the AAI (answering all items on those 24 items), (2) the RSM (randomized selection method to draw 12 items), and (3) the CAT (at least 5 items and stop at person reliability of 0.80) responding to the 24-item pool.

We applied CAT stop rules, such as when person reliability reaches $0.80 (= [1 - SEM_{pi}] \times [1 - SEM_{pi}]$, where SEM_{pi} =person

standard error of measurement on item $i=1/variance_{pi}=1/information_{pi}$), and when the last 5 average consecutive person estimation change is less than 0.05 after the minimum necessary completed number of items is ≥ 5 .

In addition, we ran an author-made VBA (Visual Basic for Applications) module in Microsoft Excel to conduct a simulation study (see Multimedia Appendix 4). Another Web-based CAT

Figure 1. Study flowchart.

Start UK NHS 70-item Item Questionnaire Calibration True score~N(0,1) 1,000 Persons Simulation Task 1 Rasch CAT AAI RSM PCM-CAT Raw score Estimated logit ompare Comparison of Item Length Correlation Efficiency, accuracy QR-code CAT on Smartphone Randomized Initial item Task 2 Response Measure Estimated Using MLE No Stop 1.Person Item Criteria Reliability Pool (MSE) 2. Min. item Yes Max. Length Information End Item



The Conditional Path Skip Items Designed on UK **NHS-70**

The path skip item was automatically redirected to the next according to the respective route designed in the field of the item dataset (see Multimedia Appendix 3). To illustrate Item 39 in Multimedia Appendix 1, two route fields were filled with Items 40 and 41 in response to the respective answer code (eg. 1 or 2). In contrast, the route fields for those ordinary non-skip items were kept empty (or a null value).

An Online Computer Adaptive Testing Routine for Gathering Feedback From Patients

An online routine was designed for patients to report their perceptions of their inpatient hospitalization experience. The

was programmed for use on mobile phones. The maximum likelihood estimation algorithm [28] (see Multimedia Appendix 4) was used to (1) estimate person measures on the three scenarios, (2) compute correlation coefficients between estimated person measures among the three scenarios and the original true scores to verify CAT accuracy, and (3) analyze CAT efficiency of item length shortened by CAT compared with the other two scenarios (ie, AAI and RSM) (see Figure 1).

3.Outfit MNSQ 4. Change difference

UK NHS 70-item questionnaire (see Multimedia Appendix 2) was uploaded to website. The first CAT item is randomly selected from the item pool (ie, Items 15-38) after Item 14 is answered. The next item to be answered is the item with the maximal variance in the remaining items according to the provisional person ability [7,29]. Multimedia Appendix 5 shows details on the item selection rules and the Excel VBA codes for the conditional path items. All the responses are then automatically saved on the study website (see Multimedia Appendix 3).

Results

Items Fit to the Rasch Model

The set of 24 items (see Table 1) was taken as unidimensional due to simulation data fitting the Rasch model's requirement with values of infit and outfit MNSQ between 0.5 and 1.5 [21].

Each item has its own threshold difficulties (see Multimedia Appendix 4).

Table 1. The 24 items selected from the UK NHS 70-item questionnaire.

No.	Item	Threshold ^a	Difficulty ^b	In MNSQ	Out MNSQ
15	Were you ever bothered by noise at night from other patients?	1	2.17	0.96	1.00
16	Were you ever bothered by noise at night from hospital staff?	1	1.84	1.03	1.11
17	In your opinion, how clean was the hospital room or ward that you were in?	3	-0.56	0.97	0.98
18	How clean were the toilets and bathrooms that you used in the hospital?	3	-2.20	0.97	0.98
19	Did you feel threatened during your stay in the hospital by other patients or visitors?	1	1.88	0.97	0.98
20	Were hand-wash gels available for patients and visitors to use?	2	1.33	1.02	1.02
21	How would you rate the hospital food?	3	-1.72	0.96	1.02
22	Were you offered a choice of food?	2	-0.04	0.98	0.98
23	Did you get enough help from staff to eat your meals?	2	0.98	1.02	1.01
24	When you had important questions to ask a doctor, did you get answers that you could understand?	2	-1.01	1.03	1.01
25	Did you have confidence and trust in the doctors treating you?	2	-0.86	1.06	1.07
26	Did doctors talk in front of you as if you weren't there?	2	-1.15	0.96	1.00
27	When you had important questions to ask a nurse, did you get answers that you could understand?	2	1.48	0.99	0.99
28	Did you have confidence and trust in the nurses treating you?	2	1.26	1.01	1.01
29	Did nurses talk in front of you as if you weren't there?	2	-1.46	1.04	1.05
30	In your opinion, were there enough nurses on duty to care for you in the hospi- tal?	2	-1.40	0.94	0.92
31	Sometimes in a hospital, a member of staff will say one thing and another will say something quite different. Did this happen to you?	2	-1.22	0.96	0.95
32	Were you involved as much as you wanted to be in decisions about your care and treatment?	2	0.56	1.02	1.02
33	Did you have confidence in the decisions made about your condition or treat- ment?	2	-0.78	0.96	0.96
34	How much information about your condition or treatment was given to you?	2	1.48	1.04	1.04
35	Did you find someone on the hospital staff to talk to about your worries and fears?	2	-0.77	1.04	1.04
36	Do you feel you got enough emotional support from hospital staff during your stay?	2	-0.75	0.96	0.95
37	Were you given enough privacy when discussing your condition or treatment?	2	1.58	0.98	0.98
38	Were you given enough privacy when being examined or treated?	2	-0.65	1.01	1.02

^aThreshold denotes the number of categories on each item, for example, 2 for three categories and 1 for two categories. ^bDifficulty represents item difficulty in a unit of logit (=log odds).

Task 1: Investigating Computer Adaptive Testing Efficiency and Accuracy

Table 2 indicates that the CAT relates the true scores (r=.97 in column 2) and the AAI (r=.97 in columns 3 and 4) to a high association, indicating that the CAT earns an equivalent accuracy compared to the AAI and a higher accuracy than the RSM (in column 5 of the estimation section). The summation scores have a higher correlation (r=.98) to the within

counterparts (eg, summation RSM scores vs estimated RSM logit scores) and a slightly lower correlation (r=.92-.97) to the between counterparts (eg, summation RSM scores vs estimated AAI or CAT logit scores), implying that the raw summation scores have a high correlation (r=.98) with the estimated logit scores shown in the last 4 columns of Table 2. The bottom row of Table 2 shows that the CAT earns the shortest item length, indicating the CAT has advantages in efficiency over AAI and RSM.

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e8/

Table 2. Comparisons of efficiency and accuracy among the AAI, RSM, and CAT.

	Estimated logit score	es			Summation sc	cores
	True score	CAT	AAI	RSM	RSM	AAI
True score		0.97	0.96	0.91	0.92	0.95
Estimation						
CAT	0.97		[0.98]	0.93	0.94	0.97
AAI	0.96	[0.98]		0.95	0.95	0.98
RSM	0.91	0.93	0.95		[0.98]	0.94
Summation						
RSM	0.92	0.94	0.95	[0.98]		0.96
AAI	0.95	0.97	[0.98]	0.94	0.96	
Mean	0.03	0.01	-0.06	-0.05	4.64	4.59
Standard deviation	1.02	1.07	0.93	0.74	1.19	1.44
Item length ^a		40.50	57.31	45.42	45.42	57.31

^aItem length denotes those items, excluding the 9 automatic-selection-to-different-path items.

Task 2: Online Computer Adaptive Testing Assessment

By scanning the QR code (see Figure 2), the CAT icon appears on the patient's mobile phone. The mobile CAT survey procedure was demonstrated item-by-item in action (see Figure 3). Person fit (ie, infit and outfit MNSQ) statistics showed the respondent behaviors. Person theta is the provisional ability estimated by the CAT module.

The standard error in Figure 3 was generated by the following formula (see Multimedia Appendix 5): $1/\sqrt{(\Sigma \text{ variance}(i))}$, where

i refers to the CAT finished items responded to by a person [30]. In addition, the residual (resi) in Figure 3 was the average of the last five change differences between the pre-and post-estimated abilities on each CAT step. CAT will stop if the residual value is less than 0.05. "Corr" refers to the correlation coefficient between the CAT estimated measures and its step series numbers using the last five estimated theta (=person measure) values. The flatter the theta trend, the higher the probability that the person measure is convergent with a final estimation.

Figure 2. A snapshot of a QR code and the CAT item.



Figure 3. The process of CAT estimated scores.



XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Principal Findings

We verified that computer adaptive testing can be (1) efficient with questionnaire item reduction and (2) used with QR codes on mobile phones.

The CAT item pool was designed using Items 15-38 of the UK NHS 70-item questionnaire. We found that CAT can be more efficient for answering questions than both AAI and RSM without compromising its measurement accuracy, which is consistent with previous studies [6-9]. Our online CAT inpatient survey for gathering satisfaction responses from patients was accessed by scanning a QR code on a mobile phone, which has never been demonstrated previously.

Many studies have discussed patient perceptions about hospitals and the benefit of listening to other patient experiences when choosing a hospital [31,32]. There has been a rapid increase in the number of websites that allow patients to rate their hospitals [33,34]. Almost all health care providers have been explicitly required to conduct surveys of their patients' health care experiences. However, those surveys often use an individual item-by-item approach to disclose patient views on hospital service quality, which does not provide hospital staff with information to make further improvements without considering the overall hospital performance [13].

Implications and Future Considerations

We demonstrated that an NHS inpatient experience questionnaire with shortened items can be used with an IRT-based CAT technique without compromising its measurement accuracy. Using a CAT approach with such complex question structure jointly with item pools and conditional path skip items is rare. Our online CAT module used by scanning a QR code on a mobile phone can be extended to many dimensions simultaneously in a survey. For example, the Clinical Dementia Rating scale [35] used in patients with dementia consists of six domains. We could design a module using CAT through several procedures in a common questionnaire in the future.

Strengths

Hospital staff must consider both the efficiency and utility of assessment for the selection of the CAT items [36]. The traditional survey collects all feedback from patients through particular sets of questions to assess what causes patient difficulty or dissatisfaction. The assessment results help hospital managers determine where improvements can be made [36]. We can use the Rasch simulation technique to overcome the problem in questionnaires of unanswered items (ie, which do not provide hospital staff with information to make further improvement). This Rasch simulation technique [21] can be used to fill in the expected responses to those unanswered CAT items according to the final person theta (ability) and the specified item difficulties. Thus, the CAT can provide efficient assessments and the full information needed to make improvements. Furthermore, the person outfit mean square in CAT is also saved in our database (see Multimedia Appendix 3). An outfit mean square of 2.0 or greater for a patient indicates a possibly aberrant response pattern [37], such as cheating, careless responding, lucky guessing, creative responding, or random responding [38], which makes it hard to reveal valuable information using the traditional survey method.

Limitations

Six limitations of this study are addressed. First, the study was based on the assumption of unidimensionality across those 24 CAT items. Although several articles have supported the notion that the UK NHS 70-item questionnaire can construct a one-dimension domain [13,31], those items cannot be generalized to the 24 CAT items used in different countries or by different groups. Future studies should further verify those 24 items to make the CAT module valid and feasible in health care practice.

Second, the first CAT item was selected from a randomized item pool. The CAT selection rule for the first item can be redesigned referring to the previously completed items and inferring a provisional theta (ie, person measure) to select the first item with the maximum information (ie, variance) in the item pool so that the questionnaire length could be shorter (see Multimedia Appendix 6).

Third, only one CAT module was designed in the NHS inpatient questionnaire due to the conditional selection path skip items that existed in non-CAT items. Future studies are recommended to overcome this barrier and to design a CAT-by-CAT approach in the questionnaire so as to reduce more item length in a questionnaire.

Fourth, we have not discussed the issue of participation options using traditional postal mail or email. Because not all patients possess a mobile phone, specifically a smartphone, and 3G/4G WiFi communication, all options (mail or email) must be offered to patients when invited to participate in the survey. Readers have found the email option useful to answer questions either by connecting to the Web, or by scanning a QR code on a mobile phone (eg, Figure 2) if applying the CAT demonstrated in this study. Future studies are needed to further explore and improve the processes of the CAT survey.

Fifth, we conducted a simulation of 1000 patients' true scores followed by a standard normal distribution. This might contradict the general experience of satisfaction surveys with ceiling effects that impede standard normal distribution. Future studies are needed to sample from a negatively skewed population to further verify whether the CAT can be efficient on item reduction over AAI and RSM.

Sixth, the unidimensionality of the 24 CAT items may be questioned given the different realms of hospital ward, doctors, nurses, patient care, and treatment. It might be implausible to assume that these 24 items are unidimensional. Future studies are required to further investigate the issue.

Conclusion

With advances in technology, we can now offer patients alternative ways via mobile phones to gather their feedback on

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

hospitalization satisfaction. The online CAT can reduce the number of survey items for patients to respond to, as well as be

accessed via mobile phone using a QR code.

Authors' Contributions

All authors have read and approved the final manuscript. TW developed the study concept and design. TW and WP analyzed and interpreted the data. TW drafted the manuscript, and all authors have provided critical revisions for important intellectual content. The study was supervised by TW.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

A format of skip items in a questionnaire.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 224KB - medinform v4i1e8 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

The UK NHS 70-item questionnaire.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 269KB - medinform v4i1e8 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3

The study item dataset.

[XLS File (Microsoft Excel File), 14MB - medinform_v4i1e8_app3.xls]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Excel VBA module used for CAT simulation.

[XLS File (Microsoft Excel File), 7MB - medinform_v4i1e8_app4.xls]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Excel module for simulation on CAT, AAI, and RSM saving to spreadsheet NAT.

[TXT File, 32KB - medinform_v4i1e8_app5.txt]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Introduction to CAT.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 405KB - medinform v4i1e8 app6.pdf]

References

- Jenkinson C, Coulter A, Reeves R, Bruster S, Richards N. Properties of the Picker Patient Experience questionnaire in a randomized controlled trial of long versus short form survey instruments. J Public Health Med 2003 Sep;25(3):197-201 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 14575193]
- 2. National Clinical Guideline Centre. Patient Experience in Adult NHS Services: Improving the Experience of Care for People Using Adult NHS Services: Patient Experience in Generic Terms. London: Royal College of Physicians; 2012.
- 3. Debra DS. The Evidence Center. 2013. Measuring patient experience URL: <u>http://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/</u> <u>MeasuringPatientExperience.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-01-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6ewAT06OH]
- 4. CareQuality Commission. Inpatient survey 2013. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/inpatient-survey-2014</u> [accessed 2016-01-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6ewAdAGIN]
- 5. HCAHPS. Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Services. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.hcahpsonline.org/home.aspx</u> [accessed 2016-01-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6ewAwCcRr]
- Chien T, Wu H, Wang W, Castillo RV, Chou W. Reduction in patient burdens with graphical computerized adaptive testing on the ADL scale: tool development and simulation. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2009;7:39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-7-39] [Medline: 19416521]

- Chien T, Wang W, Huang S, Lai W, Chow JC. A web-based computerized adaptive testing (CAT) to assess patient perception in hospitalization. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(3):e61 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1785</u>] [Medline: <u>21844001</u>]
- Ma S, Chien T, Wang H, Li Y, Yui M. Applying computerized adaptive testing to the Negative Acts Questionnaire-Revised: Rasch analysis of workplace bullying. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(2):e50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2819] [Medline: 24534113]
- De Beurs Derek Paul DP, de Vries AL, de Groot MH, de Keijser J, Kerkhof AJ. Applying computer adaptive testing to optimize online assessment of suicidal behavior: a simulation study. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(9):e207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3511] [Medline: 25213259]
- 10. Lu CY, Roughead E. Determinants of patient-reported medication errors: a comparison among seven countries. Int J Clin Pract 2011 Jul;65(7):733-740. [doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2011.02671.x] [Medline: 21470350]
- 11. NHS Survey. 2015. Scored Questionnaire: Inpatients 2013 URL: <u>http://www.nhssurveys.org/survey/1354</u> [accessed 2016-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6ewBKVNs0]
- 12. Survey Instruments: view or download the English survey materials. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.hcahpsonline.org/</u> <u>surveyinstrument.aspx</u> [accessed 2016-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6ewBNOhKh]
- Jenkinson C, Coulter A, Bruster S. The Picker Patient Experience Questionnaire: development and validation using data from in-patient surveys in five countries. Int J Qual Health Care 2002 Oct;14(5):353-358 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12389801]
- 14. Eack SM, Singer JB, Greeno CG. Screening for anxiety and depression in community mental health: the beck anxiety and depression inventories. Community Ment Health J 2008 Dec;44(6):465-474. [doi: 10.1007/s10597-008-9150-y] [Medline: 18516678]
- Ramirez BM, Bostic JQ, Davies D, Rush AJ, Witte B, Hendrickse W, et al. Methods to improve diagnostic accuracy in a community mental health setting. Am J Psychiatry 2000 Oct;157(10):1599-1605. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.157.10.1599</u>] [Medline: <u>11007713</u>]
- 16. Shear MK, Greeno C, Kang J, Ludewig D, Frank E, Swartz HA, et al. Diagnosis of nonpsychotic patients in community clinics. Am J Psychiatry 2000 Apr;157(4):581-587. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.157.4.581</u>] [Medline: <u>10739417</u>]
- 17. Masters G. A Rasch model for partial credit scoring. Psychometrika 1982;47:149-174 [FREE Full text]
- 18. Muraki E. A generalized partial credit model: Application of an EM algorithm. Appl Psychol Meas 1992;16:159-176.
- Tran K, Morra D, Lo V, Quan SD, Abrams H, Wu RC. Medical students and personal smartphones in the clinical environment: the impact on confidentiality of personal health information and professionalism. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(5):e132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3138] [Medline: 24855046]
- 20. NHS. Key findings report: Inpatient Survey Results 2008. 2015. URL: <u>http://www.nhssurveys.org/survey/738</u> [accessed 2016-01-31] [WebCite Cache ID 6ewBqWH5E]
- 21. Linacre J. How to simulate Rasch data. Rasch Measurement Transactions 2007;21(3):1125 [FREE Full text]
- 22. Rasch G. Probabilistic models for some intelligence and attainment tests. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 1960.
- 23. Andrich. Rating scale formulation for ordered response categories. Psychometrika 1978;43:561.
- 24. Bezruczko N. Rasch measurement in health sciences. Maple Grove, MN: Jam Press; 2005.
- 25. Bechtel G. Generalizing the Rasch model for consumer rating scales. Marketing Science 1985;4(1):62-73.
- 26. Wright BD. Solving measurement problems with the Rasch model. Journal of Educational Measurement 1977;14(2):97-116.
- 27. Linacre J. WINSTEPS computer program user guide. Chicago, IL URL: <u>http://www.winsteps.com/index.htm</u> [accessed 2016-01-30] [WebCite Cache ID 6ewC5cXvg]
- 28. Birnbaum A, Lord FM, Novick MR, Birnbaum A. Some latent ability models and their use in inferring an examinee's ability. In: Statistical Theories of Mental Test Scores. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley; 1968.
- 29. Embretson S, Reise S. Measuring persons: Scoring examinees with IRT models. In: Item Response Theory for Psychologists. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum; 2000:158-186.
- 30. Linacre J. Computer-adaptive tests (CAT), standard errors and stopping rules. Rasch Measurement Transactions 2006;20(2):1062 [FREE Full text]
- 31. Chien T, Wang W, Wang H, Lin H. Online assessment of patients' views on hospital performances using Rasch model's KIDMAP diagram. BMC Health Serv Res 2009;9:135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-9-135] [Medline: 19646267]
- 32. Hao H. The development of online doctor reviews in China: an analysis of the largest online doctor review website in China. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(6):e134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4365] [Medline: 26032933]
- Wang OJ, Wang Y, Lichtman JH, Bradley EH, Normand ST, Krumholz HM. "America's Best Hospitals" in the treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Arch Intern Med 2007 Jul 9;167(13):1345-1351. [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.167.13.1345</u>] [Medline: <u>17620526</u>]
- 34. O'Brien SM, Peterson E. Identifying high-quality hospitals: consult the ratings or flip a coin? Arch Intern Med 2007 Jul 9;167(13):1342-1344. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.13.1342] [Medline: 17620525]
- 35. Hughes CP, Berg L, Danziger WL, Coben LA, Martin RL. A new clinical scale for the staging of dementia. Br J Psychiatry 1982 Jun;140:566-572. [Medline: 7104545]

- Hsueh I, Chen J, Wang C, Hou W, Hsieh C. Development of a computerized adaptive test for assessing activities of daily living in outpatients with stroke. Phys Ther 2013 May;93(5):681-693 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2522/ptj.20120173] [Medline: 23329557]
- 37. Linacre JM. Optimizing rating scale category effectiveness. J Appl Meas 2002;3(1):85-106. [Medline: <u>11997586</u>]
- 38. Karabatsos G. Comparing the aberrant response detection performance of thirty-six person-fit statistics. Applied Measurement in Education 2003;16(4):277-298.

Abbreviations

AAI: answering all items CAT: computer adaptive testing HCAHPS: Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Services IRT: item response theory MNSQ: mean square NHS: National Health Service PCM: partial credit model QR: quick response RSM: randomized selection method SE: standard error SEM: standard error measurement VBA: Visual Basic for Applications

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 03.02.15; peer-reviewed by D de Beurs, S Bidmon; comments to author 26.05.15; revised version received 27.05.15; accepted 24.06.15; published 02.03.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Chien TW, Lin WS Improving Inpatient Surveys: Web-Based Computer Adaptive Testing Accessed via Mobile Phone QR Codes JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e8 URL: <u>http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e8/</u> doi:10.2196/medinform.4313 PMID:26935793

©Tsair-Wei Chien, Weir-Sen Lin. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 02.03.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Computerized Automated Quantification of Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue From Computed Tomography Scans: Development and Validation Study

Young Jae Kim^{1,2}, MSc; Ji Won Park^{3,4,5}, MD; Jong Wan Kim⁶, MD; Chan-Soo Park¹, MSc; John Paul S Gonzalez⁷, MD; Seung Hyun Lee², PhD; Kwang Gi Kim^{1*}, PhD; Jae Hwan Oh^{8*}, MD

¹Biomedical Engineering Branch, Division of Convergence Technology, Research Institute, National Cancer Center, Goyang, Republic Of Korea

³Department of Surgery, Seoul National University College of Medicine, Seoul, Republic Of Korea

⁴Cancer Research Institute, Seoul National University, Seoul, Republic Of Korea

- ⁶Department of Surgery, Hallym University Dongtan Sacred Heart Hospital, Hwaseong, Republic Of Korea
- ⁷Department of Surgery, Philippine General Hospital, University of the Philippines Manila, Manila, Philippines

⁸Center for Colorectal Cancer, National Cancer Center, Goyang, Republic Of Korea

*these authors contributed equally

Abstract

Background: Computed tomography (CT) is often viewed as one of the most accurate methods for measuring visceral adipose tissue (VAT). However, measuring VAT and subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) from CT is a time-consuming and tedious process. Thus, evaluating patients' obesity levels during clinical trials using CT scans is both cumbersome and limiting.

Objective: To describe an image-processing-based and automated method for measuring adipose tissue in the entire abdominal region.

Methods: The method detects SAT and VAT levels using a separation mask based on muscles of the human body. The separation mask is the region that minimizes the unnecessary space between a closed path and muscle area. In addition, a correction mask, based on bones, corrects the error in VAT.

Results: To validate the method, the volume of total adipose tissue (TAT), SAT, and VAT were measured for a total of 100 CTs using the automated method, and the results compared with those from manual measurements obtained by 2 experts. Dice's similarity coefficients (DSCs) between the first manual measurement and the automated result for TAT, SAT, and VAT are 0.99, 0.98, and 0.97, respectively. The DSCs between the second manual measurement and the automated result for TAT, SAT, and VAT are 0.98, 0.98, and 0.97, respectively. Moreover, intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) between the automated method and the results of the manual measurements indicate high reliability as the ICCs for the items are all .99 (*P*<.001).

Conclusions: The results described in this paper confirm the accuracy and reliability of the proposed method. The method is expected to be both convenient and useful in the clinical evaluation and study of obesity in patients who require SAT and VAT measurements.

(JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e2) doi:10.2196/medinform.4923

KEYWORDS

obesity; visceral adipose tissue; subcutaneous adipose tissue; computed tomography; computer-assisted image analysis

Introduction

Obesity refers to the over-accumulation of adipose tissue (AT) in the body. Obesity can be caused by genetic and fat metabolism abnormalities, hypothyroidism, excessive nutritional intake, lack of exercise, and stress, and it is known to be a key factor in chronic diseases [1]. In recent studies, body fat distribution has been shown to pose a greater health risk than

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e2/

overall body fat, and among the different types of obesity based on specific categories of body fat distribution, abdominal obesity has been reported to pose the greatest risk [2]. Abdominal obesity increases the prevalence rate of metabolic syndrome accompanied by coronary artery diseases such as hypertension, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and arteriosclerosis [3,4]. Because visceral adipose tissue (VAT), rather than subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT), is recognized as the contributing factor in body insulin resistance, visceral abdominal obesity is viewed as the

²Department of Plazma Bio Display, KwangWoon University, Seoul, Republic Of Korea

⁵Colorectal Cancer Center, Seoul National University Cancer Hospital, Seoul, Republic Of Korea

more clinically important type of abdominal obesity [5]. Furthermore, by causing physical pressure, the accumulation of heavy VAT can interrupt blood flow to abdominal organs and decrease organ function (eg, liver). As such, VAT can be even more deleterious than SAT [6]. The accurate evaluation and prevention of both SAT and VAT with quantitative fat measurements are thus important.

In recent clinical trials, diverse methods have been applied to assess obesity. For example, body mass index (BMI) can be used to evaluate obesity easily by height and weight measurements; however, VAT cannot be measured by this method. On the other hand, methods such as bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA), magnetic resonance image (MRI), and computed tomography (CT) can acquire VAT measurements. BIA is a technique by which the percentage of body fat and the area of VAT are estimated by sending a weakto high-frequency current through the body and measuring the bioelectrical impedance [7]. Recently, BIA has been widely used in diagnosing obesity owing to the simplicity of its measurement; many reports support its high-degree of accuracy in body fat mass measurements [8]. However, there are only a few reports on whether it can satisfactorily reflect the actual amount of VAT. On the other hand, CT can clearly distinguish AT from other tissues, and AT can be measured directly from the cross-sectional images of the tissue. In addition, CT has the advantage that SAT and VAT can also be directly measured [9]. Because the measurement method is cumbersome and poses a risk of radiation exposure, it is not in general use. However, the additional radiation exposure involved in measuring AT can be eliminated by using CT images obtained from health screening or other procedures, and by using low-dose CT, which is currently being used in the clinic. Finally, MRI, which is similar to CT, can be used to generate cross-sectional images and can measure tissue and VAT directly. Despite the advantage of no radiation exposure [10], MRI has clinical limitations because of the cumbersome measuring method, high-cost, and lengthy imaging times.

Among the various obesity evaluation methods, CT is considered the gold standard in clinical trials due to its high accuracy. However, AT has to be measured directly from the cross-sectional images, and when measuring VAT, the boundaries between SAT and VAT must be clearly defined. In other words, a substantial amount of time and effort have to be expended to analyze a single CT image. In abdominal obesity-related studies, such problems can act as limiting factors in analyzing large amounts of data or when analyzing a wide range of AT in the abdomen. Efforts have been made to minimize the time required to make measurements by calculating the level of abdominal obesity from a single CT image at the umbilical level (L4-5 vertebrae), which represents the entire abdominal fat area [11].

In this study, we attempt to solve these limiting factors by using an automated, computer image processing technique. By automating the image processing, the entire abdominal region can be measured in a relatively short time period. In addition, it eliminates subjectivity, enabling objective, quantitative, and reliable measurements to be made. An increasing number of studies have been conducted on the computerized, automated

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e2/

measurement of AT. For example, using a single CT image at the umbilical level, Bandekar et al proposed the use of the active shape model and fuzzy affinity-based automatic fat analysis to distinguish between SAT and VAT [12]. In the study, they compared the results with those obtained manually by experts, and they calculated and evaluated both accuracy and sensitivity. They determined the degree of accuracy for SAT and VAT to be 98.29% (SD 0.62%) and 97.66% (SD 0.98%), respectively [12]. Zhao et al also reported automated separation of SAT and VAT using pixel information obtained from radial movement at increments of 3 degrees from the center of the body from a single CT image at the umbilical level [13]. In that study, 9 subjects were tested and the differences between the automated and manual measurements in terms of SAT and VAT were 0.65% and 1.54%, respectively [13]. In another example, Kullberg et al used a histogram based on MRI images at the umbilical level range and constructed AT and SAT masks to isolate each AT [14]. An algorithm was applied to a total of 17 data values, using the manual measurements as the reference, and obtained true positive measurements for SAT and VAT, with high accuracy values of 96% (SD 2.3%) and 90% (SD 6.5%), respectively [14]. Although the studies mentioned above showed a high degree of accuracy, the verification data was minimal, and the allowed range of measurement was limited to a single image or restricted to the umbilical level only. In order to overcome these limitations, we propose a method for the automatic separation and measurement of SAT and VAT in the entire abdominal region using CT. By comparing a large amount of test data with manually measured results, the technical and clinical utility of the proposed method was verified and evaluated.

Methods

Study Dataset and Development Environment

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the National Cancer Center of Korea with a waiver of the requirement for patients' informed consent (1210160-3).

In this study, abdominal CTs on 100 patients from the National Cancer Center of Korea were analyzed. Images were obtained using LightSpeed VCT (GE Healthcare) and Brilliance 64 (Phillips). For each CT scan, an image size of 512×512 pixels and slice thicknesses of 2.5 to 5.0 mm were used. We measured the abdominal area, which included the region from the diaphragm to coccyx and excluded the pelvic cavity. Here, Microsoft Visual Studio (Ver. 2005, Microsoft, Redmond, US) was used for the development of algorithms and software, and ITK (Ver. 3.14.0, Kitware, US) and VTK (Ver. 5.10.0, Kitware, US) were used as libraries. The SPSS package (Ver. 13, SPSS Inc., US) was used for statistical analysis.

Manual Measurement

The manual measurements reported in this paper were taken directly by 2 experts using in-house developed software. The in-house software depicts the AT area using a brush to color the area directly on the CT image; SAT and VAT are distinguished by applying different colors to each. For the convenience of the user, only areas within the AT attenuation range of -30 to -190 Hounsfield units (HU) in CT and

XSL•FO RenderX

multi-planar reconstruction were considered [11,15]. The manual measurement results were used as the gold standard data in comparisons with the automated measurement results.

Automatic Measurement

The automated method of body fat proposed measurement described in this paper consists of the following three tasks: (1) pre-processing, (2) fat detection, and (3) post-processing. The complete flowchart of the algorithm is shown in Figure 1.





Preprocessing

CT images include various objects such as body, air, bed, and sheets. The efficiency of the algorithm was enhanced to perform the analysis only within the body region. The improved algorithm was applied to the pre-processing stage for the body-region detection. Unnecessary regions of the CT image were removed to prevent errors in detecting the body region. The body-region detection was performed using threshold and labeling techniques [16]. The air's HU in CT images has attenuation lower than -1000 HU [17]. Knowing this, we eliminated the air region by setting thresholds and detected other regions by labeling. Subsequently, the body area was acquired by all the other labels, except the label with the widest area.

Fat Detection

AT in the abdominal area is sorted in SAT and VAT according to the location of AT and abdominal muscles; the interior of muscle is classified as SAT and the exterior as VAT. Thus, a separate mask was created based on the location of the abdominal muscles.

Creating a separation mask consists of three steps: (1) nonfat area segmentation; (2) closed path acquisition; (3) and correction of the closed path (Figures 2-4). Non-fat area detection is a process for finding the location of the muscle as the base of a separation mask and is performed by eliminating the abdominal fat region through thresholds. First, total adipose tissue (TAT) is obtained by setting a threshold at -30 to -190 HU, the attenuation range of fat in CT images, and the non-fat area is

extracted by removing the TAT area from the body area [18]. After extraction, the skin area included in the area using opening, a morphology-based technique, is deleted. The result of this process shows that bones and organs inside the abdominal cavity as well as muscles are detected in the area (Figure 2). Muscle segmentation is omitted because bones and organs inside muscle don't affect a closed path, which is detected on the basis of the outermost muscle coordinates. In addition, the efficiency of the algorithm is increased by skipping the muscle segmentation process. Obtaining a closed path is the process for blocking the parts connected between SAT and VAT completely, such as the ones shown in Figure 2. The Convex

Hull algorithm was used to detect the shortest closed path [19]. This algorithm determines the convex polygon of the minimum area included when a set of points or shapes are given. The Convex Hull results show the complete separation of organ areas without connecting the parts between SAT and VAT. However, errors can be generated as a closed path cannot be perfectly attached to muscle area when detecting a closed path (Figure 3). Because the errors can affect the quantitative results, each coordinate is corrected so that a closed path can be closer to the muscle area. Correction of errors is performed on all the coordinates that make up a closed path and the procedure is shown in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Procedure for the correction of errors on the coordinates that make up a closed path.

- 1. Examine whether the closed path is in contact with the organ region relative to the y axis coordinates of the relevant closed path.
- 2. If it is not in contact, the relevant coordinate is deleted and moved to the location where it is in contact with the organ region.
- 3. After completing the examination of all closed path coordinates, randomly identify 1 coordinate as the starting point.
- 4. With the starting point as the standard, set the coordinate located at the shortest distance as the arrival point. After connecting it with a line, set the arrival point as the new starting point.
- 5. Repeat Stage 4 until it cannot be performed further.

The lines drawn through this method of coordinate correction become the new closed path of the organ region and produce the separation mask by filling in the interior of the closed path. The separation mask's outline can be verified in Figure 4 and the entire coordinate correction process can be observed in Figure 5.

The produced separation mask sorts and detects for each region of SAT and VAT. SAT regions can be extracted by removing the separation mask from the TAT region detected by producing the separation mask. VAT regions can be detected through an "AND" operation between TAT and the mask regions.

Figure 2. Result of the threshold application to the visceral region.



Figure 3. Result of the application of the Convex Hull algorithm and threshold.



Figure 4. Result of the separation mask.







Post-Processing

The fat component inside bones is detected as body fat in the process of detecting TAT, and it is included in the separation mask as bones are surrounded by muscles. Consequently, it is incorrectly detected as VAT. The spine, ribs, and pelvis surrounding the right and left abdominal cavity from the center of the back, and AT need be erased. In order to eliminate the false detection as VAT, a correction mask based on bones was included. Bones have a pixel range above 1000 HU in CT [17], and based on that, we set a seed point in the region estimated as bone and detected them using a 3D region growing algorithm [20]. Then, a correction mask was made by obtaining a closed path and applying a closed path-correction method to the extracted bone region in the same way as the separation mask. We attempted to apply different correction methods for each region after dividing the body into 2 regions based on bones. The regions are divided considering whether the right or left side of the abdominal cavity is surrounded by bones. The region that the ribs and pelvis are located in is surrounded on the back, right, and left sides of the abdominal cavity by bones. Therefore, it is necessary consider all of the sides of the abdominal cavity (Area 1). However, only the region of the back side that contains the spine needs to be imaged (Area 2). Considering these differences, the region detected as VAT outside a separation mask (back side, right and left side), as well as inside a separation mask for Area 1 were eliminated. The region

recognized by the VAT in Area 2 in the back, outside of the separation mask, as well as inside the separation mask was removed. Any false-detected VAT was corrected using Area 1 and Area 2.

Results

In this study, we detected and measured the volume of TAT, SAT, and VAT for a total of 100 CT data using our automated method (Figure 6). As well, the automated measurement results (MAUT) were compared with the manual measurement results obtained by 2 experts (M_{M1}, M_{M2}). A comparative analysis was carried out between them in order to verify the technical accuracy and clinical reliability of the proposed method. The accuracy of the automated measurement method was evaluated through four kinds of conditional probability including sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, and Dice's similarity coefficient (DSC). The automated measurement results and the manual measurement results were also compared through one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests and Bland-Altman plots (see Multimedia Appendix 1), performing regression analysis and scatter plots (see Multimedia Appendix 2) to investigate the correlation between them. Moreover, the intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs) between the results of both measurement methods were determined, and the reliability between the results examined. For the conditional probability test, true positive, false positive, true negative, and false negative

were obtained by calculating, pixel-by-pixel, the position of VAT, SAT, and TAT detected by the automated and manual methods. The test results are shown in Table 1. The test results of $M_{\rm M1}$ indicate high precision, as the accuracy of $M_{\rm M1}$ for TAT, SAT, and VAT is 99.69%, 99.79%, and 99.79%, respectively.

The DSC values for TAT, SAT, and VAT are 0.99, 0.98, and 0.97, respectively. Similar results were obtained for $M_{\rm M2}$, as the accuracy and DSC value for TAT is 99.62% and 0.98, 99.77% and 0.98 for SAT, and 99.74% and 0.97 for VAT.

 Table 1. The conditional probability test between the automated and manual measurements.

		Sensitivity, %	Specificity, %	Accuracy, %	Dice similarity coeffi- cient
Automatic measurement (M $_{AUT}$ manual measurement (M $_{M1}$)) and				
	TAT	97.45	99.96	99.69	0.99
	SAT	97.24	99.98	99.79	0.98
	VAT	97.54	99.88	99.79	0.97
Automatic measurement (M $_{AUT}$ manual measurement (M $_{M2}$)) and				
	TAT	97.39	99.89	99.62	0.98
	SAT	96.96	99.98	99.77	0.98
	VAT	97.87	99.81	99.74	0.97

The mean volume of TAT, SAT, and VAT measured by the automated method was 7913.79 mL (SD 2852.62 mL), 4620.38 mL (SD 1735.76 mL), and 3293.41 mL (SD 1497.11 mL), respectively. The mean volume for the same items measured by the manual method was 8021.56 mL (SD 2877.91 mL), 4750.01 mL (SD 1801.47 mL), and 3271.54 mL (SD 1469.16 mL) for M_{M1} , and 7972.33 mL (SD 2889.43 mL), 4757.41 mL (SD 1822.06 mL), 3214.91 mL (SD 1473.27 mL) for M_{M2}

(Table 2). The correlations are significant between the volumes of M_{AUT} and M_{M1} for TAT (*r*=.999, *P*<.001), SAT (*r*=.999, *P*<.001), and VAT(*r*=.999, *P*<.001) (Multimedia Appendices 2A-C). The correlations between the volumes of M_{AUT} and M_{M2} are also significant for TAT (*r*=.999, *P*<.001), SAT (*r*=.999, *P*<.001), and VAT (*r*=.999, *P*<.001) (Multimedia Appendices 2D-F).

Table 2. Comparison and verification between the results of the automated and manual measurements.

Item		Mean volume ^a (SD)	F	P value ^b	ICC	P value ^c
TAT			.035	.965	.99	< .001
	M _{AUT}	7913.79 (2852.62)				
	M_{M1}	8021.56 (2877.91)				
	M _{M2}	7972.33 (2889.43)				
SAT			.186	.830	.99	< .001
	M _{AUT}	4620.38 (1735.76)				
	M_{M1}	4750.01 (1801.47)				
	M_{M2}	4757.41 (1822.06)				
VAT			.075	.928	.99	< .001
	M _{AUT}	3293.41 (1497.11)				
	M _{M1}	3271.54 (1469.16)				
	M_{M2}	3214.91 (1473.27)				

^aMean volumes and SD measured in milliliter.

^b*P* value for ANOVA test.

^c*P* value for ICC.

RenderX

One-way ANOVA test results for the volumes of M_{AUT} , M_{M1} , and M_{M2} revealed that no significant differences were found for TAT (*F*=.035, *P*=.965), SAT (*F*=.186, *P*=.830), and VAT

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e2/

(F=.075, P=.928; Table 2). Bland-Altman plots for the same items showed a good comparability as most volumes were within 1.96 standard deviations from the average position of the

respective volume differences (Multimedia Appendices 1A-F). ICC values for the volumes of M_{AUT} , M_{M1} , and M_{M2} indicate high reliability for all the measuring items with .99 (CI 0.99-0.99, *P*<.001) for TAT, .99 (CI 0.97-0.99, *P*<.001) for SAT, and .99 (CI 0.98-0.99, *P*<.001) for VAT.

The elapsed time required to measure constant volume with both the automated and manual methods was compared to evaluate the usefulness of the proposed method. To do this, 20 data sets were randomly selected out of the 100 total, each containing a slice thickness of 5 mm. The elapsed time required to determine TAT, SAT, and VAT, within the range of the umbilical level (24 12 cm slices) by the automated and the manual method was measured. We found that the mean elapsed time required for manual measurements performed by 2 experts was 718.5 seconds (SD 72.7 seconds) for M_{M1} and 815.5 seconds (SD 65.8 seconds) for M_{M2} , whereas the automated method (M_{AUT}) required only 3.62 seconds (SD 0.1 seconds) (Figure 7).

Figure 6. Automated segmentation and measurement results for SAT (green) and VAT (red).



Figure 7. Comparison of the elapsed time required for measuring body fat within the range of the umbilical level (12 cm).



Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

The previous AT measurement methods with CT were very tedious and time consuming. As such, many studies have attempted to find out the association between the indicators of

http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e2/

obesity such as BMI, waist to hip ratio (WHR), and fat measurements with the typical CT used in clinic [21,22]. Although one CT has some association with diverse indicators of obesity, there's a risk of error caused by measurements and evaluations of a 2-dimensional (2D) cross section of a 3-dimensional (3D) body. In addition, indicators such as BMI and WHR are not quantitative. Therefore, we proposed and

verified a new method of separating and measuring SAT and VAT from the entire abdominal CT automatically by adopting an image processing technique. The test results of the proposed method demonstrate a high level of accuracy (99%) for TAT, SAT, and VAT compared to the results made manually (M_{M1} and M_{M2}).

The results of our proposed method show a higher degree of accuracy compared with other reported studies (Table 3). Bandekar et al [12] applied the active shape model automatic

fat methods based on fuzzy affinity and reported accuracies of 98.29% (SD 0.62%) and 97.66% (SD 0.98%) for SAT and VAT, respectively. Using a method of obtaining pixel information by a 3 degree radial movement from the body center to understand SAT and VAT on CT images, Zhao et al [13] reported accuracies of 99.35% for SAT and 98.46% for VAT. In another example, Kullberg et al [14] measured accuracies of 96% (SD 2.3%) for SAT and 90% (SD 6.5%) and VAT using a histogram based on MRI images in the umbilical level range and constructed AT and SAT masks to isolate each AT.

 Table 3. Comparison of the automated measurement of AT proposed in this paper with previously published studies.

	Study			
	Bandekar et al [12]	Zhao et al [13]	Kullberg et al [14]	Proposed method
Modality	СТ	СТ	MRI	СТ
Range	1 slice at umbilical level	1 slice at umbilical level	Volume of umbilical level	Volume of entire abdominal cavity
Number of data sets	40	9	17	100
Accuracy of SAT, % (SD)	98.29 (0.62)	99.35	96 (2.3)	99.78 (0.18)
Accuracy of VAT, % (SD)	97.66 (0.98)	98.46	90 (6.5)	99.76 (0.16)

With respect to measurement range, our proposed method can measure the entire abdominal cavity rather than the existing methods that are restricted to 2-dimensional levels or only the umbilical region. While the way of separating SAT and VAT using templates or masks is similar to other studies, in our proposed method, the separation mask is generated by minimizing the number of algorithms based on pixel value, approaching the anatomical shape. Furthermore, the analysis is a contributing factor for raising the level of accuracy.

The ANOVA test and ICC results demonstrate the clinical reliability of the proposed method (Table 2). The ANOVA test indicates that no noticeable differences were observed between the automated measurements and the manual measurements made by the 2 experts for TAT, SAT, and VAT. The ICC results show a very high level of reliability for TAT, SAT, and VAT (.99). However, we did find that the automated measurements had slightly smaller values than the manual measurement for SAT, while for VAT, the automated measures had the tendency to be slightly larger. A possible cause for the gap in SAT segmentation is because intermuscular fat or intramuscular fat near subcutaneous fat is included as part of subcutaneous fat, and it is accumulated during the manual measurement. The difference in VAT segmentation might be caused by the detection of some adipose tissue inside the bone as VAT during

the correction process of the automated measurement. Although their impact on the overall segmentation results was negligible since the rate of error was low, an even higher degree of accuracy can be anticipated as the algorithms are improved in the future. The time-shortening effect of the automated method shows the time reduction to be about 200 fold compared to the manual method for a constant range (Figure 7). Based on this result, we can estimate that the time required to manually measure an abdominal CT consisting of 150 images with a 3 mm thickness to be approximately 80 min while the same can be done using the automated method in approximately 20 seconds. This supports the usefulness and power of the automated method. Although the proposed method uses CT for measurement, the structure of the algorithm is based on anatomical shape. Therefore, the potential exists to apply it to other imaging methods such as MRI.

Conclusions

Measuring AT by the proposed CT method allows for a more quantitative and objective measurement result in a time efficient manner. As well, the simple measurements of VAT enabled by the new method will be very useful in evaluating visceral abdominal obesity. Furthermore, we expect that the proposed method will be more convenient and useful in clinical evaluations and studies on patients' abdominal obesity levels.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a research grant from the National Cancer Center, Korea (grant 1610050-1).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1

Bland-Altman plots.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 569KB - medinform_v4i1e2_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Scatter plots.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 418KB - medinform v4i1e2 app2.pdf]

References

- 1. Garrouste-Orgeas M, Troché G, Azoulay E, Caubel A, de LA, Cheval C, et al. Body mass index. An additional prognostic factor in ICU patients. Intensive Care Med 2004 Mar;30(3):437-443. [doi: 10.1007/s00134-003-2095-2] [Medline: 14767583]
- 2. World Health Organization. Obesity: Preventing and Managing the Global Epidemic. Report of a WHO Consultation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000.
- 3. St-Pierre J, Lemieux I, Vohl M, Perron P, Tremblay G, Després JP, et al. Contribution of abdominal obesity and hypertriglyceridemia to impaired fasting glucose and coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 2002 Jul 1;90(1):15-18. [Medline: 12088772]
- 4. Després JP. Health consequences of visceral obesity. Ann Med 2001 Nov;33(8):534-541. [Medline: <u>11730160</u>]
- Chan JM, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Obesity, fat distribution, and weight gain as risk factors for clinical diabetes in men. Diabetes Care 1994 Sep;17(9):961-969. [Medline: <u>7988316</u>]
- 6. Wajchenberg BL. Subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissue: their relation to the metabolic syndrome. Endocr Rev 2000 Dec;21(6):697-738. [doi: 10.1210/edrv.21.6.0415] [Medline: 11133069]
- 7. Jackson AS, Pollock ML, Graves JE, Mahar MT. Reliability and validity of bioelectrical impedance in determining body composition. J Appl Physiol (1985) 1988 Feb;64(2):529-534. [Medline: <u>3372410</u>]
- 8. Ida M, Hirata M, Hosoda K, Nakao K. Abdomen specific bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) methods for evaluation of abdominal fat distribution. Nihon Rinsho 2013 Feb;71(2):262-265. [Medline: <u>23631203</u>]
- 9. Tokunaga K, Matsuzawa Y, Ishikawa K, Tarui S. A novel technique for the determination of body fat by computed tomography. Int J Obes 1983;7(5):437-445. [Medline: <u>6642855</u>]
- Kamel EG, McNeill G, Han TS, Smith FW, Avenell A, Davidson L, et al. Measurement of abdominal fat by magnetic resonance imaging, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and anthropometry in non-obese men and women. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1999 Jul;23(7):686-692. [Medline: <u>10454101</u>]
- Yoshizumi T, Nakamura T, Yamane M, Islam AH, Menju M, Yamasaki K, et al. Abdominal fat: standardized technique for measurement at CT. Radiology 1999 Apr;211(1):283-286. [doi: <u>10.1148/radiology.211.1.r99ap15283</u>] [Medline: <u>10189485</u>]
- Bandekar A, Naghavi M, Kakadiaris I. Performance evaluation of abdominal fat burden quantification in CT. Shanghai, China: IEEE; 2005 Presented at: 27th Annual International Conference of the Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE-EMBS 2005; Jan 17-18, 2006; Shanghai p. 3280-3283 URL: <u>http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpl/articleDetails.</u> jsp?arnumber=1617177 [doi: 10.1109/IEMBS.2005.1617177]
- Zhao B, Colville J, Kalaigian J, Curran S, Jiang L, Kijewski P, et al. Automated quantification of body fat distribution on volumetric computed tomography. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2006;30(5):777-783. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.rct.0000228164.08968.e8</u>] [Medline: <u>16954927</u>]
- 14. Kullberg J, Ahlström H, Johansson L, Frimmel H. Automated and reproducible segmentation of visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue from abdominal MRI. Int J Obes (Lond) 2007 Dec;31(12):1806-1817. [doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803671] [Medline: 17593903]
- Aubrey J, Esfandiari N, Baracos VE, Buteau FA, Frenette J, Putman CT, et al. Measurement of skeletal muscle radiation attenuation and basis of its biological variation. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 2014 Mar;210(3):489-497 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/apha.12224] [Medline: 24393306]
- 16. Chang F, Chen C, Lu C. A linear-time component-labeling algorithm using contour tracing technique. Computer Vision and Image Understanding 2004 Feb;93(2):206-220. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cviu.2003.09.002</u>]
- 17. Baxter BS, Sorenson JA. Factors affecting the measurement of size and CT number in computed tomography. Invest Radiol 1981;16(4):337-341. [Medline: 7275548]
- Azuma K, Heilbronn LK, Albu JB, Smith SR, Ravussin E, Kelley DE, Look AHEAD Adipose Research Group. Adipose tissue distribution in relation to insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2007 Jul;293(1):E435-E442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00394.2006] [Medline: 17440034]
- 19. Graham RL, Frances Yao F. Finding the convex hull of a simple polygon. Journal of Algorithms 1983 Dec;4(4):324-331. [doi: 10.1016/0196-6774(83)90013-5]
- 20. Revol-Muller C, Peyrin F, Carrillon Y, Odet C. Automated 3D region growing algorithm based on an assessment function. Pattern Recognition Letters 2002 Jan;23(1-3):137-150. [doi: 10.1016/S0167-8655(01)00116-7]

- Camhi SM, Bray GA, Bouchard C, Greenway FL, Johnson WD, Newton RL, et al. The relationship of waist circumference and BMI to visceral, subcutaneous, and total body fat: sex and race differences. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2011 Feb;19(2):402-408 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.248] [Medline: 20948514]
- 22. Busetto L, Baggio MB, Zurlo F, Carraro R, Digito M, Enzi G. Assessment of abdominal fat distribution in obese patients: anthropometry versus computerized tomography. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1992 Oct;16(10):731-736. [Medline: 1330952]

Abbreviations

ANOVA: analysis of variance AT: adipose tissue BIA: bioelectrical impedance analysis CT: computed tomography DSC: Dice's similarity coefficient HU: Hounsfield unit ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient MRI: magnetic resonance image SAT: subcutaneous adipose tissue TAT: total adipose tissue VAT: visceral adipose tissue WHR: waist-to-hip ratio

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.07.15; peer-reviewed by H Nandigam; comments to author 14.10.15; revised version received 25.10.15; accepted 05.11.15; published 04.02.16.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Kim YJ, Park JW, Kim JW, Park CS, Gonzalez JPS, Lee SH, Kim KG, Oh JH Computerized Automated Quantification of Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue From Computed Tomography Scans: Development and Validation Study JMIR Med Inform 2016;4(1):e2 URL: <u>http://medinform.jmir.org/2016/1/e2/</u> doi:10.2196/medinform.4923 PMID:26846251

©Young Jae Kim, Ji Won Park, Jong Wan Kim, Chan-Soo Park, John Paul S Gonzalez, Seung Hyun Lee, Kwang Gi Kim, Jae Hwan Oh. Originally published in JMIR Medical Informatics (http://medinform.jmir.org), 04.02.2016. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Medical Informatics, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://medinform.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

